
Thurrock: A place of opportunity, enterprise and excellence, where
individuals, communities and businesses flourish

Planning Committee

The meeting will be held at 7.00 pm on 15 March 2018

Council Chamber, Civic Offices, New Road, Grays, Essex, RM17 6SL.

Membership:

Councillors Tom Kelly (Chair), Steve Liddiard (Vice-Chair), Colin Churchman, 
Graham Hamilton, Roy Jones, Tunde Ojetola, Terry Piccolo, Gerard Rice and 
Graham Snell

Steve Taylor, Campaign to Protect Rural England Representative

Substitutes:

Councillors Martin Kerin, Brian Little, David Potter and Joycelyn Redsell

Agenda

Open to Public and Press

Page

1  Apologies for Absence 

2  Minutes 5 - 14

To approve as a correct record the minutes of the Planning 
Committee meeting held on 8 February 2018.

3  Item of Urgent Business

To receive additional items that the Chair is of the opinion should be 
considered as a matter of urgency, in accordance with Section 100B 
(4) (b) of the Local Government Act 1972.

4  Declaration of Interests 

5  Declarations of receipt of correspondence and/or any 
meetings/discussions held relevant to determination of any 



planning application or enforcement action to be resolved at 
this meeting 

6  Planning Appeals 15 - 18

7  Public Address to Planning Committee

The Planning Committee may allow objectors and 
applicants/planning agents, and also owners of premises subject to 
enforcement action, or their agents to address the Committee. The 
rules for the conduct for addressing the Committee can be found on 
Thurrock Council’s website at 
https://www.thurrock.gov.uk/democracy/constitution Chapter 5, Part 
3 (c). 

8  17/00923/FUL: Yard E2, Stanhope Industrial Park, Wharf Road, 
Stanford Le Hope, Essex, SS17 0AL 

19 - 32

9  18/00018/FUL: Thurrock Learning Campus, High Street, Grays, 
Essex, RM17 6TF 

33 - 44

10  18/00019/FUL: Thurrock Learning Campus, High Street, Grays, 
Essex, RM17 6TF 

45 - 56

11  Tilbury2 NSIP: Land forming the western part of the former 
Tilbury Power Station, land parallel to and south of the existing 
London-Tilbury- South railway line south of Tilbury and land at 
the Asda roundabout junction, Tilbury. 

57 - 132

Queries regarding this Agenda or notification of apologies:

Please contact Lottie Raper, Senior Democratic Services Officer by sending an email 
to Direct.Democracy@thurrock.gov.uk

Agenda published on: 7 March 2018

https://www.thurrock.gov.uk/constitution-of-council/thurrock-council-constitution


Information for members of the public and councillors

Access to Information and Meetings

Members of the public can attend all meetings of the council and its committees and 
have the right to see the agenda, which will be published no later than 5 working days 
before the meeting, and minutes once they are published.

Recording of meetings

This meeting may be recorded for transmission and publication on the Council's 
website. At the start of the meeting the Chair will confirm if all or part of the meeting is 
to be recorded.
Members of the public not wishing any speech or address to be recorded for 
publication to the Internet should contact Democratic Services to discuss any 
concerns.
If you have any queries regarding this, please contact Democratic Services at 
Direct.Democracy@thurrock.gov.uk

Guidelines on filming, photography, recording and use of social media at 
council and committee meetings

The council welcomes the filming, photography, recording and use of social media at 
council and committee meetings as a means of reporting on its proceedings because 
it helps to make the council more transparent and accountable to its local 
communities.
If you wish to film or photograph the proceedings of a meeting and have any special 
requirements or are intending to bring in large equipment please contact the 
Communications Team at CommunicationsTeam@thurrock.gov.uk before the 
meeting. The Chair of the meeting will then be consulted and their agreement sought 
to any specific request made.
Where members of the public use a laptop, tablet device, smart phone or similar 
devices to use social media, make recordings or take photographs these devices 
must be set to ‘silent’ mode to avoid interrupting proceedings of the council or 
committee.
The use of flash photography or additional lighting may be allowed provided it has 
been discussed prior to the meeting and agreement reached to ensure that it will not 
disrupt proceedings.
The Chair of the meeting may terminate or suspend filming, photography, recording 
and use of social media if any of these activities, in their opinion, are disrupting 
proceedings at the meeting.

Page 1

mailto:Direct.Democracy@thurrock.gov.uk
mailto:CommunicationsTeam@thurrock.gov.uk


Thurrock Council Wi-Fi

Wi-Fi is available throughout the Civic Offices. You can access Wi-Fi on your device 
by simply turning on the Wi-Fi on your laptop, Smartphone or tablet.

 You should connect to TBC-CIVIC

 Enter the password Thurrock to connect to/join the Wi-Fi network.

 A Terms & Conditions page should appear and you have to accept these before 
you can begin using Wi-Fi. Some devices require you to access your browser to 
bring up the Terms & Conditions page, which you must accept.

The ICT department can offer support for council owned devices only.

Evacuation Procedures

In the case of an emergency, you should evacuate the building using the nearest 
available exit and congregate at the assembly point at Kings Walk.

How to view this agenda on a tablet device

You can view the agenda on your iPad, Android Device or Blackberry 
Playbook with the free modern.gov app.

Members of the Council should ensure that their device is sufficiently charged, 
although a limited number of charging points will be available in Members Services.

To view any “exempt” information that may be included on the agenda for this 
meeting, Councillors should:

 Access the modern.gov app
 Enter your username and password

Page 2

https://itunes.apple.com/gb/app/mod.gov/id508417355?mt=8
https://play.google.com/store/apps/details?id=uk.co.moderngov.modgov&hl=en
http://appworld.blackberry.com/webstore/content/26429152/?lang=en&countrycode=GB
http://appworld.blackberry.com/webstore/content/26429152/?lang=en&countrycode=GB


DECLARING INTERESTS FLOWCHART – QUESTIONS TO ASK YOURSELF

Breaching those parts identified as a pecuniary interest is potentially a criminal offence

Helpful Reminders for Members

 Is your register of interests up to date? 
 In particular have you declared to the Monitoring Officer all disclosable pecuniary interests? 
 Have you checked the register to ensure that they have been recorded correctly? 

When should you declare an interest at a meeting?

 What matters are being discussed at the meeting? (including Council, Cabinet, 
Committees, Subs, Joint Committees and Joint Subs); or 

 If you are a Cabinet Member making decisions other than in Cabinet what matter is 
before you for single member decision?

Does the business to be transacted at the meeting 
 relate to; or 
 likely to affect 

any of your registered interests and in particular any of your Disclosable Pecuniary Interests? 

Disclosable Pecuniary Interests shall include your interests or those of:

 your spouse or civil partner’s
 a person you are living with as husband/ wife
 a person you are living with as if you were civil partners

where you are aware that this other person has the interest.

A detailed description of a disclosable pecuniary interest is included in the Members Code of Conduct at Chapter 7 of 
the Constitution. Please seek advice from the Monitoring Officer about disclosable pecuniary interests.

What is a Non-Pecuniary interest? – this is an interest which is not pecuniary (as defined) but is nonetheless so  
significant that a member of the public with knowledge of the relevant facts, would reasonably regard to be so significant 
that it would materially impact upon your judgement of the public interest.

If the Interest is not entered in the register and is not the subject of a 
pending notification you must within 28 days notify the Monitoring Officer 
of the interest for inclusion in the register 

Unless you have received dispensation upon previous 
application from the Monitoring Officer, you must:
- Not participate or participate further in any discussion of 

the matter at a meeting; 
- Not participate in any vote or further vote taken at the 

meeting; and
- leave the room while the item is being considered/voted 

upon
If you are a Cabinet Member you may make arrangements for 
the matter to be dealt with by a third person but take no further 
steps

If the interest is not already in the register you must 
(unless the interest has been agreed by the Monitoring 

Officer to be sensitive) disclose the existence and nature 
of the interest to the meeting

Declare the nature and extent of your interest including enough 
detail to allow a member of the public to understand its nature

Non- pecuniaryPecuniary

You may participate and vote in the usual 
way but you should seek advice on 
Predetermination and Bias from the 

Monitoring Officer.

Page 3



Our Vision and Priorities for Thurrock

An ambitious and collaborative community which is proud of its heritage and excited by 
its diverse opportunities and future.

1. People – a borough where people of all ages are proud to work and play, live and 
stay

 High quality, consistent and accessible public services which are right first time

 Build on our partnerships with statutory, community, voluntary and faith groups 
to work together to improve health and wellbeing 

 Communities are empowered to make choices and be safer and stronger 
together 

2. Place – a heritage-rich borough which is ambitious for its future

 Roads, houses and public spaces that connect people and places

 Clean environments that everyone has reason to take pride in

 Fewer public buildings with better services

3. Prosperity – a borough which enables everyone to achieve their aspirations

 Attractive opportunities for businesses and investors to enhance the local 
economy

 Vocational and academic education, skills and job opportunities for all

 Commercial, entrepreneurial and connected public services

Page 4



Minutes of the Meeting of the Planning Committee held on 8 February 2018 at 
7.00 pm

Present: Councillors Tom Kelly (Chair), Steve Liddiard (Vice-Chair), 
Colin Churchman arrived at 7.05pm, Graham Hamilton, 
Tunde Ojetola, Terry Piccolo, Gerard Rice, Graham Snell and 
David Potter (Substitute) 

Steve Taylor, Campaign to Protect Rural England 
Representative

Apologies: Councillor Roy Jones

In attendance: Andrew Millard, Assistant Director - Planning, Transport and 
Public Protection
Leigh Nicholson, Development Management Team Leader
Matthew Gallagher, Principal Planner (Major Applications)
Chris Purvis, Principal Planner (Major Applications)
Benita Edwards, Interim Deputy Head of Law (Regeneration)
Charlotte Raper, Democratic Services Officer

Before the start of the Meeting, all present were advised that the meeting may be 
filmed and was being recorded, with the audio recording to be made available on 
the Council’s website.

60. Minutes 

The minutes of the Planning Committee meeting held on 11 January 2018 
were approved as a correct record.

61. Item of Urgent Business 

The Chair informed the Committee that Item 11 – Application 17/01527/HHA: 
2 Oval Gardens, Grays, Essex, RM17 5NR had been withdrawn by the 
Assistant Director of Planning, Transport and Public Protection due to 
discrepancies within the plans submitted.

The Assistant Director of Planning, Transport and Public Protection clarified 
that the item had been withdrawn from the agenda and would be determined 
at a later date, to allow these concerns to be addressed.

62. Declaration of Interests 

There were no declarations of interests.

Page 5

Agenda Item 2



63. Declarations of receipt of correspondence and/or any 
meetings/discussions held relevant to determination of any planning 
application or enforcement action to be resolved at this meeting 

The Chair declared receipt of emails, on behalf of the entire Committee.

Firstly an email relating to Item 8 – Application 17/01504/FUL: Stanford Le 
Hope Railway Station, London Road, Stanford Le Hope, Essex, SS17 0JX 
from the speaker presenting a statement of objection and secondly an email 
from the applicant in relation to Item 10 – Application 17/01506/FUL: Former 
Harrow Inn, Harrow Lane, Bulphan, Essex, RM14 3RL.

Councillor Piccolo declared that he had met with residents regarding Item 8 – 
Application 17/01504/FUL: Stanford Le Hope Railway Station, London Road, 
Stanford Le Hope, Essex, SS17 0JX however he was still of an open mind 
regarding determination of the application.

64. Planning Appeals 

The report provided Members with information regarding planning appeal 
performance.

RESOLVED:

That the Planning Committee noted the report.

65. 17/01504/FUL: Stanford Le Hope Railway Station, London Road, 
Stanford Le Hope, Essex SS17 0JX 

The application sought planning permission for redevelopment of the existing 
station to provide a new station building of 517 sq.m., a new footbridge, 
forecourt and associated vehicle drop-off and pick-up areas, 84 new cycle 
spaces and ancillary retail (Class A1/A3) premises.  The Committee was 
advised that there had been amendments to include updated plan nos.  It was 
suggested that Condition 7 should be amended to reference acoustic fencing; 
Condition 10 should be amended to read ‘The commercial unit hereby 
permitted shall be used solely for purposes falling within the Classes A1 or A3 
of the Schedule to the Town & Country Planning [Use Classes] Order 1987 
[as amended] and for no other purpose.’  There should also be an additional 
condition restricting hours of operation of the retail unit to 6:00am-10:00pm.

Councillor Ojetola sought further information regarding the new parking area 
and bus drop-off point.  It was confirmed that the existing station building 
would be moved further south, allowing more space for a drop-off / pick-up 
area for taxis and potential for a bus turnaround area with a bus shelter.

Councillor Hamilton noted that plans showed the bus turnaround cutting 
across a zebra crossing and asked if that did not raise a potential safety 

Page 6



hazard.  The Senior Highways Engineer confirmed that, provided the 
pedestrian crossing was marked correctly, there would be no real concerns.

Councillor Hamilton also queried how many carriages could be facilitated 
along the platform.  The platform had been extended in recent years and 
therefore there was potential for up to 12 carriages.

A resident, Paul Ward, was invited to the Committee to present his statement 
of objection.

The Agent, Stephen Humphry, was invited to the Committee to present his 
statement of support.

Councillor Piccolo requested more detail regarding expected footfall and 
whether the additional 700 would be all at once, surely there would be 
limitations due to carriage capacity.  Officers confirmed that the application 
would facilitate an interchange to encourage sustainable transport and reduce 
vehicle movements which was supported by both national and local policy.  It 
would be difficult to qualify exact movements and times however ‘peak’ time 
was 7am-9am so it would not be the case that all 700 would arrive in one hit.  
DP World and London Gateway had arranged their shift patterns so as not to 
coincide with peak time specifically to avoid such a scenario.  There was also 
the potential added benefit that these additional 700 commuters would be 
taken off the road network.

Councillor Ojetola appreciated the concerns raised by residents but felt 
officers had rightly balanced these concerns with the potential to reduce 
vehicle movements on the local road network.  He commended officers for 
their efforts to mitigate the impact upon neighbouring properties.  Were the 
application refused the increased footfall could still occur at the station and 
therefore he was happy to support it.

Councillor Rice agreed that it was a good application which would improve 
local infrastructure and take some cars off local roads.  It would also provide a 
long-term benefit for the Council’s Local Plan in terms of housing to provide 
homes for increased employment in the area.

Councillor Piccolo stated that he had originally been concerned regarding 
impact upon local residents and was pleased to see the work that had been 
undertaken to mitigate this.  He agreed that the increase in footfall could 
happen regardless of changes to the station and the application would 
mitigate the impact of extra travellers.  At present the biggest imposition was 
buses stopping on London Road; if it could be ensured that buses would use 
the proposed turnaround area it would reduce tailbacks in the area.  He 
supported the application as he could see now real planning grounds on 
which to object.

The Chair echoed many previous comments.  He felt the application provided 
an improvement on the existing station and it would be for the Council to 
closely monitor vehicle movements once the scheme was up and running.

Page 7



It was proposed by Councillor Ojetola and seconded by the Vice-Chair that 
the application be approved, subject to amended and additional conditions, as 
per the Officer’s recommendation.

For: Councillors Tom Kelly (Chair), Steve Liddiard (Vice-Chair), Colin 
Churchman, Graham Hamilton, Tunde Ojetola, Terry Piccolo, 
Gerard Rice, Graham Snell and David Potter.

Against: (0)

Abstain: (0)

RESOLVED:

That the application be approved, subject to conditions.

66. 17/01435/CV: South Ockendon Quarry and Landfill Site, Medebridge 
Road, South Ockendon, Essex 

The application sought to vary condition nos. 2 (accordance with approved 
plans), 3 (duration of temporary permission), 10 (scheme of landscaping,) 
and18 (penetrative construction methods) of planning permission ref. 
14/00836/FUL (Erection of solar Photovoltaic (PV) arrays with associated 
infrastructure (ancillary equipment includes inverters, transformers and 
substations), access tracks, fencing and security including pole mounted 
CCTV on Ockendon Landfill Site).  The Committee heard there was a 
proposed change in Condition 2 to include an additional plan amending the 
layout of the solar farm to introduce more capacity, although reducing the 
height of the structures.  The proposed amendment to condition no. 3 sought 
to extend the lifetime of the permission and consequential changes to 
landscaping were addressed by condition no. 10  The proposed amendment 
to condition 18 would address the potential for penetrative foundations into 
the capping layer above the former landfill site.  The Committee was advised 
that an additional drawing showing the individual land parcels had been 
submitted.

Councillor Ojetola questioned sought clarification as to why the work had not 
commenced within the timeframe for work to start, given the application was 
from 2014.  The application was not determined by the Planning Committee 
until November 2014 and then was subject to approval by the Secretary of 
State and s.106 discussions.  Final permission had not been granted until 
2016 and during that time national subsidies for solar power had been 
reduced or withdrawn.

The Campaign to Protect Rural Essex Representative queried the location of 
the site in relation to an overhead power line to the East and the proposed 
Lower Thames Crossing Route.  Members were advised that there was a 
power line to the east of the site, a gas easement to the north which would 

Page 8



sterilise part of the site and the draft alignment of the Lower Thames Crossing 
which was in the public domain ran East to West immediately adjacent to the 
North of the Site.

Councillor Ojetola left the Committee at 19:59

Councillor Snell questioned asked if the reduction in height was in order to fit 
more rows of panels.  It was confirmed that panels would need to be arranged 
in such a way that they did not overshadow each other.  The original scheme 
did not include piles however this application had the potential to drive the 
aluminium frames into the cap layer without disrupting the landfill.  However 
this was only a potential and there was a condition whereby ‘in the event that’ 
such work could not commence without a scheme submitted to the Council for 
approval, therefore reserving the Committee’s position.

Councillor Piccolo noted that recommendation 18 was ‘if’ but queried whether 
there was a condition regarding how piles would be repaired or treated in 40 
years’ time.  The Committee was advised that Condition 4 was a standard 
decommissioning agreement which required a Decommissioning Method 
Statement to be submitted and approved.

Councillor Churchman also questioned what would happen to the land after 
the duration of the temporary permissions, and if it would return to the public 
domain.  The site was designated agricultural land, of category 3B which was 
below average.  Condition 5 ensured that the land between panels would 
remain available as agricultural land, either for grazing or wild-flowers.  At the 
end of the duration the structures would be physically removed and the land 
would revert to its former state.  The existing S.106 agreement included a 
‘Green Grid’ contribution and ensured no impact on the existing right of way 
through the site.

The Agent, Spencer Powell, was invited to the Committee to present his 
statement of support.

The Vice-Chair felt it was logical to extend the life of the site and add more 
arrays given the change in subsidies.  He was in favour of renewable energy 
and therefore would support the application.

It was proposed by the Vice-Chair and seconded by Councillor Snell that the 
application be approved, subject to referral to the Secretary of State, the 
completion of a deed of variation to the existing s.106 legal agreement and 
planning conditions (also to include reference to the additional drawing), as 
per the Officer’s recommendation.

For: Councillors Tom Kelly (Chair), Steve Liddiard (Vice-Chair), Colin 
Churchman, Graham Hamilton, Terry Piccolo, Gerard Rice, 
Graham Snell and David Potter.

Against: (0)

Page 9



Abstain: (0)

RESOLVED:

That the application be approved, subject to referral to the Secretary of 
State, the completion of a deed of variation to the existing s.106 legal 
agreement and planning conditions.

67. 17/01506/FUL: Former Harrow Inn, Harrow Lane, Bulphan, Essex, RM14 
3RL 

The application sought planning permission for the construction of a detached 
3 bedroom dwelling and detached quadruple garage to be ancillary to the 
approved Wellness Centre (16/01446/FUL) at the site.  The application was 
deemed to be inappropriate development of the Green Belt and detrimental to 
the openness of the Green Belt.  In addition the development would have a 
detrimental impact upon the open fenland landscape and the flood risk 
assessment which had been submitted related to the approved wellness 
centre and not for the proposed dwelling, therefore this did not demonstrate 
safety for its lifetime. The application was recommended for refusal.

Councillor Snell sought clarification that the proposal did not remove the 2-
bedroom flat within the wellness centre.  Officers expected the wellness 
centre to be built as planned, including the flat for managers accommodation.

Councillor Rice felt it was a question of security; the Chair questioned whether 
this was the case.  The Committee heard that the approved plans for the 
wellness centre included a 2-bedroom flat, within the main building, which 
would provide security and in terms of night-time security there would be 
external cameras and lights which could be controlled and monitored from the 
control room within the premises.  Officers advised that the original plans 
could be revised to seek a more favourable alternative to a large, detached 
dwelling, such as additional staff facilities within the Wellness Centre through 
a revised layout or a minor extension to the building.

The Chair noted the site had been derelict and queried what other 
developments were in the area.  The site was in a rural location and 
developments nearby were farms or other agricultural land use and 
landscaping.

The Chair continued to question the flood risk assessment, which had not 
been specific to the proposed dwelling, and why that raised concern.  The 
Flood Risk Assessment submitted referred to the wellness centre and not the 
proposed dwelling.  The Wellness Centre was located more in Flood Zone 2 
whereas  the proposed dwelling was shown to  be located in Flood Zone  3A, 
which was the highest risk flood zone.  

Councillor Rice questioned whether revised accommodation within the 
footprint or nearer to the wellness centre would be preferable.  He didn’t want 

Page 10



to see a business fail and staff security was important.  A separate dwelling 
would still impact upon the Green Belt and the approved building was already 
bigger than previous development on the site.  The proposal would add 
significantly to the footprint.  Officers reiterated that there may be an 
opportunity to redesign the approved wellness centre internally so as to not 
impact upon the Green Belt further.

Councillor Hamilton sought clarification that 6.31 of the application report 
identified no risk of reduced security and that 6.33 gave the impression of a 
large mansion.  He sought to be clear that no weight should be given to these 
circumstances, as outlined in 6.35.

The Campaign to Protect Rural Essex Representative noted that there would 
be client bedrooms within the wellness centre, therefore the building would be 
occupied 24hours.  He expected the doors to be monitored by security and 
asked officers to clarify whether that was the case.  The first floor flat provided 
on-site staff 24 hours a day and there was a ground floor reception area too 
where it would be expected that staff would be on hand.

The Applicant, Joy Jarvis, was invited to the Committee to present her 
statement of support.

Councillor Rice felt that an exception could be made given the Health and 
Safety concerns. The Chair asked officers to clarify these concerns.  Staff 
facilities were not provided at the time of the wellness centre approval, but 
should be within the footprint of the centre rather than in a detached house.

Councillor Piccolo sought clarity and asked whether, had this been included 
within the original application, the recommendation would have differed.  The 
Committee was advised that the recommendation for the wellness centre 
would have been refusal, had the application included this separate dwelling.

The Chair noted that at first the wellness centre had been received as a good 
news story, which would be unique to Thurrock.  He expressed sympathy with 
the applicant however the site was within the Green Belt and there were strict 
rules around why applications would be refused.  He was minded to see if a 
potential exception could be made but was interested to see the views of 
other Members.

The Vice-Chair had some sympathy with the applicant but expressed two key 
concerns.  Firstly there had been at least two other cases of businesses within 
the Green Belt who had asked for substantial accommodation and been 
refused, which he was worried could cause an issue.  Secondly, the size of 
the dwelling with a four car garage seemed excessive; had the applicant 
considered amendments within the main building he would have been more 
sympathetic.

Councillor Rice urged Members to think long and hard given that the 
Committee had approved the wellness centre and now the operator had 
returned to seek permission for something they needed to ensure a 

Page 11



successful business.  The applicant was prepared to include a condition tying 
the dwelling to the wellness centre, as they could not operate without it, and 
he felt it was a unique opportunity.

The Assistant Director of Planning, Transport and Public Protection reiterated 
that the business already had accommodation.  He asked officers to shed 
light on allegations of a Health and Safety imperative.  Officers had received 
an email from Health and Safety officers which advised that the proposed 
dwelling was mainly a house and garage rather than to do with the business 
as it was separate and first aiders, fire marshals etc. would need to be within 
the wellness centre itself.

Councillor Snell felt the original application had been approved for all the right 
reasons however it was unreasonable to expect the committee to approve a 
3-bedroom house on the basis that the applicant had forgotten to 
accommodate rest areas for staff in the original plans.  He did not feel security 
should be used as an excuse to develop a house within the grounds of the 
wellness centre and that the applicant should reconsider looking within the 
approved footprint.

Councillor Piccolo agreed he had been very pleased with the original 
application.  He accepted that there may have been oversight and questioned 
whether the condition tying the dwelling to the wellness centre was feasible.  
The Assistant Director of Planning, Transport and Public Protection did not 
think such a condition would be enforceable and even so would not overcome 
planning concerns.  There was a question of ‘need versus desire’ and the 
application was far from meeting the ‘essential test’.  

The Interim Deputy Head of Law (Regeneration) advised that there were a 
number of issues if the Committee were minded to approve the application, 
contrary to the Officer’s recommendation.  Regarding the proposed condition, 
a s.106 agreement would be more suitable which would restrict occupation 
but this would have to specify demolition if the house was not used as 
specified and there would be a question as to whether that would be an 
appropriate solution.  Members were advised that their first consideration 
should be whether the house should be built within the Green Belt.  There 
were clearly a number of uncertainties and it appeared that there might be a 
need for further information in relation to flood risk and health and safety. 
Accordingly, a deferral might be in order so that further work could be 
undertaken.  If Members were to be minded to approve, then because there 
were a number of sensitive issues such as Green Belt, case law required that 
Members would need to clearly justify their decision to approve the scheme 
contrary to Officer’s recommendation, by addressing the reasons for refusal 
and giving reasons for approval.

Councillor Hamilton expressed concern regarding precedent and reminded 
Members that, had this formed part of the original application the 
recommendation would have been refusal.  Paired with the apparent lack of 
Health and Safety imperative he could not support the application.

Page 12



Councillor Rice felt there would be no issue of precedent, given that each 
application was determined on its own merit.  The Committee heard that, 
while cases were determined on their own merit, given the lack of evidence of 
necessity and the fact that the wellness centre already benefitted from 
accommodation it was right to be mindful of precedent.

The Chair felt the decision was difficult and there were a number of issues 
raising concern, conditions, the flood risk assessment and the Health and 
Safety imperative.  

It was proposed by Councillor Rice and seconded by the Chair that the 
application be deferred to allow for clarification of information in relation to 
flood risk and health and safety

For: Councillors Tom Kelly (Chair), Steve Liddiard (Vice-Chair), Colin 
Churchman, Terry Piccolo and Gerard Rice

Against: Councillors Graham Hamilton, Graham Snell and David Potter

Abstain: (0)

Councillor Piccolo noted that, if the application were to be refused, there 
would still be 30 staff without a rest area so urged the applicant to look at 
possible alternatives.  Any decision would need to be linked to the Health and 
Safety implications so there was a need to demonstrate:

1. Are there Health and Safety implications?
2. Can they be overcome within the existing footprint of the wellness 

centre?
3. Is the separate dwelling necessary?

The Vice-Chair also noted that Health and Safety requirements would cover 
toilets and a break area but not all 30 staff would need to be accommodated 
at one time so staff would need to be timetabled according to the facilities and 
space available.

RESOLVED:

That the application be deferred to allow for clarification of information 
in relation to flood risk and health and safety.

68. 17/01527/HHA: 2 Oval Gardens, Grays, Essex, RM17 5NR 

This item was withdrawn from the agenda, to be determined at a later date.

The meeting finished at 9.07 pm

Approved as a true and correct record

Page 13



CHAIR

DATE

Any queries regarding these Minutes, please contact
Democratic Services at Direct.Democracy@thurrock.gov.uk

Page 14

mailto:Direct.Democracy@thurrock.gov.uk


15 March 2018 ITEM: 6

Planning Committee

Planning Appeals

Wards and communities affected: 
All

Key Decision: 
Not Applicable

Report of: Leigh Nicholson, Development Management Team Leader

Accountable Head of Service: Andy Millard, Assistant Director – Planning, 
Transportation and Public Protection. 

Accountable Director: Steve Cox, Director of Place

Executive Summary

This report provides Members with information with regard to planning appeal 
performance. 

1.0 Recommendation(s)

1.1 To note the report

2.0 Introduction and Background

2.1 This report advises the Committee of the number of appeals that have been 
lodged and the number of decisions that have been received in respect of 
planning appeals, together with dates of forthcoming inquiries and hearings.

3.0 Appeals Lodged:

3.1 Application No: 17/01041/HHA 

Location: 97 Kingsman Road, Stanford Le Hope

Proposal: Retention of garage with canopy.

Page 15

Agenda Item 6



4.0 Appeals Decisions:

The following appeal decisions have been received: 

4.1 Application No: 17/00837/HHA

Location: 55 Lennox Close, Chafford Hundred

Proposal: Loft conversion with rear dormer and roof lights on the 
front elevation

Decision: Appeal Dismissed

4.1.1 The Inspector considered the main issue to be the effect of the proposed 
development on the character and appearance of the local area.

4.1.2 The Inspector found concern with the design and form of the dormer 
proposed, concluding it would result in a very large and bulky addition to the 
property which would be incongruous with the streetscene.  The Inspector 
found the development to be in conflict with Annexe A1.1 (d) and CS Policies 
PMD2 and CSTP22. 

4.1.3 The full appeal decision can be found online.

4.2 Application No: 17/00577/HHA

Location: Dame Elyns, Stanford Road, Stanford Le Hope

Proposal: Demolition of existing lean buildings adjoining house and 
erection of single storey extension infill between existing 
house and outbuilding

Decision:  Appeal Allowed

4.2.1 The Inspector considered the main issue to be whether the proposed 
development would constitute inappropriate development in the Green Belt.  

4.2.2 The Inspector took the view that the demolition of the existing ‘original’ lean to 
buildings helped to offset the proposed extension. The Inspector took an 
alternative view to the Council and found the scale of the extension to be 
compliant with CS Policy PMD6. The Inspector allowed the appeal and in 
doing so imposed conditions requiring the development to be carried out in 
accordance with the submitted plans and to ensure that materials to match 
the main dwelling are used. 

Page 16



4.2.3 The full appeal decision can be found online.

5.0 Forthcoming public inquiry and hearing dates:

5.1 Application No: 15/01354/OUT

Location:                 Land Part of Little Thurrock Marshes, Thurrock Park Way

Proposal: Application for outline planning permission (with details of 
landscaping, scale and appearance reserved) for the 
development of 13.36 ha of land to provide up to 280 
residential units, a 250 sq.m. community facility (Use 
Class D1) and 1,810 sq.m. of commercial floorspace 
(Use Class B2/B8) with associated landscape, flood 
improvement and access works.

Dates: 15-18 May (Public Inquiry)

6.0 APPEAL PERFORMANCE:

6.1 The following table shows appeal performance in relation to decisions on 
planning applications and enforcement appeals.  

APR MAY JUN JUL AUG SEP OCT NOV DEC JAN FEB MAR
Total No of
Appeals 2 2 6 5 8 1 0 2 0 3 2 31
No Allowed 0 2 4 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 8
% Allowed 25%

7.0 Consultation (including overview and scrutiny, if applicable) 

7.1 N/A

8.0 Impact on corporate policies, priorities, performance and community 
impact

8.1 This report is for information only. 

9.0 Implications

9.1 Financial
Implications verified by: Sean Clark

Director of Finance & IT

Page 17



There are no direct financial implications to this report.

9.2 Legal

Implications verified by:      Benita Edwards 
Interim Deputy Head of Law (Regeneration) and 
Deputy Monitoring Officer

The Appeals lodged will either have to be dealt with by written representation 
procedure or (an informal) hearing or a local inquiry.  

Most often, particularly following an inquiry, the parties involved will seek to 
recover from the other side their costs incurred in pursuing the appeal (known 
as 'an order as to costs' or 'award of costs').

9.3 Diversity and Equality

Implications verified by: Rebecca Price
 Community Development Officer

There are no direct diversity implications to this report.

9.4 Other implications (where significant) – i.e. Staff, Health, Sustainability, 
Crime and Disorder)

None. 

10. Background papers used in preparing the report (including their location 
on the Council’s website or identification whether any are exempt or protected 
by copyright):

 All background documents including application forms, drawings and other 
supporting documentation can be viewed online: 
www.thurrock.gov.uk/planning.The planning enforcement files are not 
public documents and should not be disclosed to the public.

11. Appendices to the report

 None

Report Author:

Leigh Nicholson
Development Management Team Leader 

Page 18

http://www.thurrock.gov.uk/planning


Planning Committee 15.03.2018 Application Reference: 17/00923/FUL

Reference:
17/00923/FUL

Site: 
Yard E2
Stanhope Industrial Park
Wharf Road
Stanford Le Hope
Essex
SS17 0AL

Ward:
Stanford Le Hope 
West

Proposal: 
Use of land for open storage, general industrial with ancillary 
office and provision of a workshop

Plan Number(s):
Reference Name Received 
11 Elevations 24th August 2017 
2310/04/E Site Layout 7th July 2017 
2310/10/B Location Plan 7th July 2017

The application is also accompanied by:

- Drainage Statements
- Transport Statements
- Titan Data Sheet

Applicant:
Mr Jonathan Hills

Validated: 
24 August 2017
Date of expiry (Agreed 
extension of time): 
23 March 2018

Recommendation:  Approve, subject to conditions. 

This application is scheduled for determination by the Council’s Planning 
Committee because it has been called in by Cllrs T Piccolo and S Hebb with the 
agreement of Chair T Kelly in accordance with Part 3 (b) 2.1 (d)(i) of the Council’s 
constitution.  

1.0 DESCRIPTION OF PROPOSAL 

1.1 The application proposes a primary open storage (B8) use with ancillary repair and 
maintenance facilities (B2) under a covered workshop comprising shipping 
containers with a canopy and administrative offices (B1).

Page 19

Agenda Item 8



Planning Committee 15.03.2018 Application Reference: 17/00923/FUL

2.0 SITE DESCRIPTION

2.1 The application site (1.235ha) is in the southeast corner of the wider Industrial Park 
site (14ha).  It is irregularly shaped, with an access road to the north and drainage 
ditch to the south and east.  The Industrial Park is located 1km southeast of 
Stanford-le-Hope. 

3.0 RELEVANT HISTORY

Application 
Reference

Description of Proposal Decision 

14/01082/DVOB Vary 106 agreement entered in to 
pursuant to application 11/50332/TTGETL. 
to amend phasing plan and substitute 
fencing plan with associated alteration to 
text.

Approved

11/50342/TTGNMA Non Material Amendments to Conditions 
6, 9, 13, 14 and 24 attached to planning 
permission 04/00765/OUT to enable 
phasing of implementation of 
development.

Approved

11/50332/TTGETL Extending the time limit for implementation Approved
11/50331/TTGNMA Non Material Amendments to the 

approved scheme (Condition 1 - Drainage 
and Condition 3 - Storage of refuse and 
recyclables)

Approved

09/50023/TTGREM Reserved matters pursuant to outline 
consent 04/00765/OUT. Proposed 
development of 24,863 sq.m of B1(C), B2 
and ancillary B1(A) & B8 floorspace, 
access and landscaping.

Approved

04/00765/OUT Outline application for 28,095 square 
metres of B1(c), B2 and ancillary B1(a) 
and B8 uses, landscaping and access 
improvements.

Approved

4.0 CONSULTATIONS AND REPRESENTATIONS

4.1 Detailed below is a summary of the consultation responses received. The full 
version of each consultation response can be viewed on the Council’s website via 
public access at the following link: www.thurrock.gov.uk/planning 

PUBLICITY: 

4.2 This application has been advertised by way of individual neighbour notification 
letters, online planning register and public site notice which has been displayed 

Page 20

http://www.thurrock.gov.uk/planning


Planning Committee 15.03.2018 Application Reference: 17/00923/FUL

nearby.  

One response has been received from London Gateway who request the council be 
satisfied there would be no impacts to the Stanford Wharf Nature Reserve through 
noise, lighting, drainage discharges, air quality or visual screening.

HIGHWAYS:

4.3 No Objections, subject to conditions

RSPB:

4.4 No objection subject to conditions.

LANDSCAPE AND ECOLOGY ADVISER:

4.5 No objection subject to conditions.

ENVIRONMENTAL HEALTH:

4.6 No objections subject to conditions. 

ENVIRONMENT AGENCY:

4.7 No objection.  

5.0 POLICY CONTEXT

National Planning Guidance

          National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)

5.1 The NPPF was published on 27th March 2012.  Paragraph 13 of the Framework 
sets out a presumption in favour of sustainable development.  Paragraph 196 of the 
Framework confirms the tests in s.38 (6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase 
Act 2004 and s.70 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 and that the 
Framework is a material consideration in planning decisions.  Paragraph 197 states 
that in assessing and determining development proposals, local planning 
authorities should apply the presumption in favour of sustainable development.

 5.2 The following headings and content of the NPPF are relevant to the consideration 
of the current proposals:

1. Building a strong, competitive economy
4. Promoting sustainable transport

Page 21



Planning Committee 15.03.2018 Application Reference: 17/00923/FUL

7. Requiring good design
           

Planning Practice Guidance

5.3 In March 2014 the Department for Communities and Local Government (DCLG) 
launched its planning practice guidance web-based resource. This was 
accompanied by a Written Ministerial Statement which includes a list of the 
previous planning policy guidance documents cancelled when the NPPF was 
launched. PPG contains 42 subject areas, with each area containing several 
subtopics. Those of particular relevance to the determination of this planning 
application comprise:

• Design
• Light pollution
• Noise
• Travel plans, transport assessments and statements in decision-taking
• Use of Planning Conditions

                
Local Planning Policy

Thurrock Local Development Framework (as amended) 2015

5.4 The Council adopted the “Core Strategy and Policies for the Management of 
Development Plan Document” in January 2015. The following Core Strategy 
policies apply to the proposals:

          Spatial Policies:

• CSSP2 (Sustainable Employment Growth)

• CSSP3 (Sustainable Infrastructure)

           Thematic Policies:

• CSTP6 (Strategic Employment Provision)

• CSTP15 (Transport in Greater Thurrock)

• CSTP16 (National and Regional Transport Networks)3

• CSTP17 (Strategic Freight Movement and Access to Ports)

• CSTP22 (Thurrock Design)

• CSTP25 (Addressing Climate Change)2

• CSTP27 (Management and Reduction of Flood Risk)2

Page 22



Planning Committee 15.03.2018 Application Reference: 17/00923/FUL

Policies for the Management of Development:

• PMD1 (Minimising Pollution and Impacts on Amenity)2

• PMD2 (Design and Layout)2

• PMD8 (Parking Standards)3

• PMD9 (Road Network Hierarchy)

• PMD10 (Transport Assessments and Travel Plans)2

• PMD15 (Flood Risk Assessment)2

           
[Footnote: 1New Policy inserted by the Focused Review of the LDF Core Strategy. 2Wording of LDF-
CS Policy and forward amended either in part or in full by the Focused Review of the LDF Core 
Strategy. 3Wording of forward to LDF-CS Policy amended either in part or in full by the Focused 
Review of the LDF Core Strategy].

         Focused Review of the LDF Core Strategy (2014)

5.5 This Review was commenced in late 2012 with the purpose to ensure that the Core 
Strategy and the process by which it was arrived at are not fundamentally at odds 
with the NPPF. There are instances where policies and supporting text are 
recommended for revision to ensure consistency with the NPPF. The Review was 
submitted to the Planning Inspectorate for independent examination in August 
2013. An Examination in Public took place in April 2014.  The Inspector concluded 
that the amendments were sound subject to recommended changes.  The Core 
Strategy and Policies for Management of Development Focused Review: 
Consistency with National Planning Policy Framework Focused Review was 
adopted by Council on the 28th February 2015.

         Draft Site Specific Allocations and Policies DPD

5.6 This Consultation Draft “Issues and Options” DPD was subject to consultation 
commencing during 2012. The Draft Site Specific Allocations DPD ‘Further Issues 
and Options’ was the subject of a further round of consultation during 2013.  The 
Planning Inspectorate is advising local authorities not to continue to progress their 
Site Allocation Plans towards examination whether their previously adopted Core 
Strategy is no longer in compliance with the NPPF.  This is the situation for the 
Borough.

          Thurrock Core Strategy Position Statement and Approval for the Preparation of a 
New Local Plan for Thurrock

5.7 The above report was considered at the February meeting 2014 of the Cabinet.  
The report highlighted issues arising from growth targets, contextual changes, 

Page 23



Planning Committee 15.03.2018 Application Reference: 17/00923/FUL

impacts of recent economic change on the delivery of new housing to meet the 
Borough’s Housing Needs and ensuring consistency with Government Policy.  The 
report questioned the ability of the Core Strategy Focused Review and the Core 
Strategy ‘Broad Locations & Strategic Sites’ to ensure that the Core Strategy is up-
to-date and consistent with Government Policy and recommended the ‘parking’ of 
these processes in favour of a more wholesale review.  Members resolved that the 
Council undertake a full review of Core Strategy and prepare a new Local Plan

Thurrock Local Plan

5.8 In February 2014 the Council embarked on the preparation of a new Local Plan for 
the Borough.  Between February and April 2016 the Council consulted formally on 
an Issues and Options (Stage 1) document and simultaneously undertook a ‘Call 
for Sites’ exercise.  It is currently anticipated that consultation on an Issues and 
Options (Stage 2 Spatial Options and Sites) document will be undertaken in early 
2018.

6.0 ASSESSMENT

The assessment below covers the following areas:
I. Principle of the Development 

II. Design and Layout

III. Traffic Impact, Access and Car Parking

IV. Impact on Residential Amenity

V. Impact Upon Ecology and Biodiversity

VI. Flood Risk and Site Drainage

I. PRINCIPLE OF THE DEVELOPMENT 

6.1 The site forms part of a designated Secondary Employment Area in the Core 
Strategy and the use of the site for light industry and open storage has been 
established through the grant of outline planning permission and reserved matters 
approval (04/00765/OUT and 09/50023/TTGREM respectively). The principle of the 
development is considered to be sound and in compliance with policies CSSP2, 
OSDP1 and CSTP6. The development would result in the creation of 6 jobs which 
is welcomed. 

II. DESIGN AND LAYOUT

6.2 The main difference between this application and the previous reserved matters 
approval for this site is that the proposal would reduce the built elements and 
increase the areas of open storage.  

Page 24



Planning Committee 15.03.2018 Application Reference: 17/00923/FUL

6.3 The proposed barrel roofed workshop but would measure approximately 6.2m in 
height which is lower than other approved buildings in the estate.  It would also be 
sited away from the boundaries of the site.  The office space would be provided 
within a temporary type building which would be of low profile. The design of the 
office building is not considered suitable for long term retention as it falls below the 
design quality expected by the Authority. 

6.4 Subject to conditions, there would be no detrimental impact on visual amenity in 
accordance with policies PMD1, PMD2 and CSTP22.

III. TRAFFIC IMPACT, ACCESS AND CAR PARKING

6.5 The application proposes 7 lorry and 14 car / van parking spaces to support the 
business. Access to the site would be taken from the existing spine road within the 
estate. 

6.6 The use of the site as proposed would result in a lower number of vehicular 
movements than that anticipated by the original outline planning permission. In this 
respect, the proposal would have no greater impact on the highway system than 
the extant approval. It should be noted that no abnormal loads are proposed but 
this matter could be addressed by condition.

6.7 The Council’s Highway Officer has raised no objections to the proposal. The 
proposal complies with policies CSSP3, CSTP15, CSTP16, CSTP17, PMD8, PMD9 
and PMD10.

IV. IMPACT ON RESIDENTIAL AMENITY

6.8 The site is very remote from residential properties and, as such, the new buildings 
proposed would have no impact on local residents.  The use is also sufficiently 
remote from residential properties that there would be no loss of amenity through 
noise, smells, dust or other nuisances.

6.9 It is recognised that there is long standing local concern in relation to the use of 
Wharf Road for commercial traffic.  However, the means of access has already 
been established and there is no objection from the Council’s Highway Officers as 
the proposal is considered to have a lesser impact than the extant permission.

6.10 In light of the above, the proposal is considered to have an acceptable impact on 
residential amenity in accordance with policy PMD1.

V. IMPACT UPON ECOLOGY AND BIODIVERSITY

6.11 The site has potential ecological benefit for reptiles and protected invertebrates.  A 
survey is required which would then outline appropriate mitigation including 
relocation to an acceptable alternate site. This matter can be dealt with by condition 
imposed on any consent granted. 

VI. FLOOD RISK AND SITE DRAINAGE

6.12 The site has previously been the subject of drainage statements as part of the 
larger site.  It is considered that an effective SuDS scheme can be implemented on 
the site, but details of surfacing and how site drainage is to be achieved are 

Page 25



Planning Committee 15.03.2018 Application Reference: 17/00923/FUL

insufficient.  This matter could be resolved by condition.  The proposal therefore 
complies with policies CSTP25, CSTP27 and PMD15.

7.0 CONCLUSIONS AND REASON(S) FOR APPROVAL 

7.1 The application proposes commercial uses which are compatible with the wider 
Stanhope Estate and the development would bring about additional employment in 
the Borough. The proposal would result in no greater impact on the local area than 
the extant permissions. Suitable planning condition could be introduced to protect 
local residents. The proposal complies with the NPPF and employment policies of 
the Core Strategy.  

8.0 RECOMMENDATION

8.1 Approve, subject to the following conditions:

Standard Time

1 The development hereby permitted must be begun not later than the expiration of 3 
years from the date of this permission.

REASON: In order to comply with Section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory
Purchase Act 2004.

Approved Plans

2 The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the 
following approved plans:

Plan Number(s):
11 Elevations 24th August 2017 
2310/04/E Site Layout 7th July 2017 
2310/10/B Location Plan 7th July 2017

REASON: For the avoidance of doubt and to ensure that the development is 
carried out in accordance with the details as approved with regard to policies PMD1 
and PMD2 of the adopted Thurrock LDF Core Strategy and Policies for the 
Management of Development [2015].

Hours of work

3 No construction work in connection with the development shall take place on the 
site at any time on any Sunday or Bank Holiday, nor on any other day except 
between the following times:

Monday to Friday 0730-1700 hours
Saturday 0800-1300 hours

Page 26



Planning Committee 15.03.2018 Application Reference: 17/00923/FUL

Unless such work -
(a) is associated with an emergency; or
(b) is carried out with the prior written approval of the Local Planning Authority;

REASON: In the interest of protecting residential amenity.

External Lighting

4 Prior to the first use of development hereby permitted details of any external 
lighting, including details of the spread and intensity of light together with the size, 
scale and design of any light fittings and supports, shall be submitted to, and 
agreed in writing by, the Local Planning Authority. Thereafter, external lighting shall 
only be provided in accordance with the agreed details or in accordance with any 
variation agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority.

REASON: In the interests of visual amenity and to ensure that the proposed 
development is satisfactorily integrated within its immediate surroundings.

Drainage Strategy 

5 No development shall take place until a detailed surface water drainage scheme for 
the site has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. Where a sustainable drainage scheme is to be provided, the submitted 
details shall:

i. provide information about the design storm period and intensity, the method 
employed to delay and control the surface water discharged from the site and the 
measures taken to prevent pollution of the receiving groundwater and/or surface 
waters;
ii. include a period for its implementation; and
iii. provide a management and maintenance plan of the development which shall 
include the arrangements for adoption by any public authority or statutory 
undertaker and any other arrangements to secure the operation of the scheme 
throughout its lifetime

REASON: In the interests of drainage and surface water management in 
accordance with the requirements of Policies PMD15 and CSTP27 of the adopted 
Thurrock LDF Core Strategy and Policies for the Management of Development 
[2015].

Foul and Surface Water Drainage 

6 The development hereby permitted shall not be commenced until such time as a 
scheme to dispose of foul and surface water has been submitted to, and approved 
in writing by, the local planning authority. The scheme will include details of oil 
interceptors and other pollution prevention arrangements and shall be implemented 
as approved.

REASON: To prevent pollution of the surface water and ground water.

Page 27



Planning Committee 15.03.2018 Application Reference: 17/00923/FUL

Construction Environmental Management Plan [CEMP]

7 No demolition or construction works shall commence until a Construction 
Environmental Management Plan [CEMP] has been submitted to and approved in 
writing by the local planning authority in writing. The CEMP should contain or 
address the following matters:

(a) Hours and duration of any piling operations;
(b) Vehicle haul routing in connection with construction, remediation and 

engineering operations;
(c) Wheel washing and sheeting of vehicles transporting loose aggregates or 

similar materials on or off site (including long term management for the site 
once it has been developed out);

(d) Details of construction access;
(e) Location and size of on-site compounds [including the design layout of any 

proposed temporary artificial lighting systems];
(f) Details of any temporary hardstandings;
(g) Details of temporary hoarding;
(h) Method for the control of noise with reference to BS5228 together with a 

monitoring regime;
(i) Measures to reduce vibration and mitigate the impacts on sensitive receptors 

together with a monitoring regime;
(j) Dust and air quality mitigation and monitoring, (including long term 

management for the site once it has been developed out);
(k) Water management including waste water and surface water discharge,
(l) Method statement for the prevention of contamination of soil and 

groundwater and air pollution, including the storage of fuel and chemicals;
(m) A Site Waste Management Plan;
(n) Ecology and environmental protection and mitigation;
(o) Community liaison including a method for handling and monitoring 

complaints, contact details for site managers;
(p) Details of security lighting layout and design.

Works on site shall only take place in accordance with the approved CEMP.

REASON: In order to minimise any adverse impacts arising from the construction of 
the development in accordance with Policy PMD1 of the adopted Thurrock LDF 
Core Strategy and Policies for the Management of Development [2015].

Ecological Survey

8 No development shall take place including any demolition or clearance works until a 
comprehensive ecological survey of the site has been undertaken to ascertain if 
any protected species are present. The results of the survey shall be submitted to 
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority along with details of the 
provision and implementation of ecological mitigation to protect any protected 
species if found to be present. The development shall be carried out and completed 
in strict accordance with the approved mitigation scheme. 

Page 28



Planning Committee 15.03.2018 Application Reference: 17/00923/FUL

REASON:  In order to ensure that the interests of ecology and biodiversity or 
protected species are addressed in accordance with policy PMD7 of the adopted 
Thurrock LDF Core Strategy and Policies for the Management of Development 
[2015].

Unforeseen Contamination

9 If, during development, contamination not previously identified is found to be 
present at the site then no further development [unless otherwise agreed in writing 
with the local planning authority] shall be carried out until the developer has 
submitted, and obtained written approval from the local planning authority for, an 
amendment to the remediation strategy detailing how this unsuspected 
contamination shall be dealt with. Such agreed measures shall be implemented and 
completed prior to the first occupation of any parts of the development.

REASON: To protect the water environment in accordance with policy PMD1 of the 
adopted Thurrock LDF Core Strategy and Policies for the Management of 
Development [2015] and in the interests of public health and safety.

Hours of vehicle movements

10 No lorries shall enter or leave the site outside the hours of 7am - 7pm Monday - 
Saturday and not at all on Sundays or Bank Holidays. A vehicle booking system 
shall be in operation at all times the site is operational. This system shall record 
details of the registration, origin, destination and operators of each vehicle entering 
and leaving the site and the time of such movements.

REASON: In the interests of residential amenity and to ensure that the proposed 
development is integrated within its immediate surroundings as required by Policy 
PMD1 of the adopted Thurrock LDF Core Strategy and Policies for the 
Management of Development [2015].

Abnormal Loads

11 No abnormal loads are permitted as part of this permission. For the avoidance of 
doubt, an ALV is defined for these purposes as a vehicle which satisfies at least 
one of the following criteria:

i. The gross weight of the vehicle carrying the load exceeds C&U limits up to 
80,000 kg (78.74 tonnes)

ii. The width exceeds 3m (9’ 10”)
iii. The length exceeds 18.75m (61’ 6”)

REASON:  In the interests of highway and pedestrian safety and the amenities of 
nearby residential occupiers as required by Policy PMD1 of the adopted Thurrock 
LDF Core Strategy and Policies for the Management of Development [2015].

Number of Vehicle Movements per day

Page 29



Planning Committee 15.03.2018 Application Reference: 17/00923/FUL

12 There shall be no more than 31 Heavy Goods Vehicles (HGV) vehicle movements 
to and from the site (in or out) in any one day.

REASON:  In the interests of highway and pedestrian safety and the amenities of 
nearby residential occupiers as required by Policy PMD1 of the adopted Thurrock 
LDF Core Strategy and Policies for the Management of Development [2015].

Height limit on external storage

13 No external storage of goods shall exceed 5m in height.

REASON: In the interests of the character and visual amenities of the area as 
required by Policies PMD1 and PMD2 of the adopted Thurrock LDF Core Strategy 
and Policies for the Management of Development [2015].

No racks or chattels

15 Notwithstanding the Town and Country Planning Act 1990, at no time shall any 
racks, portable structures or any other form of chattel be placed on the site without 
the prior written approval of the Local Planning Authority.

REASON: In the interests of the character and visual amenities of the area as 
required by Policies PMD1 and PMD2 of the adopted Thurrock LDF Core Strategy 
and Policies for the Management of Development [2015].

Ancillary uses

14 The offices and other buildings shall be used for purposes in conjunction with and 
ancillary to the main use of the site only and shall not be occupied separately.

REASON: To determine the scope of this permission and to avoid the introduction 
of inappropriate separate uses on the site.

No Lorry Park Use

15 At no time whatsoever shall any part of the site be used as a lorry park or for any 
form of ad hoc lorry parking. Any LGVs or HGVs kept on site shall be solely in 
connection with the lawful buildings and uses on the site.

REASON: To prevent the formation of a lorry parking in the interests of visual 
amenity, neighbour amenity, the character and visual amenities of the area and 
highways safety in accordance with Policies PMD1, PMD2, PMD6, PMD8 and 
PMD9 of the adopted Thurrock LDF Core Strategy and Policies for the 
Management of Development [2015].

Details of Office Building (external materials)

16 Notwithstanding the information on the approved plans, details of the external 
materials to be used to clad the office building shall be submitted to and approved 
in writing by the local planning authority.  These details shall be implemented within 

Page 30



Planning Committee 15.03.2018 Application Reference: 17/00923/FUL

2 years of this decision and the building shall be maintained in accordance with 
these details unless agreed in advance with the local planning authority.

REASON: In the interests of visual amenity and to ensure that the proposed 
development is integrated with its surroundings in accordance with policy PMD2 of 
the adopted Thurrock LDF Core Strategy and Policies for the Management of 
Development [2015].

Commencement of planning permission 

17. Written notification of the date of commencement shall be sent to the Local 
Planning Authority within 7 days of such commencement.
REASON: To define the scope of the planning permission

Documents: 
All background documents including application forms, drawings and other 
supporting documentation relating to this application can be viewed online: 

www.thurrock.gov.uk/planning

Page 31

http://www.thurrock.gov.uk/planning


Planning Committee 15.03.2018 Application Reference: 17/00923/FUL

Page 32



Planning Committee 15.03.2018 Application Reference: 18/00018/FUL

Reference:
18/00018/FUL

Site: 
Thurrock Learning Campus
High Street
Grays
Essex
RM17 6TF

Ward:
Grays Riverside

Proposal: 
Retention of the further education building for 5 years, until 4 
August 2023, cut back to north-west corner of building, infill of 
existing courtyard and modifications to the layout and amount 
of disabled car parking, cycle and motorcycle parking

Plan Number(s):
Reference Name Received 
002 Block Plan 4th January 2018 
001 Location Plan 4th January 2018 
003 Existing Site Layout 16th February 2018 
011 Existing Floor Plans 4th January 2018 
012 Existing Floor Plans 4th January 2018 
020 Existing Elevations 4th January 2018 
021 Existing Elevations 4th January 2018 
103 Proposed Plans 16th February 2018 
110 Proposed Floor Plans 4th January 2018 
111 Proposed Floor Plans 4th January 2018 
112 Proposed Floor Plans 4th January 2018 
120 Proposed Elevations 4th January 2018 
121 Proposed Elevations 4th January 2018

The application is also accompanied by:

 Planning Statement
 Design and Access Statement
 Noise Report
 Archaeological Excavation Report
 Contaminated Land Report
 Transport Statement
 Travel Plan
 External Lighting details

Page 33

Agenda Item 9



Planning Committee 15.03.2018 Application Reference: 18/00018/FUL

Applicant: South Essex College 
c/o Lambert Smith Hampton

Validated: 
8 January 2018
Date of expiry: 
9 April 2018

Recommendation:  Approve, subject to conditions.

This application is scheduled for determination by the Council’s Planning 
Committee because it is considered to have significant policy / strategic 
implications given the Council’s corporate ambitions for Grays Town Centre, in 
accordance with the Constitution Chapter 5, Part 3 (b), 2.1 (a).

1.0 DESCRIPTION OF PROPOSAL

1.1 Full planning permission was granted on the 4th August 2008 for; ‘Temporary 
college accommodation, disabled car parking, cycle parking, associated access 
and landscaping’ (reference 08/00523/TTGFUL). The permission was then 
renewed under reference 13/00701/TEL for a further 5 years through an application 
for variation of condition 1 of the original 08/00523/TTGFUL. Reference 
13/00701/TEL remains a live planning permission but expires on 4 August 2018.

1.2 This application seeks the further retention of the further education building for 
another 5 years, until 4 August 2023, and also seeks the following building 
alterations:

 to cut back the north west corner of the building; and
 infill the existing courtyard area within the central section of the building.

1.3 The building alterations are proposed because a small part of the existing building 
has been constructed on third party land outside of the control of the applicant and 
the Council, who own the remainder of the land within the site. 

1.4 The building alterations would result in the loss of 232.5 sq.m (2477.5 sq.m to 2245 
sq.m). This would result in the loss of part of the canteen area and reception area 
on the ground floor, loss of an IT classroom on the first floor, a reduction in the size 
of an art and design classroom on the second floor, and loss of the central 
courtyard, which would become a new IT classroom.

1.5 A summary of the applicant’s Planning Statement with regard to the need for 
retention of this building is explained below:

The building subject of this application was required to provide education facilities 
in the area whilst the new college buildings to the north were being developed. The 
building is currently used for education purposes for providing logistics and 

Page 34



Planning Committee 15.03.2018 Application Reference: 18/00018/FUL

transport courses for age groups 16-19 and through to adults. The building forms 
the main base for the College’s higher education centre in Thurrock. 

The College is expanding the higher education offering by art, performance and 
design courses in partnership with the University of Arts London from this year 
onwards. In the medium term future the College intends to create larger and 
bespoke higher education centres in Thurrock and Southend with a new building in 
Thurrock adjacent to and expanding upon the building subject of this application, 
which would become the new higher education centre or provide alternative 
construction/engineering accommodation.

In addition to the education use the building provide a facility to the Council, 
community and college partners including the Essex Chamber of Commerce, short 
course for adults, apprenticeship programmes and bespoke programmes for 
business and industry.

1.1 SITE DESCRIPTION

1.2 The temporary buildings occupy a 1,500m² site located on the east side of the 
southern pedestrianised part of the High Street. Pedestrian access to the site is 
obtained via High Street, whilst vehicular access to the site can be obtained via 
Argent Street. 

1.3 RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY

1.4 The following table provides the planning history:

Reference Description Decision

08/00523/TTGFUL Temporary college accommodation 
(2490.5m² GEA), disabled car parking, 
cycle parking, associated access and 
landscaping

Approved
04.08.2008

13/00701/ETL Extension of time limit for planning 
application 08/00523/TTGFUL (Three 
Storey Further Education Building)

Approved
15.10.2013

18/00019/FUL Retention of the further education 
building for 5 years, until 4 August 2023, 
and modifications to the layout and 
amount of disabled car parking, cycle 
and motorcycle parking

Pending 
consideration

1.5 With regards to the existing college buildings on land to the north and east: 

Page 35



Planning Committee 15.03.2018 Application Reference: 18/00018/FUL

Reference Description Decision

11/50402/TTGFUL Demolition and redevelopment for 
college campus comprising one three-
storey and one four-storey building of 
13,698 square metres (Use Class D1), 
ancillary cafe of 680 square metres, 96 
car parking spaces, public open space, 
access and associated development

Approved
08.02.2012

1.6 CONSULTATION AND REPRESENTATIONS

1.7 Detailed below is a summary of the consultation responses received. The full 
version of each consultation response can be viewed on the Council’s website via 
public access at the following link: www.thurrock.gov.uk/planning 

1.8 PUBLICITY: 

This application has been advertised by way of individual neighbour notification 
letters, press advert and public site notices which has been displayed nearby.  

There have been no representations received. 

1.9 EDUCATION: 

No objection.

1.10 ENVIRONMENTAL HEALTH:

No objection.

1.11 HIGHWAYS:

No objection.

1.12 HISTORIC BUILDINGS AND CONSERVATION ADVISOR:

No objection.

1.13 REGENERATION:

Support the application as the development would be consistent with the Grays 
Development Framework.

Page 36

http://www.thurrock.gov.uk/planning


Planning Committee 15.03.2018 Application Reference: 18/00018/FUL

1.14 TRAVEL PLAN CO-ORDINATOR: 

No objection subject to condition.

1.15 POLICY CONTEXT

1.16 National Planning policy Framework

The NPPF was published on 27th March 2012. Paragraph 13 of the Framework 
sets out a presumption in favour of sustainable development. Paragraph 196 of the 
Framework confirms the tests in s.38 (6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase 
Act 2004 and s.70 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 and that the 
Framework is a material consideration in planning decisions. Paragraph 197 states 
that in assessing and determining development proposals, local planning 
authorities should apply the presumption in favour of sustainable development. The 
following headings and content of the NPPF are relevant to the consideration of the 
current proposals.

- Core Planning Principles
- 2. Ensuring the vitality of town centres 
- 4. Promoting sustainable transport 
- 7. Requiring good design 
- 8. Promoting healthy communities 
- 12. Conserving and enhancing the historic environment 

1.17 Planning Policy Guidance

In March 2014 the Department for Communities and Local Government (DCLG) 
launched its planning practice guidance web-based resource. This was 
accompanied by a Written Ministerial Statement which includes a list of the 
previous planning policy guidance documents cancelled when the NPPF was 
launched. PPG contains 48 subject areas, with each area containing several 
subtopics. Those of particular relevance to the determination of this planning 
application comprise:

- Conserving and enhancing the historic environment 
- Design 
- Determining a planning application 
- Ensuring the vitality of town centres 
- Noise 

Page 37

http://planningguidance.communities.gov.uk/blog/policy/achieving-sustainable-development/delivering-sustainable-development/2-ensuring-the-vitality-of-town-centres/
http://planningguidance.communities.gov.uk/blog/policy/achieving-sustainable-development/delivering-sustainable-development/4-promoting-sustainable-transport/
http://planningguidance.communities.gov.uk/blog/policy/achieving-sustainable-development/delivering-sustainable-development/7-requiring-good-design/
http://planningguidance.communities.gov.uk/blog/policy/achieving-sustainable-development/delivering-sustainable-development/8-promoting-healthy-communities/
http://planningguidance.communities.gov.uk/blog/policy/achieving-sustainable-development/delivering-sustainable-development/12-conserving-and-enhancing-the-historic-environment/
http://planningguidance.communities.gov.uk/blog/guidance/conserving-and-enhancing-the-historic-environment/
http://planningguidance.communities.gov.uk/blog/guidance/design/
http://planningguidance.communities.gov.uk/blog/guidance/determining-a-planning-application/
http://planningguidance.communities.gov.uk/blog/guidance/ensuring-the-vitality-of-town-centres/
http://planningguidance.communities.gov.uk/blog/guidance/noise/


Planning Committee 15.03.2018 Application Reference: 18/00018/FUL

- Open space, sports and recreation facilities, public rights of way and local green 
space 

- Planning obligations 
- Transport evidence bases in plan making and decision taking 
- Travel plans, transport assessments and statements in decision-taking 
- Use of Planning Conditions 

1.18 Local Planning Policy Thurrock Local Development Framework (2011)

The Council adopted the “Core Strategy and Policies for the Management of 
Development Plan Document” in December 2011. The following Core Strategy 
policies also apply to the proposals: 

OVERARCHING SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT POLICY

- OSDP1 (Promotion of Sustainable Growth and Regeneration in Thurrock)1 

SPATIAL POLICIES

- CSSP2 (Sustainable Employment Growth)
- CSSP3 (Sustainable Infrastructure)

THEMATIC POLICIES

- CSTP7 (Network of Centres)
- CSTP8 (Viability and Vitality of Existing Centres)2

- CSTP12 (Education and Learning)
- CSTP14 (Transport in the Thurrock Urban Area)3

- CSTP22 (Thurrock Design)
- CSTP23 (Thurrock Character and Distinctiveness)2

- CSTP24 (Heritage Assets and the Historic Environment)

POLICIES FOR MANAGEMENT OF DEVELOPMENT

- PMD1 (Minimising Pollution and Impacts on Amenity)2

- PMD2 (Design and Layout)2

- PMD4 (Historic Environment)2

- PMD8 (Parking Standards)3

- PMD9 (Road Network Hierarchy)
- PMD10 (Transport Assessments and Travel Plans)2 
- PMD12 (Sustainable Buildings)2

- PMD16 (Developer Contributions)2

Page 38

http://planningguidance.communities.gov.uk/blog/guidance/open-space-sports-and-recreation-facilities-public-rights-of-way-and-local-green-space/
http://planningguidance.communities.gov.uk/blog/guidance/open-space-sports-and-recreation-facilities-public-rights-of-way-and-local-green-space/
http://planningguidance.communities.gov.uk/blog/guidance/planning-obligations/
http://planningguidance.communities.gov.uk/blog/guidance/transport-evidence-bases-in-plan-making/
http://planningguidance.communities.gov.uk/blog/guidance/travel-plans-transport-assessments-and-statements-in-decision-taking/
http://planningguidance.communities.gov.uk/blog/guidance/use-of-planning-conditions/


Planning Committee 15.03.2018 Application Reference: 18/00018/FUL

[Footnote: 1New Policy inserted by the Focused Review of the LDF Core Strategy. 
2Wording of LDF-CS Policy and forward amended either in part or in full by the 
Focused Review of the LDF Core Strategy. 3Wording of forward to LDF-CS Policy 
amended either in part or in full by the Focused Review of the LDF Core Strategy]. 

1.19 Focused Review of the LDF Core Strategy (2014)

This Review was commenced in late 2012 with the purpose to ensure that the Core 
Strategy and the process by which it was arrived at are not fundamentally at odds 
with the NPPF. There are instances where policies and supporting text are 
recommended for revision to ensure consistency with the NPPF. The Review was 
submitted to the Planning Inspectorate for independent examination in August 
2013. An Examination in Public took place in April 2014. The Inspector concluded 
that the amendments were sound subject to recommended changes. The Core 
Strategy and Policies for Management of Development Focused Review: 
Consistency with National Planning Policy Framework Focused Review was 
adopted by Council on the 28th February 2015. 

1.20 Draft Site Specific Allocations and Policies DPD

The Consultation Draft “Issues and Options” DPD was subject to consultation 
commencing during 2012. The Draft Site Specific Allocations DPD ‘Further Issues 
and Options’ was the subject of a further round of consultation during 2013. The 
Planning Inspectorate is advising local authorities not to continue to progress their 
Site Allocation Plans towards examination whether their previously adopted Core 
Strategy is no longer in compliance with the NPPF. This is the situation for the 
Borough. 

1.21 Thurrock Core Strategy Position Statement and Approval for the Preparation of a 
New Local Plan for Thurrock

The above report was considered at the February meeting 2014 of the Cabinet.  
The report highlighted issues arising from growth targets, contextual changes, 
impacts of recent economic change on the delivery of new housing to meet the 
Borough’s Housing Needs and ensuring consistency with Government Policy.  The 
report questioned the ability of the Core Strategy Focused Review and the Core 
Strategy ‘Broad Locations & Strategic Sites’ to ensure that the Core Strategy is up-
to-date and consistent with Government Policy and recommended the ‘parking’ of 
these processes in favour of a more wholesale review.  Members resolved that the 
Council undertake a full review of Core Strategy and prepare a new Local Plan.

1.22 Thurrock Local Plan

Page 39



Planning Committee 15.03.2018 Application Reference: 18/00018/FUL

In February 2014 the Council embarked on the preparation of a new Local Plan for 
the Borough.  Between February and April 2016 the Council consulted formally on 
an Issues and Options (Stage 1) document and simultaneously undertook a ‘Call 
for Sites’ exercise.  It is currently anticipated that consultation on an Issues and 
Options (Stage 2 Spatial Options and Sites) document will be undertaken in 2018. 

1.23 ASSESSMENT

1.24 The principles issues to be considered with this case are:

I. Principle of the development
II. Design, Layout and Impact upon the Area

III. Traffic Impact, Access and Car Parking
IV. Effect on Neighbouring Properties
V. Heritage

I. PRINCIPLE OF THE DEVELOPMENT

1.25 The site is located within Grays Town Centre where policies CSSP2 and CSTP7 
seek to promote the Thurrock Learning Campus and education developments 
respectively. 

1.26 As set out earlier in this report, the College intends to develop the site in the near 
future to accommodate expanded HE provision at the Grays campus. This would 
require a bespoke building of high quality design. The current modular building 
would not fulfil this purpose and objective, but in the short term, it is considered 
appropriate to retain the building because it provides essential facilities for the 
College at this time.    

1.27 In conclusion under this heading, there are no objections to the retention of the 
(modified) building in the short term.  

II. DESIGN, LAYOUT AND IMPACT UPON THE AREA

1.28 The building is not of sufficient design quality to be retained in the long term, but 
the proposed alterations are relatively minor and would not have a negative impact 
on the existing building or wider streetscene. There are no objections with regard to 
policies CSTP22, CSTP23 and PMD2. 

III. TRAFFIC IMPACT, ACCESS AND CAR PARKING

1.29 It should be noted that the arrangements for car, cycle and motorcycle parking that 
exist on site differ slightly from the scheme approved under 08/00523/TTGFUL. 
Rather than provide 4 disabled parking spaces, 8 motorcycle parking spaces and 

Page 40



Planning Committee 15.03.2018 Application Reference: 18/00018/FUL

30 secure cycle parking spaces the College are currently providing 7 disabled car 
parking space and 54 secure cycle / motorcycle parking spaces which would all be 
retained as part of the proposal.  The access and servicing arrangements would 
also remain the same as existing. Given the town centre location, the building is 
easily accessed from the nearby railway and bus stations, which provide 
sustainable transport modes to the wider area. There are no objections from the 
Council’s Highways Officer and the application is acceptable with regard to policies 
PMD8, PMD9 and PMD10. 

1.30 Through the consultation process the Council’s Travel Plan Co-ordinator has no 
objection to the retention of the building but requires further details and revisions to 
the Travel Plan, which could be agreed through a planning condition.

IV. EFFECT ON NEIGHBOURING PROPERTIES

1.31 The surrounding area mainly comprises of commercial uses including the existing 
college buildings to the north and east of the site, areas of public open space to the 
south and further commercial uses to the south and west. The proposed retention 
of the building in its modified form and continued use for educational purposes 
raises no objections with regard to neighbouring amenities in terms of policy PMD1.

V. HERITAGE

1.32 The site is located within close proximity of the White Hart Public House which is a 
grade II listed building but given the distance between the listed building and the 
application building the Historic Buildings and Conservation Advisor raises no 
objections as there is no adverse harm upon the setting of the listed building with 
regard to policy PMD4. 

1.33 CONCLUSIONS AND REASONS FOR APPROVAL

1.34 Approval of this application would allow the temporary retention of the (modified) 
building for education uses for a further 5 years, until 4 August 2023. It is 
considered that the proposed modification of the building is acceptable and the 
continued provision of education facilities in the town centre location represents 
sustainable development, in accordance with a range of Development Plan 
policies. The temporary permission would also give the college time to develop their 
plans for an expanded HE offer at the Grays campus.  

1.35 RECOMMENDATION 

8.1 Approve, subject to the following conditions:

Page 41



Planning Committee 15.03.2018 Application Reference: 18/00018/FUL

Time Limit for Permission

1. The building hereby permitted shall be dismantled and all resulting material from 
the demolition of the building shall be removed from the site before 4 August 
2023 in accordance with a scheme of work for restoring the land to be submitted 
to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. The scheme of work 
for restoring the land shall be implemented within 3 months following the 
building’s removal from the site.

Reason: Due to the temporary nature of the building and its visual impact upon 
the surrounding area. Permission is only granted for a temporary period in order 
to allow time for a future alternative development opportunity in this part of the 
High Street in light of the Grays Town Centre Framework and wider vision for 
this area, having regard to policies CSSP2, CSTP7, CSTP22, CSTP23 and 
PMD2 of the adopted Thurrock LDF Core Strategy and Policies for the 
Management of Development [2015].

Plan List

2. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the 
following approved plans:

Plan Number(s):
Reference Name Received 
002 Block Plan 4th January 2018 
001 Location Plan 4th January 2018 
003 Existing Site Layout 16th February 2018 
011 Existing Floor Plans 4th January 2018 
012 Existing Floor Plans 4th January 2018 
020 Existing Elevations 4th January 2018 
021 Existing Elevations 4th January 2018 
103 Proposed Plans 16th February 2018 
110 Proposed Floor Plans 4th January 2018 
111 Proposed Floor Plans 4th January 2018 
112 Proposed Floor Plans 4th January 2018 
120 Proposed Elevations 4th January 2018 
121 Proposed Elevations 4th January 2018

Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and to ensure that the development is 
carried out in accordance with the details as approved with regard to policies 
PMD1 and PMD2 of the adopted Thurrock LDF Core Strategy and Policies for 
the Management of Development [2015].

Page 42



Planning Committee 15.03.2018 Application Reference: 18/00018/FUL

       Materials to match

3. The materials to be used on the external surfaces of the development hereby 
approved shall match those used on the external finishes of the existing 
building.

Reason: In the interests of visual amenity and to ensure that the proposed 
development is integrated with its surroundings in accordance with policy PMD2 
of the adopted Thurrock LDF Core Strategy and Policies for the Management of 
Development [2015].

         Retention of parking provision

4. The vehicle parking areas as shown on the approved plans for all forms of 
vehicles shall be retained as shown without modification for the duration of the 
permission. The vehicle parking areas shall not be used for any purpose other 
than the parking of vehicles that are related to the use of the approved 
development.

Reason: In the interests of highway safety and to ensure that adequate car 
parking provision is available in accordance with policies PMD8 and PMD9 of 
the adopted Thurrock LDF Core Strategy and Policies for the Management of 
Development [2015]. 

        Travel plan

5. The measures and procedures set out within the submitted Travel Plan [ref. 
February 2018 for Phase 1 Building reference TLC P1] shall be implemented 
during the construction and operational phases of the development and 
maintained throughout the lifetime of the temporary planning permission, unless 
otherwise agreed in writing by the local planning authority.

Reason:  To reduce reliance on the use of private cars, in the interests of 
sustainability, highway safety and amenity in accordance with Policy PMD10 of 
the adopted Thurrock LDF Core Strategy and Policies for the Management of 
Development [2015].

Positive and Proactive Statement

The Local Planning Authority has acted positively and proactively in determining 
this application.  As a result, the Local Planning Authority has been able to grant 
planning permission for an acceptable proposal, in accordance with the 

Page 43



Planning Committee 15.03.2018 Application Reference: 18/00018/FUL

presumption in favour of sustainable development, as set out within the National 
Planning Policy Framework. 

Documents: 
All background documents including application forms, drawings and other 
supporting documentation relating to this application can be viewed online: 
http://regs.thurrock.gov.uk/online-applications

Page 44

http://regs.thurrock.gov.uk/online-applications


Planning Committee 15.03.2018 Application Reference: 18/00019/FUL

Reference:
18/00019/FUL

Site: 
Thurrock Learning Campus
High Street
Grays
Essex
RM17 6TF

Ward:
Grays Riverside

Proposal: 
Retention of the further education building for 5 years, until 4 
August 2023, and modifications to the layout and amount of 
disabled car parking, cycle and motorcycle parking

Plan Number(s):
Reference Name Received 
001 Location Plan 4th January 2018 
102 Existing Site Layout 4th January 2018 
103 Proposed Site Layout 16th February 2018 
001L REV 9 Floor Layout 4th January 2018 
010E REV 4 Elevations 4th January 2018 
404 Other 4th January 2018

The application is also accompanied by:
 Planning Statement
 Design and Access Statement
 Noise Report
 Archaeological Excavation Report
 Contaminated Land Report
 Transport Statement
 Travel Plan
 External Lighting details

Applicant:South Essex College
c/o Lambert Smith Hampton

Validated: 
15 January 2018
Date of expiry: 
16 April 2018

Recommendation:  Approve, subject to conditions.

This application is scheduled for determination by the Council’s Planning 
Committee because it is considered to have significant policy / strategic 
implications given the Council’s corporate ambitions for Grays Town Centre, in 
accordance with the Constitution Chapter 5, Part 3 (b), 2.1 (a).

Page 45

Agenda Item 10



Planning Committee 15.03.2018 Application Reference: 18/00019/FUL

1.0 DESCRIPTION OF PROPOSAL

1.1 Full planning permission was granted on the 4th August 2008 for; ‘Temporary 
college accommodation, disabled car parking, cycle parking, associated access 
and landscaping’ (reference 08/00523/TTGFUL). The permission was then 
renewed through reference 13/00701/TEL for a further 5 years through an 
application for variation of condition 1 of the original 08/00523/TTGFUL. Reference 
13/00701/TEL remains a live planning permission but expires on 4 August 2018.

1.2 This application therefore seeks the further retention of the further education 
building for another 5 years, until 4 August 2023.

1.3 A summary of the applicant’s Planning Statement with regard to the need for 
retention of this building is explained below:

The building subject of this application was required to provide education facilities 
in the area whilst the new college buildings to the north were being developed. The 
building is currently used for education purposes for providing logistics and 
transport courses for age groups 16-19 and through to adults. The building forms 
the main base for the College’s higher education centre in Thurrock. 

The College is expanding the higher education offering by art, performance and 
design courses in partnership with the University of Arts London from this year 
onwards. In the medium term future the College intends to create larger and 
bespoke higher education centres in Thurrock and Southend with a new building in 
Thurrock adjacent to and expanding upon the building subject of this application, 
which would become the new higher education centre or provide alternative 
construction/engineering accommodation.

In addition to the education use the building provide a facility to the Council, 
community and college partners including the Essex Chamber of Commerce, short 
course for adults, apprenticeship programmes and bespoke programmes for 
business and industry.

1.1 SITE DESCRIPTION

1.2 The temporary buildings occupy a 1,500m² site located on the east side of the 
southern pedestrianised part of the High Street. Pedestrian access to the site is 
obtained via High Street, whilst vehicular access to the site can be obtained via 
Argent Street. 

Page 46



Planning Committee 15.03.2018 Application Reference: 18/00019/FUL

1.3 RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY

1.4 The following table provides the planning history:

Reference Description Decision

08/00523/TTGFUL Temporary college accommodation 
(2490.5m² GEA), disabled car parking, 
cycle parking, associated access and 
landscaping

Approved
04.08.2008

13/00701/ETL Extension of time limit for planning 
application 08/00523/TTGFUL (Three 
Storey Further Education Building)

Approved
15.10.2013

18/00018/FUL Retention of the further education 
building for 5 years, until 4 August 2023, 
cut back to north-west corner of 
building, infill of existing courtyard and 
modifications to the layout and amount 
of disabled car parking, cycle and 
motorcycle parking

Pending 
consideration

1.5 With regards to the existing college buildings on land to the north and east: 

Reference Description Decision

11/50402/TTGFUL Demolition and redevelopment for 
college campus comprising one three-
storey and one four-storey building of 
13,698 square metres (Use Class D1), 
ancillary cafe of 680 square metres, 96 
car parking spaces, public open space, 
access and associated development

Approved
08.02.2012

1.6 CONSULTATION AND REPRESENTATIONS

1.7 Detailed below is a summary of the consultation responses received. The full 
version of each consultation response can be viewed on the Council’s website via 
public access at the following link: www.thurrock.gov.uk/planning 

1.8 PUBLICITY: 

This application has been advertised by way of individual neighbour notification 
letters, press advert and public site notices which has been displayed nearby.  

Page 47

http://www.thurrock.gov.uk/planning


Planning Committee 15.03.2018 Application Reference: 18/00019/FUL

There have been no representation received. 

1.9 EDUCATION: 

No objection.

1.10 ENVIRONMENTAL HEALTH:

No objection.

1.11 HIGHWAYS:

No objection.

1.12 HISTORIC BUILDINGS AND CONSERVATION ADVISOR:

No objection.

1.13 REGENERATION: 

Support the application as the development would be consistent with the Grays 
Development Framework.

1.14 TRAVEL PLAN CO-ORDINATOR: 

No objection but requires further information within the Travel Plan.

1.15 POLICY CONTEXT

1.16 National Planning policy Framework

The NPPF was published on 27th March 2012. Paragraph 13 of the Framework 
sets out a presumption in favour of sustainable development. Paragraph 196 of the 
Framework confirms the tests in s.38 (6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase 
Act 2004 and s.70 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 and that the 
Framework is a material consideration in planning decisions. Paragraph 197 states 
that in assessing and determining development proposals, local planning 
authorities should apply the presumption in favour of sustainable development. The 
following headings and content of the NPPF are relevant to the consideration of the 
current proposals.

Page 48



Planning Committee 15.03.2018 Application Reference: 18/00019/FUL

- Core Planning Principles
- 2. Ensuring the vitality of town centres 
- 4. Promoting sustainable transport 
- 7. Requiring good design 
- 8. Promoting healthy communities 
- 12. Conserving and enhancing the historic environment 

1.17 Planning Policy Guidance

In March 2014 the Department for Communities and Local Government (DCLG) 
launched its planning practice guidance web-based resource. This was 
accompanied by a Written Ministerial Statement which includes a list of the 
previous planning policy guidance documents cancelled when the NPPF was 
launched. PPG contains 48 subject areas, with each area containing several 
subtopics. Those of particular relevance to the determination of this planning 
application comprise:

- Conserving and enhancing the historic environment 
- Design 
- Determining a planning application 
- Ensuring the vitality of town centres 
- Noise 
- Open space, sports and recreation facilities, public rights of way and local green 

space 
- Planning obligations 
- Transport evidence bases in plan making and decision taking 
- Travel plans, transport assessments and statements in decision-taking 
- Use of Planning Conditions 

1.18 Local Planning Policy Thurrock Local Development Framework (2011)

The Council adopted the “Core Strategy and Policies for the Management of 
Development Plan Document” in December 2011. The following Core Strategy 
policies also apply to the proposals: 

OVERARCHING SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT POLICY

- OSDP1 (Promotion of Sustainable Growth and Regeneration in Thurrock)1 

SPATIAL POLICIES

- CSSP2 (Sustainable Employment Growth)
- CSSP3 (Sustainable Infrastructure)

Page 49

http://planningguidance.communities.gov.uk/blog/policy/achieving-sustainable-development/delivering-sustainable-development/2-ensuring-the-vitality-of-town-centres/
http://planningguidance.communities.gov.uk/blog/policy/achieving-sustainable-development/delivering-sustainable-development/4-promoting-sustainable-transport/
http://planningguidance.communities.gov.uk/blog/policy/achieving-sustainable-development/delivering-sustainable-development/7-requiring-good-design/
http://planningguidance.communities.gov.uk/blog/policy/achieving-sustainable-development/delivering-sustainable-development/8-promoting-healthy-communities/
http://planningguidance.communities.gov.uk/blog/policy/achieving-sustainable-development/delivering-sustainable-development/12-conserving-and-enhancing-the-historic-environment/
http://planningguidance.communities.gov.uk/blog/guidance/conserving-and-enhancing-the-historic-environment/
http://planningguidance.communities.gov.uk/blog/guidance/design/
http://planningguidance.communities.gov.uk/blog/guidance/determining-a-planning-application/
http://planningguidance.communities.gov.uk/blog/guidance/ensuring-the-vitality-of-town-centres/
http://planningguidance.communities.gov.uk/blog/guidance/noise/
http://planningguidance.communities.gov.uk/blog/guidance/open-space-sports-and-recreation-facilities-public-rights-of-way-and-local-green-space/
http://planningguidance.communities.gov.uk/blog/guidance/open-space-sports-and-recreation-facilities-public-rights-of-way-and-local-green-space/
http://planningguidance.communities.gov.uk/blog/guidance/planning-obligations/
http://planningguidance.communities.gov.uk/blog/guidance/transport-evidence-bases-in-plan-making/
http://planningguidance.communities.gov.uk/blog/guidance/travel-plans-transport-assessments-and-statements-in-decision-taking/
http://planningguidance.communities.gov.uk/blog/guidance/use-of-planning-conditions/


Planning Committee 15.03.2018 Application Reference: 18/00019/FUL

THEMATIC POLICIES

- CSTP7 (Network of Centres)
- CSTP8 (Viability and Vitality of Existing Centres)2

- CSTP12 (Education and Learning)
- CSTP14 (Transport in the Thurrock Urban Area)3

- CSTP22 (Thurrock Design)
- CSTP23 (Thurrock Character and Distinctiveness)2

- CSTP24 (Heritage Assets and the Historic Environment)

POLICIES FOR MANAGEMENT OF DEVELOPMENT

- PMD1 (Minimising Pollution and Impacts on Amenity)2

- PMD2 (Design and Layout)2

- PMD4 (Historic Environment)2

- PMD8 (Parking Standards)3

- PMD9 (Road Network Hierarchy)
- PMD10 (Transport Assessments and Travel Plans)2 
- PMD12 (Sustainable Buildings)2

- PMD16 (Developer Contributions)2

[Footnote: 1New Policy inserted by the Focused Review of the LDF Core Strategy. 
2Wording of LDF-CS Policy and forward amended either in part or in full by the 
Focused Review of the LDF Core Strategy. 3Wording of forward to LDF-CS Policy 
amended either in part or in full by the Focused Review of the LDF Core Strategy]. 

1.19 Focused Review of the LDF Core Strategy (2014)

This Review was commenced in late 2012 with the purpose to ensure that the Core 
Strategy and the process by which it was arrived at are not fundamentally at odds 
with the NPPF. There are instances where policies and supporting text are 
recommended for revision to ensure consistency with the NPPF. The Review was 
submitted to the Planning Inspectorate for independent examination in August 
2013. An Examination in Public took place in April 2014. The Inspector concluded 
that the amendments were sound subject to recommended changes. The Core 
Strategy and Policies for Management of Development Focused Review: 
Consistency with National Planning Policy Framework Focused Review was 
adopted by Council on the 28th February 2015. 

1.20 Draft Site Specific Allocations and Policies DPD

The Consultation Draft “Issues and Options” DPD was subject to consultation 

Page 50



Planning Committee 15.03.2018 Application Reference: 18/00019/FUL

commencing during 2012. The Draft Site Specific Allocations DPD ‘Further Issues 
and Options’ was the subject of a further round of consultation during 2013. The 
Planning Inspectorate is advising local authorities not to continue to progress their 
Site Allocation Plans towards examination whether their previously adopted Core 
Strategy is no longer in compliance with the NPPF. This is the situation for the 
Borough. 

1.21 Thurrock Core Strategy Position Statement and Approval for the Preparation of a 
New Local Plan for Thurrock

The above report was considered at the February meeting 2014 of the Cabinet.  
The report highlighted issues arising from growth targets, contextual changes, 
impacts of recent economic change on the delivery of new housing to meet the 
Borough’s Housing Needs and ensuring consistency with Government Policy.  The 
report questioned the ability of the Core Strategy Focused Review and the Core 
Strategy ‘Broad Locations & Strategic Sites’ to ensure that the Core Strategy is up-
to-date and consistent with Government Policy and recommended the ‘parking’ of 
these processes in favour of a more wholesale review.  Members resolved that the 
Council undertake a full review of Core Strategy and prepare a new Local Plan.

1.22 Thurrock Local Plan

In February 2014 the Council embarked on the preparation of a new Local Plan for 
the Borough.  Between February and April 2016 the Council consulted formally on 
an Issues and Options (Stage 1) document and simultaneously undertook a ‘Call 
for Sites’ exercise.  It is currently anticipated that consultation on an Issues and 
Options (Stage 2 Spatial Options and Sites) document will be undertaken in 2018. 

1.23 ASSESSMENT

1.24 The principles issues to be considered with this case are:
I. Principle of the development

II. Design and Layout and Impact upon the Area
III. Traffic Impact, Access and Car Parking
IV. Effect on Neighbouring Properties
V. Heritage

VI. Other Matters

I. PRINCIPLE OF THE DEVELOPMENT

The site is located within Grays Town Centre where policies CSSP2 and CSTP7 
seek to promote the Thurrock Learning Campus and education developments 
respectively. 

Page 51



Planning Committee 15.03.2018 Application Reference: 18/00019/FUL

As set out earlier in this report, the College intends to develop the site in the near 
future to accommodate expanded HE provision at the Grays campus. This would 
require a bespoke building of high quality design. The current modular building 
would not fulfil this purpose and objective, but in the short term, it is considered 
appropriate to retain the building because it provides essential facilities for the 
College at this time.    

In conclusion under this heading, there are no objections to the retention of the 
building in the short term.  

II. DESIGN AND LAYOUT AND IMPACT UPON THE AREA

1.25 The existing modular building has been in situ for a number of years and whilst not 
of a sufficient design quality to be retained in the long term, is considered 
acceptable as a temporary building for this site within the context of the streetscene 
and the wider area. There are no objections to the building with regard to policies 
CSTP22, CSTP23 and PMD2.

III. TRAFFIC IMPACT, ACCESS AND CAR PARKING

1.26 It should be noted that the arrangements for car, cycle and motorcycle parking that 
exist on site differ slightly from the scheme approved under 08/00523/TTGFUL. 
Rather than provide 4 disabled parking spaces, 8 motorcycle parking spaces and 
30 secure cycle parking spaces the College are currently providing 7 disabled car 
parking space and 54 secure cycle / motorcycle parking spaces which would all be 
retained as part of the proposal.  The access and servicing arrangements would 
also remain the same as existing. Given the town centre location, the building is 
easily accessed from the nearby railway and bus stations, which provide 
sustainable transport modes to the wider area. There are no objections from the 
Council’s Highways Officer and the application is acceptable with regard to policies 
PMD8, PMD9 and PMD10. 

1.27 Through the consultation process the Council’s Travel Plan Co-ordinator has no 
objection to the retention of the building but requires further details and revisions to 
the Travel Plan, which could be agreed through a planning condition.

IV. EFFECT ON NEIGHBOURING PROPERTIES

1.28 The surrounding area mainly comprises of commercial uses including the existing 
college buildings to the north and east of the site, areas of public open space to the 
south and further commercial uses to the south and west. The proposed retention 
and continuation of the use of the building raises no objections with regard to 
neighbouring amenities in terms of policy PMD1.

Page 52



Planning Committee 15.03.2018 Application Reference: 18/00019/FUL

V. Heritage

1.29 The site is located within close proximity of the White Hart Public House which is a 
grade II listed building but given the distance between the listed building and the 
application building the Historic Buildings and Conservation Advisor raises no 
objections as there is no adverse harm upon the setting of the listed building with 
regard to policy PMD4. 

1.30 CONCLUSIONS AND REASONS FOR APPROVAL

1.31 Approval of this application would allow the temporary retention of the building for 
education uses for a further 5 years, until 4 August 2023. It is considered that the 
proposed modification of the building is acceptable and the continued provision of 
education facilities in the town centre location represents sustainable development, 
in accordance with a range of Development Plan policies. The temporary 
permission would also give the college time to develop their plans for an expanded 
HE offer at the Grays campus.  

1.32 RECOMMENDATION 

8.1 Approve, subject to the following conditions:

Time Limit for Permission

1. The building hereby permitted shall be dismantled and all resulting material from 
the building shall be removed from the site before 4 August 2023 in accordance 
with a scheme of work for restoring the land to be submitted to and approved in 
writing by the local planning authority. The scheme of work for restoring the 
land shall be implemented within 3 months following the buildings removal from 
the site.

Reason: Due to the temporary nature of the building and its visual impact upon 
the surrounding area. Permission is only granted for a temporary period in order 
to allow time for a future alternative development opportunity in this part of the 
High Street in light of the Grays Town Centre Framework and wider vision for 
this area, having regard to policies CSSP2, CSTP7, CSTP22, CSTP23 and 
PMD2 of the adopted Thurrock LDF Core Strategy and Policies for the 
Management of Development [2015].

Plan List

2. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the 
following approved plans:

Page 53



Planning Committee 15.03.2018 Application Reference: 18/00019/FUL

Plan Number(s):
Reference Name Received 
001 Location Plan 4th January 2018 
102 Existing Site Layout 4th January 2018 
103 Proposed Site Layout 16th February 2018 
001L REV 9 Floor Layout 4th January 2018 
010E REV 4 Elevations 4th January 2018 
404 Other 4th January 2018

Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and to ensure that the development is 
carried out in accordance with the details as approved with regard to policies 
PMD1 and PMD2 of the adopted Thurrock LDF Core Strategy and Policies for 
the Management of Development [2015].

         Retention of parking provision

3. The vehicle parking areas as shown on the approved plans for all forms of 
vehicles shall be retained as shown without modification for the duration of the 
permission. The vehicle parking areas shall not be used for any purpose other 
than the parking of vehicles that are related to the use of the approved 
development.

Reason: In the interests of highway safety and to ensure that adequate car 
parking provision is available in accordance with policies PMD8 and PMD9 of 
the adopted Thurrock LDF Core Strategy and Policies for the Management of 
Development [2015]. 

        Travel plan

4. The measures and procedures set out within the submitted Travel Plan [ref. 
February 2018 for Phase 1 Building reference TLC P1] shall be implemented 
during the construction and operational phases of the development and 
maintained throughout the lifetime of this temporary planning permission, unless 
otherwise agreed in writing by the local planning authority.

Reason:  To reduce reliance on the use of private cars, in the interests of 
sustainability, highway safety and amenity in accordance with Policy PMD10 of 
the adopted Thurrock LDF Core Strategy and Policies for the Management of 
Development [2015].

Positive and Proactive Statement

Page 54



Planning Committee 15.03.2018 Application Reference: 18/00019/FUL

The Local Planning Authority has acted positively and proactively in determining 
this application.  As a result, the Local Planning Authority has been able to grant 
planning permission for an acceptable proposal, in accordance with the 
presumption in favour of sustainable development, as set out within the National 
Planning Policy Framework. 

Documents: 
All background documents including application forms, drawings and other 
supporting documentation relating to this application can be viewed online: 
http://regs.thurrock.gov.uk/online-applications

Page 55

http://regs.thurrock.gov.uk/online-applications


Planning Committee 15.03.2018 Application Reference: 18/00019/FUL

Page 56



Planning Committee 15.03.2018 Application Reference: Tilbury2 NSIP

Reference:
Tilbury2 NSIP

Site: 
Land forming the western part of the former Tilbury Power 
Station, land parallel to and south of the existing London-Tilbury- 
South railway line south of Tilbury and land at the Asda 
roundabout junction, Tilbury.

Ward:
Tilbury Riverside & 
Thurrock Park & 
Tilbury St. Chads

Proposal: 
Application for a Development Consent Order (DCO) authorising, 
in summary, the construction and operation of a new port 
terminal with associated development (to be known as Tilbury2) 
on land formerly comprising part of the Tilbury Power Station 
site.

Applicant:
Port of Tilbury London Limited (POTLL)

Recommendation:  That the Planning Committee consider and agree the content of 
both the Local Impact Report (LIR) forming Appendix 1 to this Report and the Written 
Representation (WR) forming Appendix 2 and that these Appendices are formally 
submitted to the Planning Inspectorate by the statutory deadline (20th March 2018)

1.0 BACKGROUND

1.1 In October 2017, following a period of informal and formal consultation, Port of 
Tilbury London Limited (POTLL) submitted an application for a Development 
Consent Order (DCO) with the Planning Inspectorate (PINS).  The proposals within 
the application constitute a Nationally Significant Infrastructure Project (NSIP) as 
the development comprises the development of a new harbour facility with an 
estimated throughput greater than the thresholds set out by the Planning Act 2008.  
Consequently, an application for a DCO has been submitted to PINS who will 
undertake an examination and present a recommendation to the Secretary of State 
for a final decision.

1.2 PINS accepted the application in November 2017 and 6 month period of 
examination commenced on 20th February 2018.  The 2008 Act sets a 6 month 
period for the examination process.  The process sets a number of deadlines and 
‘Deadline 1’ (Tuesday 20th March 2018) sets a timeframe for the submission of a 
LIR and WR by the Council.

1.3 A Relevant Representation (RR) was submitted to PINS in early January 2018.  
This document set out what Officers considered to be the main issues raised by 
the application and the views of technical consultees which were available at that 
time.  For information, the RR submitted to PINS identified the following issues for 
consideration:

Page 57

Agenda Item 11



Planning Committee 15.03.2018 Application Reference: Tilbury2 NSIP

 socio-economics;
 health;
 landscape character and visual impact;
 terrestrial ecology;
 archaeology and cultural heritage;
 land-side transport;
 hydrogeology and ground conditions;
 water resources and flood risk;
 noise and vibration; and
 air quality.

1.4 A Statement of Common Ground (SoCG) between the Council and POTLL is also 
being prepared.  This document will confirm which ‘topics’ are agreed between the 
two parties with reference to the method of assessing impact, baseline conditions 
mitigation proposals etc.

2.0 DESCRIPTION OF PROPOSAL 

2.1 A fuller description of the proposals is set out within Appendix 1.  In summary 
Tilbury2 comprises a new port terminal on the north bank of the River Thames at 
Tilbury, to the east of the existing Port.  The proposed main uses associated with 
Tilbury2 would comprise a roll-on / roll off (RoRo) terminal for containerised and 
trailer freight, a warehouse building, a Construction Materials and Aggregates 
Terminal (CMAT) to include stockpiles and the processing of aggregates for the 
production of asphalt and concrete products, associated road and rail transport 
infrastructure (Infrastructure Corridor) and associated ancillary development.  The 
proposals will involve a range of works including:

• creation of hard surfaced areas;
• improvements and extension to an existing river jetty and creation of a new 

RoRo berth;
• associated dredging to form berthing pockets for the extended and new jetties;
• new and improved conveyors;
• erection of welfare buildings;
• erection of a warehouse with a floorspace of 10,200 sq.m.;
• storage and production structures associated with the CMAT;
• construction of a new road link from Ferry Road to Fort Road; and
• formation of a rail spur and sidings.

3.0 SUBMISSION OF LIR AND WR

Page 58



Planning Committee 15.03.2018 Application Reference: Tilbury2 NSIP

3.1 Although the Council is not the decision-making body for this application it 
nevertheless has a number of roles and responsibilities as ‘host borough’, 
including the submission of a LIR and WR.

3.2 LIR:

A LIR is defined by the 2008 Act as ‘a report in writing giving details of the likely 
impact of the proposed development on the authority’s area (or any part of that 
area)’.  In coming to a decision the Secretary of State must have regard to any LIR 
submitted by the deadline.  Advice produced by PINS provides guidance for the 
content of an LIR and the report at Appendix 1 broadly follows this advice.  The 
report includes a statement of positive, neutral and negative impacts and, as 
advised by PINS, it does contain a balancing exercise between positive and 
negative impacts.

3.3 The LIR has to be submitted early in the 6 month examination period and the fixed 
deadline for receipt of the document by PINS is Tuesday 20th March 2018.  There 
is no flexibility in extending this deadline and it is crucial that the Committee 
consider the content of the LIR at this meeting. It is suggested that any necessary 
relevant revisions to the LIR are agreed between the Assistant Director of 
Planning, Transport and Public Protection and the Chair of the Planning 
Committee after the meeting such that the LIR can be submitted by 20th March 
2018.

3.4 WR:

A WR is a separate document from the LIR which gives the local authority an 
opportunity to express an opinion on the submission.  Whereas the LIR is a 
technical document setting out an assessment of the various impacts of the 
proposals, the WR is described by PINS as the most appropriate document for a 
local authority to set out its view on the application i.e. whether or not it supports 
the application and its reasons, with any accompanying evidence or documents.

3.5 Put simply the WR sets out the Council’s view on the application, weighing and 
balancing the various positive and adverse effects to reach a balanced conclusion.  
As above, the WR has to be submitted to PINS by 20th March 2018 and there is no 
opportunity to extend this deadline.  Therefore, it is essential that Committee 
consider the content of the WR at this meeting. It is suggested that any necessary 
relevant revisions to the WR are agreed between the Assistant Director of 
Planning, Transport and Public Protection and the Chair of the Planning 
Committee after the meeting such that the LIR can be submitted by 20th March 
2018.

Page 59



Planning Committee 15.03.2018 Application Reference: Tilbury2 NSIP

4.0 RECOMMENDATION

That the Planning Committee consider and agree the content of both the LIR 
forming Appendix 1 to this Report and the WR forming Appendix 2 and that these 
Appendices are formally submitted to PINS on or before the deadline of 20th March 
2018.

Documents: 
All background documents including application forms, drawings and other 
supporting documentation relating to this application can be viewed online: 

www.thurrock.gov.uk/planning

Page 60

http://www.thurrock.gov.uk/planning


Civic Offices, New Road, Grays
Essex RM17 6SL

Thurrock Council – Local Impact Report: Tilbury2

Planning & Growth

Thurrock Council

Local Impact Report

March 2018

Proposed Tilbury2 Port Expansion

Planning Inspectorate Reference: TR030003

Appendix 1

Page 61



Contents

1. Introduction
2. Terms of Reference
3. Site Description and Constraints
4. Description of the Proposal
5. Relevant Planning History
6. Relevant Development Plan Policies
7. Consideration of Local Impacts
8. Consideration of Articles and Requirements of the Draft Order 
9. Planning Obligations

Page 62



1.0 Introduction

1.1 This Local Impact Report (LIR) has been prepared by Thurrock Council (TC) in 
accordance with the requirements of the Planning Act 2008 (the Act) as amended 
by the Localism Act 2011.  The LIR also takes into account the advice set out in 
the Planning Inspectorate (PINS) Advice Note One: Local Impact Reports (Version 
2: April 2012).  The content and conclusions of the LIR were presented to and 
agreed at the meeting of the Council’s Planning Committee on 15th March 2018, 
with any relevant revisions after this time being agreed by the Assistant Director of 
Planning, Transport and Public Protection and the Chair of the Planning 
Committee.

1.2 The LIR is part of the Council’s response to an application submitted by the Port of 
Tilbury London Limited (POTLL) for a Development Consent Order (DCO) 
authorising, in summary, the construction and operation of a new port terminal with 
associated development (Tilbury2) on land formerly comprising part of the Tilbury 
Power Station site.

1.3 The proposed main operational uses for Tilbury2 would comprise a roll-on / roll off 
(RoRo) terminal for containerised and trailer freight, a warehouse building, a 
Construction Materials and Aggregates Terminal (CMAT) to include stockpiles and 
the processing of aggregates for the production of asphalt and concrete products, 
associated road and rail transport infrastructure (Infrastructure Corridor) and 
associated ancillary development.  The proposals will involve a range of works 
including:

 creation of hard surfaced areas;
 improvements and extension to an existing river jetty and creation of a new 

RoRo berth;
 associated dredging to form berthing pockets for the extended and new jetties;
 new and improved conveyors;
 erection of welfare buildings;
 erection of a warehouse with a floorspace of 10,200 sq.m.;
 storage and production structures associated with the CMAT;
 construction of a new road link from Ferry Road to Fort Road; and
 formation of a rail spur and sidings.

1.4 Tilbury2 is considered to be a Nationally Significant Infrastructure Project (NSIP) 
as the proposals comprise the development of a new harbour facility in England, 
including RoRo facilities with an estimated throughput of 500,000 units per annum.  
This proposed throughput is greater than the threshold of 250,000 per annum set 
out at s.24(3)(b) of the Planning Act 2008.  Consequently, the proposals qualify as 
an NSIP for which development consent is required pursuant to s.31 of the 2008 
Act.

Page 63



1.5 As the development proposals comprise an NSIP, the application for a DCO been 
submitted to PINS (acting for the Secretary of State for Communities and Local 
Government).  The application was made by POTLL on 31st October 2017 and 
accepted for examination by the Secretary of State (SoS) on 21st November 2017.

Page 64



2.0 Terms of Reference

2.1 Section 60(3) of the Planning Act 2008 defines a LIR as a “report in writing giving 
details of the likely impact of the proposed development on the authority’s area (or 
any part of that area)”.  In coming to a decision, the SoS must have regard to any 
LIRs that are submitted.

2.2 The PINS Advice Note One (Local Impact Reports – Version 2 April 2012) provides 
guidance on the content of a LIR and confirms that the content of the LIR is a 
matter for the local authority concerned as long as it falls within the statutory 
definition referred to in paragraph 1.6 above.  The PINS Advice Note provides 
suggested topic headings (site description etc.) and this LIR broadly follows the 
suggested structure.

2.3 This LIR sets out the Council’s existing body of knowledge and evidence on local 
issues in order to present a robust assessment to the Examining Authority.  As 
suggested by the PINS Advice Note, this LIR includes an evaluated statement of 
positive, negative and neutral local impacts within a structured document.  This LIR 
also includes the Council’s views on the relative importance of different social, 
environmental and economic issues and the impact of the scheme on them.  Finally, 
this LIR includes the Council’s views on the DCO articles, requirements and 
obligations.

2.4 For the purposes of this LIR the following environmental, economic and social 
topics will be considered:

 socio-economics;
 health;
 landscape and visual amenity;
 terrestrial ecology;
 archaeology and cultural heritage;
 land-side transportation;
 hydrogeology and ground conditions;
 water resources and flood risk;
 noise and vibration;
 air quality;
 waste and materials.

Page 65



3.0 Site Description and Constraints

Introduction

3.1 The area which is the subject of the DCO and as identified as the “Order Limits” 
lies wholly within the administrative area of Thurrock Council.  The Order Limits 
includes both the terrestrial environment and the marine environment associated 
with the proposed dredging works and the new and extended berths.  TC’s interest 
as local planning authority operates between the Mean Low and Mean High Water 
Marks.  Consequently, elements of the marine works and their associated impacts 
are beyond the ‘jurisdiction’ of the local planning authority.  Although elements of 
the impacts of the these marine works (such as landscape and visual impact etc.) 
are considered to be relevant matters for TC to assess in this document.

3.2 The Order Limits extends to a total area of some 103.49 hectares.  As identified on 
Figure 4.1 this total comprises:

 the Asda roundabout junction – 2.85 hectares
 the Infrastructure Corridor – 17.66 hectares
 the Main Site – 60.91 hectares
 the Marine Area – 22.07 hectares.

Site Description

3.3 Asda Roundabout Junction

This is a parcel of land located at the junction of the A1089, Thurrock Park Way, Dock 
Road and the access road serving the recently constructed Travis Perkins and 
Amazon development.  This land parcel is physically separate from the remainder 
of the land within the Order Limits and comprises highway land and adjacent 
verges, footpath and cyclepaths.  The parcel includes the road approaches to the 
junction.  The A1089 is a dual-carriageway road which forms part of the Strategic 
Road Network and links the existing access to the Port of Tilbury (to the south) to 
the A13 and M25 to the north and west.  The junction is adjoined to the east by 
recently constructed commercial buildings occupied by Travis Perkins and 
Amazon as part of the London Distribution Park development.  A new road access 
arm (Windrush Road) was created on the north-eastern quadrant of the 
roundabout to serve this new development.  To the west of the junction are 
industrial / warehouse uses and an Asda retail store accessed from Thurrock Park 
Way.  To the south the A1089 rises to cross the London-Tilbury-Southend (LTS) 
railway via a bridge.  The Port of Tilbury is generally located to the south of the 
LTS railway line with the settlement of Tilbury located to the north of the LTS 
railway line and south-east of the Asda roundabout.

3.4 Infrastructure Corridor

Page 66



This parcel comprises a ribbon of land generally located to the south of the LTS 
railway line, east of the A1089 (St. Andrew’s Road) and west of Fort Road.  Land 
within this Infrastructure Corridor also includes Fort Road and land either side of 
this highway on the northern side of the LTS railway up to the junction with 
Brennan Road.  The western part of this land parcel incudes open land forming the 
verge between the A1089 and the pedestrian bridge crossing the LTS railway line 
and a section of the existing railway siding extending to the south.  To the east of 
this siding the land parcel includes the northern part of hardsurfaced vehicle 
storage areas operated by the Port of Tilbury.  In between these storage areas 
and the LTS railway line is a soft-landscaped ‘buffer’.  The Order Limits has been 
drawn to include the alignment of public footpath no. 144 as it crosses the LTS 
railway corridor via an un-manned level crossing.  On the southern side of the LTS 
railway line the footpath continues in an easterly direction within the soft-
landscaped buffer and is included with the Infrastructure Corridor.

3.5 The eastern extent of the vehicle storage areas is defined by footpath no. 144 and 
the Chadwell Cross Sewer, defined as a ‘main river’ by the Environment Agency.  
Land within the access corridor east of this main river comprises open grassland 
used for horse grazing, with a narrow belt of trees and shrubs adjacent to the LTS 
railway line.  The Infrastructure Corridor passes through a further ‘main river’ 
known as Pincocks Trough Sewer which forms the western boundary of an area of 
open Common Land which extends up to Fort Road and continues on the eastern 
side of Fort Road south of the power / sub-station approach road (referred to in the 
submission as Substation Road).  Land within the infrastructure corridor includes 
Fort Road north and south of the railway line and its associated embankments.

3.6 Main Site

The Main Site forms the largest element of the four land parcels which make up 
the Order Limits and is generally located south of the LTS railway line, east of the 
Anglian Water Tilbury Water Recycling Centre (sewage treatment works) and 
north of the River Thames.

3.7 Substation Road initially runs in an east-west alignment where is meets Fort Road 
and land within the Main Site north of this alignment comprises an electricity sub-
station within open land with mixed tree and shrub planting.  South of a security 
gatehouse associated with the former power station Substation Road splits into 
two separate arms serving a large operational electricity sub-station and the 
former power station itself.  Former power station buildings and structures within 
the Order Limits have been largely demolished and the southern part of the Main 
Site is a mix of open hardstandings, amenity grassland and areas formerly used 
for the storage of coal.  At the southern end of the Main Site and north of the River 
Thames flood defence is an overgrown area formerly maintained as part of the 
Two Forts Way Wildflower Community Meadow (also known as the ‘Riverside 
Meadows.’ .

Page 67



3.8 Marine Area

The Marine Area is defined on Figure 4.1 as land within the River Thames below 
the Mean Low Water Mark and the inter-tidal zone between Mean Low and Mean 
High Water Marks.  This area includes two existing jetties comprising: to the east, 
a jetty associated with the former power station and including a jetty workshop, 
cranes and a conveyor; and to the west a jetty associated with the Anglian Water 
treatment works.

3.9 Areas Adjoining the Order Limits

The Asda Roundabout land parcel is immediately adjoined to the east, west and 
south by commercial development.  Further to the north-west is open Green Belt 
land at Little Thurrock Marshes with residential development to the north.  To the 
north-east of the Asda Roundabout is open Green Belt land which forms part of 
the Tilbury (West) Flood Storage Area.  A Main River (the Chadwell Main Sewer) 
adjoins the roundabout junction and the A1089 to its east.  The residential area of 
Tilbury is generally located to the south-east of the Asda Roundabout with the Port 
of Tilbury to the south-west.

3.10 The Infrastructure Corridor is immediately adjoined to the north by the LTS railway 
line, with the settlement of Tilbury on the northern side of the railway.  The western 
part of the Corridor is adjoined to the south by land operated by the Port and used 
principally for open vehicle storage.  The eastern section of the Corridor is 
adjoined to the south by open land with Tilbury Fort and the River Thames further 
to the south.  Open land forming part of the Green Belt and the Tilbury (East) 
Flood Storage Area is located to the east of Tilbury and north-east of the 
Infrastructure Corridor.

3.11 The Main Site is adjoined to the north by the LTS railway line, with open Green 
Belt land within the Flood Storage Area located further north.  Open agricultural 
land forming part of the Green Belt adjoins the Main Site to the north-east.  Tilbury 
sub-station is to the east of the Main Site.  A number of high voltage overhead 
transmission lines run in a northerly direction from this sub-station.  The former 
Tilbury Power Station buildings (turbine halls etc.) adjoin the southern part of the 
Main Site to the east, with the Anglian Water treatment works to the west.  The 
remaining power station buildings are in the process of being demolished.  Open 
agricultural land and ash fields associated with the former power station are 
generally located further east of the Main Site.

3.12 Site Constraints

Asda Roundabout – the following land use planning constraints apply to this area 
within the Order Limits:

Page 68



 Green Belt (part);
 Flood Zone 3;
 Main River (Chadwell Main Sewer);
 Strategic Road Network (A1089).

Infrastructure Corridor – the following land use planning constraints apply to this 
area within the Order Limits:

 Flood Zone 3;
 Main Rivers (Chadwell Cross Sewer and Pincocks Trough Sewer);
 Public Right of Way (footpath 144);
 Common Land (part);
 Local Wildlife Site (part).

Main Site – the following land use planning constraints apply to this area within the 
Order Limits:

 Flood Zone 3;
 Public Right of Way (footpath 146);
 Green Belt (part);
 Local Wildlife Site (part).

Page 69



4. Description of the Proposal

Introduction

4.1 In summary, POTLL proposes to construct and operate a new port terminal on land 
comprising part of the former Tilbury Power Station (the Main Site).  The principal 
uses operating at the new port would be a RoRo terminal and a CMAT terminal.  
Ancillary development and associated infrastructure, including road and rail access 
and new and extended berths for vessels, would support these port uses.  The 
proposals also include road and rail transportation links to the Main Site via an 
Infrastructure Corridor.

4.2 Within their submission POTLL note that, as a ‘working’ Port, the nature of their 
operations may change over time in response to economic factors, changes in 
technology etc.  POTLL therefore seek a degree of flexibility for the future and 
propose that permitted development rights (pursuant to the Town and Country 
Planning (General Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 (as amended) 
would apply to the new port.  However, in order to enable a robust assessment of 
the proposals, the description of the proposals refers to an envelope of 
development which is considered by POTLL to be a worst-case scenario.  
Proposals for the Main Site therefore refer to a number of ‘parameters’.  However, 
some elements of the proposals, including the Infrastructure Corridor and marine 
elements have been through the design process and can be assessed in detail.

4.3 The proposals for which a DCO is sought are described in detail as a series of 12 
categorised ‘Works’ (plus a number of sub-works) by Schedule 1 of the Draft DCO.  
If approved, the Order would be known as the Port of Tilbury (Expansion) Order 
201X and would have the status of secondary legislation as a Statutory Instrument.  
For information, the London Gateway Harbour Empowerment Order 2008 
authorising the construction and operation of London Gateway Port is similar in 
structure and status to the proposed Order.

4.4 Summary of Proposals

The Environmental statement (ES) supporting the submission summarises the 
proposed works as follows:

 creation of hard surfaced areas;
 improvements and extension to an existing river jetty and creation of a new 

RoRo berth;
 associated dredging to form berthing pockets for the extended and new jetties;
 new and improved conveyors;
 erection of welfare buildings;
 erection of a warehouse with a floorspace of 10,200 sq.m.;
 storage and production structures associated with the CMAT;

Page 70



 construction of a new road link from Ferry Road to Fort Road; and
 formation of a rail spur and sidings.

4.5 Proposed Schedule 1 Works

As noted above, Schedule 1 (Authorised Development) of the draft DCO provides 
a written description of a number of Works with reference to a number of Works 
Plans (document ref. 2.4).  These Works are described in greater detail below.

4.6 Work No. 1

Construction of a RoRo berth on the River Thames, located in the Marine Area 
partly on the site of the existing power station jetty (upstream section) and 
extending upstream, including:

(a) construction of dolphin with associated fenders and walkways;
(b) construction of a floating pontoon and associated structures;
(c) construction of structures and buildings on the floating pontoon;
(d) construction of an approach bridge with abutments, roadway, footway and 

wind barrier;
(e) construction of a linkspan bridge between the floating pontoon and the 

approach bridge, with a roadway, footway and wind barrier;
(f) construction of a surface water outfall;
(g) alteration, renovation and renewal of an existing jetty;
(h) alteration and renewal of an existing flood defence;
(i) removal of an existing jetty and associated structures;
(j) related dredging works within the River Thames for the above; and
(k) piling works and construction operations within the River Thames.

4.7 Work No. 2

Construction of a CMAT berth on the River Thames, located in the Marine Area 
partly on the site of the existing power station jetty (downstream section) and 
extending downstream, including:

(a) construction of dolphins with associated fenders and walkways;
(b) construction of a conveyor hopper and supporting structures;
(c) installation of pipework on the jetty and connections to Work No. 8A;
(d) construction of a conveyor and supporting structures in the river bed. 
(e) alteration, renovation and renewal of an existing jetty and its associated 

structures;
(f) related dredging works within the River Thames for the above; and
(g) piling works and construction operations within the River Thames.

4.8 Work No. 3

Page 71



Construction of a RoRo terminal, located at the Main site on that part of the former 
power station site north of the flood defence, south of the Substation Road, east of 
the Anglian Water site and west of the remaining power station site, including:

(a) filling of land for port facilities, port surfacing and port infrastructure with 
associated civil works, earth works, and service works;

(b) construction of rail sidings and associated rail infrastructure;
(c) vehicular, cyclist and pedestrian roads and routes including a connection to 

Work No. 1(d);
(d) construction of ancillary buildings including staff welfare and operational 

facilities;
(e) construction of site lighting, including lighting columns;
(f) demolition of existing buildings; and
(g) installation of above ground and underground drainage infrastructure including 

pumping station.

4.9 Work No. 4

Construction of vehicular, cycle and pedestrian routes for the RoRo terminal and 
the construction of the CMAT, located at the Main Site along and adjacent to the 
existing route of Substation Road from its junction with Fort Road to the former 
power station sub-station, including:

(a) demolition of existing buildings;
(b) construction of private means of accesses to land;
(c) construction of a gatehouse and associated infrastructure; and
(d) construction of a noise barrier.

4.10 Work No. 5

Construction of an operational compound for the RoRo terminal and the CMAT, 
located at the Main Site on the eastern and northern side of the Substation Road, 
including:

(a) filling of land for port facilities, port surfacing and port infrastructure with 
associated civil works, earth works, and service works;

(b) construction of car parking facilities;
(c) construction of ancillary buildings including staff welfare facilities; and
(d) demolition of existing buildings.

4.11 Work No. 6

construction and laying out of storage areas, located at the Main Site on land north 
of Substation Road and east of its junction with Fort Road, including:

Page 72



(a) filling of land for port facilities, port surfacing and port infrastructure with 
associated civil works, earth works, and service works; and

(b) the construction of a railway line and associated railway infrastructure.

4.12 Work No. 7

the construction of a warehouse, located on the eastern side of the Main Site 
adjacent to the remaining power station buildings, including:

(a) filling of land for port facilities, port surfacing and port infrastructure with 
associated civil works, earth works and service works;

(b) construction of a warehouse;
(c) construction of a railway line, rail sidings and associated rail infrastructure (to 

the extent that the location of Work No. 3 overlaps with the location of Work 
No. 7);

(d) vehicular, cycling and pedestrian roads and routes; and
(e) construction of site lighting infrastructure, including lighting columns.

4.13 Work No. 8

Construction of a CMAT, located at the Main Site, comprising - 

(a) Work 8A, located at the south-eastern corner of the Main Site, including:

(i) construction of silo facilities and associated piping, pumping and loading 
infrastructure;

(ii) construction of weighbridges;
(iii) construction of a railway line, rail sidings and associated rail infrastructure (to 

the extent that the location of Work No. 3 overlaps with the location of Work 
No. 8A);

(iv) construction and laying out of vehicular roads and routes; and
(v) filling of land for port facilities, port surfacing and port infrastructure with 

associated civil works, earth works, and service works.

(b) Work 8B, located adjacent to the eastern boundary south of the Substation 
Road, including:

(i) filling of land for port facilities, port surfacing and port infrastructure with 
associated civil works, earth works, and service works;

(ii) construction of a railway line, rail sidings and associated rail infrastructure (to 
the extent that the location of Work No. 3 overlaps with the location of Work 
No. 8B);

(iii) construction of site lighting infrastructure, including lighting columns;
(iv) construction of a conveyor and supporting structures; and
(v) construction of vehicular roads and routes.

Page 73



(c) Work 8C, located north of the Substation Road and south of the railway line, 
including:

(i) filling of land for port facilities, port surfacing and port infrastructure with 
associated civil works, earth works, and service works;

(ii) construction of an aggregate storage yard;
(iii) construction of a railway line, rail sidings and associated rail infrastructure;
(iv) construction of a conveying system and supporting structures; and
(v) construction of vehicular and pedestrian access routes and roads.

(d) Work 8D, located north of the Substation Road and south of the railway line, 
including:

(i) filling of land for port facilities, port surfacing and port infrastructure with 
associated civil works, earth works, and service works;

(ii) construction of an aggregate storage yard;
(iii) construction of construction materials and aggregate processing facilities 

including associated buildings and infrastructure;
(iv) construction of a railway line, rail sidings and associated rail infrastructure (to 

the extent that the location of work No.8C overlaps with the location of Work 
No.8D); and

(v) construction of vehicular and pedestrian access routes and roads.

4.14 Work No.9

Located within the Infrastructure Corridor, construction of a new highway from 
Ferry Road to a point 190 metres south-west of the centrepoint of the existing Fort 
Road bridge over the railway line comprising – 

(a) Work 9A

(i) construction of a new single lane two way highway approximately 1,250m in 
length from a point on St. Andrew’s Road approximately 1,460m from the 
centrepoint of the Asda Roundabout to a point approximately 190m southwest 
of the centrepoint of the existing Fort Road bridge over the railway line;

(ii) construction of a new junction with a new highway at a point approximately 
1,700m south-east of the centre point of the existing Asda roundabout 
constructed pursuant to Work No. 9B;

(iii) construction of a new junction with a new highway at a point approximately 
275m south-west of the centre point of the existing Fort Road bridge over the 
railway line constructed pursuant to Work No. 9C;

(iv) improvement of St. Andrew’s Road for a length of approximately 150m;
(v) construction of a noise barrier;
(vi) construction of private means of accesses to land;
(vii) construction of a footway and cycleway;
(viii)demolition of existing buildings;

Page 74



(ix) works to alter the course of, or otherwise interfere with, a watercourse other 
than a navigable watercourse; and

(x) works to alter the position of apparatus, including mains, sewers, drains and 
cables.

(b) Work 9B

(i) construction of a new highway approximately 165m in length from a junction 
with a St. Andrew’s Road at a point approximately 1,825m south-east of the 
centre point of the Asda roundabout to a point approximately 1,700m south-
east of the of the centre point of the Asda roundabout; and

(ii) the construction of a cycleway.

(c) Work 9C

(i) construction of a new highway approximately 100m in length from a point on 
Fort Road approximately 290m south-southwest of the centre point of the Fort 
Road bridge over the railway line to a point on Fort Road, approximately 280m 
south-west of the centrepoint of the Fort Road bridge over the railway line;

(ii) construction of a new junction with Fort Road at a point approximately 290m 
south-west  of the centrepoint of the Fort Road bridge over the railway line; 
and

(iii) construction of a cycleway.

4.15 Work No. 10

Located within the Infrastructure Corridor, construction of a road overbridge at Fort 
Road including:

(a) construction of a new bridge over new highway, new railway tying into the 
existing bridge over the railway line;

(b) construction of a new length of highway approximately 330m in length, from a 
point 330m south-east of the centre point of the Fort Road bridge over the 
railway line to the centre point of the existing Fort Road bridge over the railway 
line;

(c) construction of a cycleway;
(d) works to alter the course of, or otherwise interfere with, a watercourse other 

than a navigable watercourse;
(e) works to alter the position of apparatus, including mains, sewers, drains and 

cables; and
(f) improvement of Fort Road including markings to indicate a mini-roundabout.

4.16 Work No. 11

Improvements to the Asda roundabout junction.

Page 75



4.17 Work No. 12

Within the Infrastructure Corridor, construction of a rail line from a point 
approximately 95m south-east of the existing connection of the rail sidings known 
as the Riverside Sidings to the railway line to a point approximately 35m south of 
the centrepoint of the existing Fort Road bridge over the railway line including:

(a) construction of a railway line, passing loop and associated infrastructure of 
approximately 1,325m in length from the existing siding off of the railway line 
to Work No. 6;

(b) construction of a noise barrier;
(c) construction of private means of accesses to land;
(d) demolition of existing buildings;
(e) works to alter the course of, or otherwise interfere with, a watercourse other 

than a navigable watercourse; and
(f) works to alter the position of apparatus, including mains, sewers, drains and 

cables.

4.18 In addition to the numbered works (1-12) described above, Schedule 1 also 
describes ʺancillary or related development for the purposes of or in connection 
with the construction of any of the works and other developmentʺ mentioned by 
Works 1-12.  This ancillary or related development includes:

 works within highways
 works within the River Thames (located with the Order limits and Port limits)
 alteration / demolition of buildings;
 works to plant and apparatus;
 works to rights of way;
 embankment, viaducts, bridges etc.;
 settlement mitigation measures;
 works to watercourses;
 hard and soft landscaping, noise mitigation and ecological mitigation;
 site preparation, clearance etc.;
 construction compounds etc.; and
 service compounds etc.

4.19 Detailed Description of the Proposals

Jetty / Marine Works (Works 1 and 2):

Works to the existing power station jetty are required to enable its use for the 
proposed RoRo and CMAT terminals.  The western part of the existing jetty would 
be retained and extended upstream in order to provide capacity for two vessels at 
the RoRo terminal.  The jetty would also be extended downstream to accommodate 
a single vessel to serve the CMAT terminal.  The application assumes that the 

Page 76



RoRo could accommodate 2 no. 200m long vessels with a 250m long, self-
discharging aggregate vessel berthed at the extended downstream jetty.

4.20 Berthing Pockets (Works 1 and 2):

Dredging works would be required in order to create the berthing pockets for 
vessels using the RoRo and CMAT jetty.  In addition, dredging is required on the 
vessel approaches to the berths.  The proposals also refer to an ongoing 
requirement for maintenance dredging.

4.21 RoRo Terminal – Landside Facilities (Work Nos. 3 & 5):

This terminal would occupy a 20Ha area on the southern part of the Main Site to be 
used for the movement and storage of trailers and containers.  The works required 
to create the terminal comprise, land filling, creation of hardstandings, formation of 
access routes, drainage infrastructure, lighting, soft landscaping, ancillary buildings 
and formation of rail sidings.  No fixed cranes are proposed as the containers would 
be moved by reach stackers.  Containers would be stacked at different heights up 
to a maximum of six high i.e. to a maximum height of 18m above ground level.  
Ground level is described as a maximum of 4m AOD.  General arrangement plans 
(document ref. 2.2) show a layout of trailer and container storage across the RoRo 
terminal.  However, these plans are indicative and different combinations of trailer 
and container storage could; occur within the area.  Work No. 5 refers to an area 
north of the Substation Road adjacent to the western boundary of the Main Site 
which would be used to accommodate workshop / administration / welfare 
floorspace for the RoRo terminal and associated parking.

4.22 Maritime Warehouse (Work No. 7)

This structure, located on the eastern side of the Main Site adjacent to the power 
station, would comprise a rail-served warehouse building on a 3Ha plot.  The 
building would measure 170m (l) x 60m (w) x 22m (high), with a gross external 
floorspace of 10,200 sq.m.

4.23 CMAT Terminal – Landside Facilities (Work No. 8)

The CMAT terminal is described as comprising a number of permanent uses and 
structures, although the exact arrangement of uses, processes and structures is 
not known in detail.  The proposals therefore describe a worst-case scenario 
including the following elements:

4.24 Aggregates Storage Yard: an area for the storage of aggregates, pigments and 
cementitious materials (cement, fly ash, limestone fines etc.).  These materials 
would be stored within silos or in the open air fed by a conveyor linking to the 
riverside berth.  This area would incorporate dust suppression measures.  The 

Page 77



proposals assume that the maximum height of stored material would be 17m 
above ground level (a maximum 4m AOD).

4.25 Processing Facilities:  these facilities could include (i) a block and precast 
manufacturing facility (comprising mixing, moulding, curing and stacking of 
manufactured products), (ii) a cement facility (comprising a ready mix concrete 
batching plant) and (iii) an asphalt manufacturing plant (comprising the processing 
of aggregate, sand, bitumen etc.).  The submission assumes that building and 
structures within the CMAT processing area would be a maximum of 30m in height 
above ground level (a maximum 4m AOD).

4.26 Silo (Work No. 8A)

A silo for the storage of powdered bulk products is proposed with a height of 100m 
above ground level (a maximum 4m AOD) and a diameter of 15m.  The silo would 
be located close to the CMAT terminal jetty and would be supplied by river.

4.27 CMAT Conveyor

A conveyor and supporting structure would link the CMAT jetty to the aggregates 
storage yard described above.

4.28 Other Uses

Land at the north-western corner of the Main Site and north of Substation Road 
close to Fort Road would be used for external storage (Work No. 6).  The 
submission assumes a maximum height for stored goods / materials of 5m above 
ground level (a maximum 4m AOD).

4.29 Entrance Area

The entrance to the Main Site would incorporate a security gatehouse, fencing, 
cameras etc. (Work No. 4).

4.30 Rail Infrastructure within the Main Site

A new railway spur aligned parallel with the main railway line would enter the Main 
Site at its north-western corner.  This spur would then turn from a north-east / 
south-west alignment to a north / south alignment running adjacent to the eastern 
boundary.  This rail infrastructure would provide sidings and loading facilities for 
the CMAT, RoRo terminal and Maritime Warehouse.

4.31 Infrastructure Corridor

In order to provide new rail and rail access to the Main Site new links are proposed 
within the Infrastructure Corridor.  These works comprise:

Page 78



 a new single lane, two-way road linking Ferry Road to the Main Site entrance;
 improvements to St. Andrew’s Road;
 creation of a new junction to enable continued access to the cruise terminal;
 new junction to link the access road to Fort Road;
 new open span road bridge south of the Fort Road bridge;
 works to improve the geometry of the Asda roundabout junction;
 new pedestrian / cycle path on the southern side of the new road;
 new rail link aligned south of the existing LTS railway and north of the 

proposed link road
 rail sidings within the Main Site;
 associated road and rail crossings over watercourses, with diversions;
 mitigation measures including noise barriers, compensatory habitat and 

landscaping.

4.32 Lighting

External lighting is proposed associated with the RoRo terminal, CMAT terminal, 
jetty, infrastructure corridor, rail sidings, internal roadways and ancillary buildings.  
A Preliminary Lighting Strategy forming part of the submission targets a lighting 
level of 20 lux for the site as a whole, although parts of the development would be 
illuminated to a higher level.  Lighting infrastructure would comprise ‘high mast’ 
columns (maximum 50m high) for the terminals and 12m high columns to illuminate 
the roads and jetty areas.  Illumination of the road link is only proposed at road 
junction or potential conflict areas.

4.33 Operational Details

Both the RoRo and CMAT terminals are intended to operate on a 24-hour basis, 
363 days per year.  The RoRo terminal would have a maximum capacity of 500,000 
units (trailers and containers) per year.  The RoRo berth could accommodate two 
vessels per day, resulting in four daily movements and 1,452 vessel movements per 
year.  The RoRo berth will be capable of accommodating vessels up to 200m in 
length.  The CMAT would have a maximum capacity of 1,600,000 tonnes of 
aggregates per year resulting in a maximum 20 vessels per year (of a maximum 
length of 250m) using the CMAT berth.  The ES estimates that 700,000 tonnes of 
material would leave the CMAT by rail and 750,000 tonnes by road.  The ES also 
estimates that 150,000 tonnes of material would leave the CMAT by barge, 
resulting in 150 vessels visiting the CMAT berth (300 barge movements).  In order 
to inform the assessment of impact, the ES assumes 28,500 tonnes of materials for 
the asphalt plant will arrive by river, 260,000 tonnes of asphalt will leave by road, 
50,000 cubic metres of concrete will leave by road, 150,000 tonnes of construction 
blocks will leave by road and 150,000 tonnes of pre-cast concrete will leave by road.  
The proposals assume a maximum of five trains per day entering and leaving the 
site (CMAT and RoRo)

Page 79



4.34 Public Rights of Way

The proposals include the partial stopping-up of footpath no. 144 in between a point 
north of the existing LTS railway and a point south the proposed infrastructure 
corridor.  Temporary diversions and stopping-up of footpath no. 146 and byway no. 
98 located on the Thames foreshore may also be required.  The proposals include 
an ‘Active Travel Strategy’ to enhance walking and cycling links in the area.

Page 80



5. Relevant Planning History

5.1 Asda Roundabout

The Asda roundabout junction was formed in the late 1960’s, with the Thurrock 
Park Way arm added in the 1970’s and Windrush Road, serving the Travis Perkins 
and Amazon sites added more recently.  The following applications relevant to this 
part of the site:

Ref. Description Decision
74/00161/FUL Development of land at Tilbury North for 30 

acres of housing, 45 acres of warehousing 
and 53 acres of open space

Approved

10/50157/TTGOUT Development of land comprising formation 
of new accesses to the A1089(T) and Dock 
Road, creation of internal estate roads, 
erections of buildings for storage and 
distribution (B8), general industry (B2) and 
offices (B1), provision of lorry parking, 
associated earthworks, car parking, public 
amenity areas, open space and landscaping

Approved

13/00405/CV Application under Section 73 for a Minor 
Material Amendment in respect of conditions 
6 and 16 of planning permission ref. 
10/50157/TTGOUT

Approved

14/00487/CV Application for the variation of conditions 5 
(building heights) and 6 (arrangement of 
land uses) following grant of planning 
permission ref. 13/00405/CV

Approved

15/01483/FUL Full planning application for development of 
southern part of London Distribution Park 
(approved under outline planning permission 
14/00487/CV) for new sortation and 
fulfilment centre comprising warehouse and 
distribution building (B8) with ancillary 
offices and yard areas, security and amenity 
buildings, staff car park parking etc.

Approved

5.2 Infrastructure Corridor

The following applications are relevant to this part of the site:

Ref. Description Decision
62/00307/FUL Industrial and ancillary buildings for the 

production of mechanised handling 
Approved

Page 81



equipment and cranes
66/00267/OUT Access road, factory, offices and warehouse 

buildings
Approved

66/00759/OUT Warehouse and industrial buildings Approved
67/00152/FUL Two warehouses Approved
70/00822/OUT Headquarters for Thurrock Sea Cadet Corps 

training centre
Refused

78/00883/FUL Loose boxes for housing cattle during winter 
months and storage of cattle fodder

Approved

80/00944/FUL Loose boxes for housing cattle during winter 
months and storage of cattle fodder

Approved

82/00037/FUL Loose boxes for housing cattle during winter 
months and storage of cattle fodder.  
(renewal of THU/944/80).

Approved

83/00702/FUL Loose boxes for housing cattle and storage 
of fodder.

Approved

85/00285/FUL Retention of loose boxes and fodder sheds 
for housing cattle.

Approved

89/00663/FUL Construction of shipping berths, foreshore 
reclamation, trailer park and associated 
works including buildings, roads and 
bridgeworks

Refused

89/00664/FUL Construction of shipping berths, foreshore 
reclamation, trailer park and associated 
works including buildings, roads and 
bridgeworks

Refused

94/00217/OUT Outline application for change of use and as 
an automobile terminal

Refused

96/00845/FUL Development of land east of the Port of 
Tilbury for Class B2 and B8 uses 

Approved

98/00895/REM New public highway and associated 
infrastructure works (including cycleways, 
footpaths and riverside promenade link)

Withdrawn

00/00296/OUT Outline application for development of land 
for industrial (B2) and warehouse (B8) uses 
including alignment of road

Approved

01/01165/TBC Erection of two animal shelters Approved
03/00853/REM Surfacing, fencing and lighting to provide 

vehicle storage and loading facility including 
new highway access and portacabin office 
buildings

Approved

05/00233/RDG 15m high mast with antennae and 
microwave dishes

Approved

06/00208/RDG Redevelopment of existing 15m high mast to 
accommodate additional antennae

Refused

Page 82



06/00629/RDG 15m high mast with antennae and 
equipment cabins

Refused

07/00045/RDG 15m high mast with antennae and 
equipment cabins

Approved

5.3 Main Site

The following applications are relevant to this part of the site:

Ref. Description Decision
50/00299/FUL Access road Approved
54/00035/FUL 132 KV substation and 33 KV compound Approved
68/00736/FUL Temporary offices and stores Approved
69/01026/FUL Use of canteen as social club Approved
76/00132/FUL Stockpile area for lightweight granular 

aggregate
Approved

88/00158/FUL Concrete roof tile plant Refused
90/00192/FUL Change of use for existing building to nature 

study centre
Approved

96/00006/GDO Change of compound structures for Tilbury 
local sub station

Approved

06/00751/TTGFUL Replacement of existing coal stockyard 
lighting towers with new lighting columns

Approved

08/00847/TTGFUL Installation of a new perimeter security 
fence enclosing the inner areas of the site, 
lying either on or within the present site 
boundary.  The installation includes: A new 
fence to Class 3 (approx. 3.6m high) around 
the main plant and a fence to BS 1722 
Class 2 (approx. 3m high) around the ash 
disposal site vehicle compound. New 
perimeter lighting comprising columns 
approx. 8m high located approx. 2m inside 
the new fence and spaced at approx. 20m 
centres. CCTV and infra-red security lighting 
located on alternate columns Ground level 
electrical cabinets adjacent to each column.

Approved

12/00890/OUT Outline application for works required on the 
Tilbury Power Station site (onshore 
application) to extend the lifetime by 12-15 
years

Approved

13/00497/FUL Recovery for beneficial use of pulverised 
fuel ash deposited on Tilbury Power Station 
ash disposal site areas A2, A3 and B

Approved

13/01204/CV Variation of Condition 13 (Restriction of Approved

Page 83



Lorry Movements) against approved 
planning application 13/00497/FUL

14/01304/CV Variation of condition 2 of planning 
permission ref 13/00497/FUL (permitted 
recovery for beneficial use of pulverised ash 
deposited on Tilbury Power Station ash 
disposal site areas A2, A3, and B). The 
variation sought relates to phasing to allow 
recovery of ash from ash field A2 while the 
remaining ash on ash field A3 dries out, 
then allow the further recovery of ash from 
A3

Withdrawn

16/00186/DMI Demolition of Tilbury B power station and all 
associated buildings and structures 
(including remaining structures from Tilbury 
A power station). The Jetty will not be 
demolished

Prior Approval 
granted

16/00848/FUL Retention of use of land for storage of new 
motor vehicles for a temporary 5 (five) year 
period and retrospective planning 
permission for the laying of hardcore, 
improvement of concrete hardstanding, re-
grading of land and formation of swale to 
western boundary

Approved

16/01234/FUL Erection of 2.9m high security fencing. Approved
17/00560/FUL Use of land for storage of new motor 

vehicles for a temporary 5 (five) year period, 
including the laying of an anchored ground 
reinforcement paver to parts of the site

Approved

5.4 Jetty

The following applications are relevant to this part of the site:

Ref. Description Decision
84/00378/FUL Simporter ship coal unloader Approved
02/01148/FUL Extension of existing jetty and dredging of 

new berth pocket. Relocation of ship 
unloading equipment. Additional mooring 
installation. Temporary contractor laydown 
area

Approved

10/50259/TTGFUL Works to enable operation of Tilbury B 
Power Station on Biomass fuel in place of 
coal, comprising: 1. Installation of 2 new 
vacuum ship unloaders on jetty.  2.  

Approved

Page 84



Relocation of existing ship unloaders on 
jetty. 3. Extension and enclosure of existing 
conveyor junction tower on jetty. 4. New 
dust separator enclosure and connecting 
conveyors on jetty.

12/00891/OUT Outline application for works needed in or 
on the tidal Thames (offshore application) to 
extend Tilbury Power Station lifetime by 12-
15 Years

Approved

Page 85



6. Relevant Development Plan Policies

6.1 Context

Section 104(2) of the Planning Act 2008 states that in deciding the application for 
a DCO the Panel must have regard to any National Policy Statement (NPS) for the 
development to which the development relates, any Local Impact Report, any 
matters prescribed in relation to development of the description to which the 
application relates and any other matters considered important and relevant.  The 
National Policy Statement for Ports (2012) is relevant and provides the policy 
framework for determining nationally significant port proposals and associated 
development.  The UK Marine Policy Statement is also relevant in this case.  The 
applicant’s ‘Planning Policy Compliance Statement’ (ref. 6.2.1.A) considers the 
proposals against the policies and assessment criteria of both the NPS for Ports 
and the Marine Policy Statement.

6.2 The PINS advice note for the preparation of LIRs refers to the inclusion of relevant 
development plan policies, supplementary planning guidance, development briefs 
or approved master plans.  The LIR should also include the local authority’s 
appraisal of the proposed development’s compliance with local policy and 
guidance.

6.3 Development Plan

The statutory development plan for Thurrock is the Core Strategy and Policies for 
the Management of Development, originally adopted by the Council in January 
2011 and subsequently amended in 2015 following an examination of a focused 
review assessing consistency with the NPPF.  The Core Strategy is accompanied 
by a Policies Map.  These documents are available on-line at: 
https://www.thurrock.gov.uk/current-development-plan.  The following extracts 
from the Core Strategy are relevant to the proposals.

6.4 Chapter 3 – The Future of Thurrock Council

Paragraphs 3.18 and 3.19 identify Tilbury as one of five Key Areas of 
Regeneration and Growth in the Borough and located within the ‘Thurrock Urban 
Area’ extending from Purfleet in the west to Tilbury / Chadwell in the east.  This 
urban area alongside the regeneration areas are indicated diagrammatically on the 
Key Diagram for the ‘Adopted Core Strategy’.  Paragraphs 3.34 – 3.37 refer 
specifically to Tilbury and note that Tilbury is a:

‘key location for employment in the Borough and will provide between 1,600 and 
3,800 additional jobs in logistics, port and riverside industries’ (paragraph 3.34).

On a strategic level it is considered that the proposals would comply with the 
Council’s aspiration to increase employment opportunities in Tilbury.

Page 86

https://www.thurrock.gov.uk/current-development-plan


6.5 Paragraph 3.36 states that (inter-alia):

‘The land between Tilbury and the riverside will be enhanced and … green linkage 
between the urban area and the river pursued.  The landscape setting of Tilbury 
Fort and approaches to it will be enhanced.’

The applicant’s proposed heads of terms for a s106 agreement with the Council 
(ref. 5.3) include reference to a fund to undertake feasibility work into 
enhancements at Tilbury Fort and improvements to linkages as part of an Active 
Travel Study.  These measures address some of the issues identified by 
paragraph 3.36.

6.6 Table 3 – Strategic Spatial Objectives

This table lists a number of Objectives which are essential to achieve the spatial 
Vision for the Borough.  Those identified objectives which specifically refer to 
Tilbury are:

SS02 – ‘Increase prosperity and employment growth in Thurrock in the five 
strategic Economic Hubs of Purfleet, Lakeside/West Thurrock, Grays, Tilbury and 
London Gateway whilst seeking a sustainable balance between housing and jobs 
growth across the Borough supported by integration and phasing with existing and 
planned transport and community infrastructure’; and

SS019 – ‘To safeguard and enhance the Thurrock riverside and coastal land for its 
various roles as a key asset of the Borough: as a haven for wildlife, a cultural and 
heritage environment, providing for leisure and recreation at Grays and East 
Tilbury and for port – related activity at Tilbury, London Gateway and other 
locations.  To provide land for flood risk management including new/relocated 
habitats across the Borough’.

As above, the economic benefits of the proposals are considered compatible with 
the strategic objectives set out in SS02.  SS019 identifies Tilbury as a located for 
port-related activity but also recognises the environmental and cultural roles 
performed by Thurrock riverside and coastal land.

6.7 Employment Policies
Spatial Policy – CSSP2: Sustainable Employment Growth

This policy states that the Council will:

‘promote and support economic development in the Key Strategic Economic Hubs 
that seeks to expand upon their existing core sectors and / or provide opportunities 
in the growth sectors.’

Page 87



The core sectors for the Tilbury key strategic economic hub are described as port 
logistics, transport and construction.  Growth sectors are identified as business, 
services, environmental technologies, recycling and energy.  The proposed land 
uses are considered to be consistent with the core sectors for Tilbury referred to 
by CSSP2.

6.8 Thematic Policy – CSTP17: Strategic Freight Movement and Access to Ports

This policy recognises that Thurrock is traditionally an area of port-related and 
freight activity and is generally supportive of sustainable, reliable and high quality 
access to the Borough’s ports (including Tilbury) in order to support economic 
growth whilst minimising adverse impacts.  In particular this policy states (inter-
alia):

‘The Council will support the logistics and port sectors, and the positive impacts of 
freight activity in Thurrock and beyond, by:

1. Facilitating a shift to rail freight and freight carried on the River Thames.  This 
will be through:

I. Protecting inter-modal, rail and water-borne freight facilities from other 
development at locations where a demand exists or is expected to exist.

II. Promoting the use of rail and water borne freight facilities by supporting the 
development of appropriate infrastructure.

III. Supporting improvements to facilitate sustainable freight movements, including 
the rail hub at London Gateway, the South West Thurrock Railhead and 
improving access to the ports’.

The proposals are considered to comply with the objectives of this thematic policy.

6.9 Thematic Policy – CSTP28: River Thames

The supporting text for this policy (paragraph 5.179) notes that this policy sets out 
the basis for assessing the suitability of riverside development proposals, and for 
improving accessibility and recreational activities along the Thurrock riverside, 
balanced against the need for environmental protection. The Council will work 
collaboratively with relevant stakeholder organisations and agencies to ensure the 
delivery of a balanced approach to the Thurrock riverside.  Paragraph 5.182 goes 
on to states that whilst industry and the large tracts of industrial landscape should 
be safeguarded and promoted to support the regeneration of Thurrock riverside in 
the broadest sense, the river and its setting needs to be accessible and visible, 
capitalising on the landscape and environmental improvements that will be 
realised for the future through the policies in this Core Strategy.

6.10 The relevant extracts from this policy are:

Page 88



‘I. The Council and Partners will ensure that the economic and commercial 
function of the river will continue to be promoted through:

i. Priority being given to allocating riverside development sites to uses that require 
access to the river frontage, especially those which promote use of the river for 
passenger transportation purposes.

ii. Safeguarding port-related operational land.
iii. Safeguarding additional adjacent land required for further port development, 

including expansion.  For port development onto additional land to be 
acceptable however, it will be necessary to substantiate the need for it over and 
above land that is already available for operational port uses.

iv. To safeguard existing and promote new jetties and wharves facilities where 
appropriate for transport of goods and materials.

II. New development will provide new or enhanced sustainable, safe and equitable 
access to and along the river foreshore, especially using natural and semi-
natural corridors and other elements of the Greengrid.

IV. New development will also maintain or enhance views, particularly of key 
features including heritage and landscapes, and will improve recreational 
interaction with the river and its setting. Critical elements include:

i. The Thames Path through Thurrock, a designated National Trail.
ii. National Cycle Network Route 13, which overlaps with the Thames Path 

through much of Thurrock.
iii. Safeguarding of strategic and locally important views’.

6.11 The proposals are considered to be compatible with (I.) above.  The proposed 
Active Travel Study promotes enhancements to the pedestrian and cycle network 
locally, including the Thames Estuary Path in compliance with (2.).  The issue of 
views is considered separately in this LIR.

6.12 Environmental Policies
A number of environmental policies within the Core Strategy apply to the 
proposals as follows.

6.13 Spatial Policy – CSSP4: Sustainable Green Belt

As detailed below elements of the application site are located on land designated 
within the Green Belt.  This spatial policy sets out the Council’s policy objective of 
maintaining the purpose, function and character of the Green Belt.

6.14 Thematic Policy – CSTP19: Biodiversity

This policy highlights the broad range of biodiversity interests in Thurrock and 
encourages development to include measures to contribute positively to overall 
biodiversity in the borough.  Part (I.) of the policy states that SSSIs, SPAs, Ramsar, 
Local Nature Reserves and Local Wildlife Sites will be safeguarded and enhanced 

Page 89



to mitigate the effect of past habitat loss and fragmentation, development and 
climate change.  The proposals would result in the loss of a Local Wildlife Site 
which at a prima-facie level is contrary to this policy, albeit the proposals include 
on-site mitigation in the Landscape and Ecological Mitigation Plan (LEMP) and a 
off-site Ecological Mitigation and Compensation Plan (EMCP) is to be provided. 

6.15 Thematic Policy – CSTP22: Thurrock Design

This policy emphasises the importance of high quality design Thurrock, which is of 
particular importance in the Key Strategic Employment Hubs.  The applicant’s 
Masterplanning Statement (ref. 6.2.5.A) refers (at chapter 5) to number of design 
parameters and options.  These principally comprise the identification of the area 
and height parameters for the RoRo and CMAT.  Although these parameters set 
the envelope of development for the purposes of environmental assessment, the 
Council considers that any DCO should include measures or mechanisms to 
ensure the detailed design quality of buildings, structures and relevant associated 
development.

6.16 Thematic Policy – CSTP24: Heritage Assets and the Historic Environment

The introduction to this policy identifies Tilbury Fort as a military coastal 
fortification of international significance.  This policy sets out a general objective of 
protecting and enhancing heritage assets.  Part (2.) of the policy requires all 
development proposals to appraise options and demonstrate that the final 
appraisal is the most appropriate for the heritage asset.  Finally part (3.) sets the 
Council’s priorities for heritage and enhancement including (II. (i.)) to:

‘Ensure that the setting of Tilbury Fort, including views of it from the river, are 
appropriately protected and enhanced, and that encroachment on the open land 
around it is not permitted’.

It is considered that the development proposals will impact to a degree on the 
setting of the Fort and this factor should form an important factor in the 
consideration of the proposals.

6.17 Policies for the Management of Development

A number of detailed environment-based development management policies 
would ordinarily apply to the proposals (assuming that they were below the NSIP 
threshold and therefore subject to a conventional planning application) as follows:

 PMD1: Minimising pollution and impacts on amenity, health, safety, and the 
natural environment;

 PMD2: Design and layout;
 PMD3: Tall buildings;

Page 90



 PMD4 Historic environment;
 PMD6: Development in the Green Belt;
 PMD7: Biodiversity, geological conservation and development;
 PMD10: Transport Assessments and Travel Plans;
 PMD11: Freight movement;
 PMD12: Sustainable buildings;
 PMD13: Decentralised, renewable and low carbon energy generation;
 PMD15: Flood Risk Assessment; and
 PMD16: Developer Contributions.

These ‘fine grain’ Development Management policies are not applicable to NSIPs 
and in any case the assessment principles and generic impacts within the NPS for 
ports will largely replicate the subject areas of these policies.

6.18 Development Plan Policy Designations

The proposals map designations for the various elements of the site are referred 
to below.

6.19 Asda Roundabout

This roundabout junction and adjacent road approaches is designated as Green 
Belt by the Core Strategy proposals map.  Core Strategy Policy for the 
Management of Development PMD6 (Development in the Green Belt) is relevant.  
It is not considered that the development described by Work No. 11 and shown on 
the General Arrangement Plan (sheet 5 of 5) would cause any material conflict 
with Green Belt policies.

6.20 Infrastructure Corridor

Land south of the LTS railways line is for the most part allocated as comprising 
Primary Industrial and Commercial Area by the Proposals Map.  However, land 
forming the western part of the Infrastructure Corridor and land between Fort Road 
public footpath no. 144 has no specific policy designation.  For reference, the 
Adopted Interim Proposals Map accompanying the 2011 Core Strategy stated that 
land with no notation was intended to remain broadly in existing use.  For that part 
of the Infrastructure Corridor allocated as forming part of a Primary Industrial and 
Commercial Area policies CSSP4 (described above) and CSTP6 (Strategic 
Employment Provision) apply.  Thematic policy CSTP6 safeguards primary 
industrial and commercial land for employment purposes.  It is not considered that 
the proposals conflict with this development plan allocation.

6.21 That part of the Infrastructure Corridor north of the LTS railway and east of Fort 
Road forms part of the Green Belt, where policies CSSP4 and PMD6 apply.  
PMD6 is the Council’s development management policy applying to all 

Page 91



development proposals in the Green Belt.  The works shown on the General 
Arrangement Plan (sheet 2 of 5) would not appear to raise Green Belt policy 
implications.

6.22 The northern side of Fort Road is designated as a linear feature where thematic 
policy CSTP18 (Green Infrastructure) applies.  This policy seeks to restore, protect, 
enhance and, where appropriate, create green assets.  Green infrastructure 
assets are described as including road and railway corridors.  As above, the Active 
Travel Study, if realised, could enhance footpath and cycle connections in the area 
in compliance with the policy.

6.23 Finally, the Proposals Map designates Fort Road, south of its junction with the 
Substation Road, as a road improvement scheme where Core Strategy policies 
CSTP14 (Transport in the Thurrock Urban Area) and CSTP15 (Transport in the 
Greater Thurrock Area) apply.  Both of these thematic policies generally refer to 
encouraging more sustainable modes of transport, including via the delivery of 
walking and cycling routes.  It is considered that the Active Travel Study could 
contribute towards the objectives of these policies.

6.24 Main Site

The central and southern parts of the Main Site have no specific policy designation.  
Land at the north-western part of the Main Site forms part of the ‘Lytag Brownfield’ 
Local Wildlife Site (LWS).  The proposals would result in the loss of this non-
statutory site, where thematic policies CSTP18 (Green Infrastructure) and CSTP19 
(Biodiversity) apply.  Policy for the Management of Development PMD7 
(Biodiversity, Geological Conservation and Development) is also relevant and 
states inter-alia:

‘1. Development proposals will be required to demonstrate that any significant 
biodiversity habitat or geological interest of recognised local value is retained 
and enhanced on-site.  Where it can be demonstrated that this is not possible, 
and there is no suitable alternative site available for the development, 
developers will be required to show that their proposals would mitigate any 
loss of biodiversity or geological interest.  In circumstances where it can be 
demonstrated that neither retention on site nor mitigation is possible, 
developers will be required to provide appropriate compensation for any 
significant loss of biodiversity or geological interest, such that there is no 
overall net loss of biodiversity habitat or features of geological conservation 
interest in Thurrock.  The Council will seek to achieve net gains in biodiversity 
where such gains would be possible, with particular reference to the 
desirability of re-creating priority habitats and the recovery of priority species. 

2. The Council will not permit development that would result in the loss, or partial 
loss, of a locally designated biodiversity or geological site, except in 

Page 92



exceptional circumstances where it can be demonstrated that there is no 
alternative, subject to the sequential approach outlined in (1) above’.

6.25 As the proposals involve the loss of the LWS and potential a conflict with the 
sequential approach of avoidance, mitigation and compensation set out in PMD7 
may apply.

6.26 The north-eastern part of the Main Site is allocated as Primary Industrial and 
Commercial Area by the Proposals Map and the proposals do not, in principle, 
raise a conflict with relevant development plan policies for employment.

6.27 At the extreme north-east corner of the Main Site sections of the proposed rail 
siding and a small area of the CMAT would be sited on land designated as Green 
Belt extending to c.1.3Ha in area.  The General Arrangement Plans (sheet 2 of 5) 
indicate that this area of the CMAT would be utilised as aggregates storage yard 
and this element of the proposals could be considered, on a prima-facie level, to 
be contrary to Policies CSSP4 and PMD6.  Paragraph 90 of the NPPF states that 
local transport infrastructure which can demonstrate a requirement for a Green 
Belt location is not inappropriate in a Green Belt provided it preserves the 
openness of the Green Belt and does not conflict with the purposes of including 
land in Green Belt.  Extracts from the applicant’s Masterplanning Statement (ref. 
6.2.5.A) and Planning Policy Compliance Statement (ref. 6.2.1.A) refer to the 
engineering requirements influencing the alignment of the railway line and it is 
accepted that the incursion into the Green Belt is unavoidable.  It is considered 
that the railway line would preserve the openness of the Green Belt and would not 
conflict materially with the purposes of including land in a Green Belt.  The 
applicant cites a number of factors promoted as very special circumstances 
supporting the area of CMAT within the Green Belt.  It is considered that the 
factors set out at paragraph 4.158 of the Planning Policy Compliance Statement 
(ref. 6.2.1.A) clearly outweigh the harm to the Green Belt.

6.28 Other Relevant Local Planning Guidance

Tilbury Development Framework (October 2017)

In October 2017 the Council’s Cabinet approved the ‘Tilbury Development 
Framework’.  The purpose of this document is described as to stimulate positive 
outcomes, facilitate and ultimately coordinate on-going regeneration and the 
associated intermediate interventions in Tilbury for creating a better living and 
working environment.  The Framework identified the following strategic objectives:

 integrate projects to deliver place;
 enhance public realm;
 facilitate employment and skills;
 improve access and movement; and

Page 93



 balance development and environment.

However, the Framework notes that it is not intended to constitute part of the 
statutory Development Plan for Thurrock, and will not be formally adopted as a 
Supplementary Planning Document (SPD).  Nevertheless, the Framework reflects 
a number of the Development Plan policy objectives referred to above in balancing 
the support of economic growth with environmental issues, whilst enhancing public 
realm and the sense of place.

6.29 Thurrock Design Guide – Design Strategy SPD (2017)

This strategy was the subject to consultation in 2016 and was adopted as a 
supplementary planning document in 2017.  It is a material consideration in the 
determination of planning applications and provides detailed guidance on the 
application of Core Strategy policies, in particular policy PMD2 (Design and 
Layout).  The SPD is consistent with the design principles expressed in the NPPF 
(Section 2) and emphasises the crucial importance of good design in the creation 
of place.  Section 4 of the document sets out a number of key design requirements 
for commercial and industrial typologies including:

 tree planting and a strong landscape framework;
 convenient pedestrian and cycle linkages;
 well defined corners fronting the public realm; and
 opportunities for SUDS.

Page 94



7. Consideration of Local Impacts

7.1 The submitted ES and supporting documentation sets out a wide ranging 
assessment of the development proposal, its impacts and proposed mitigation 
measures.  Thurrock Council accepts that the chapters of the ES address the 
range of issues that are of a local concern to the authority.  The following section 
sets out the Council’s view of the local impacts of the development.

7.2 Consideration of mitigation measures which could address the negative impacts 
identified in the relevant sections are also addressed.

7.3 Socio-economics

7.3.1 This topic is considered by chapter 7 of the ES and by the Equalities Impact 
Assessment (ref. 6.6).

7.3.2 During the construction phase of the development TC agrees that the likely 
significant socio-economic impacts will be associated with employment, local skills 
and training, impacts associated with the Gross Value Added and the impacts on 
Tilbury Fort as a tourism receptor.  Table 7.17 of the ES notes that, at 2.5% of 
residents aged 16-64, the Job Seeker’s Allowance claimant count for Tilbury Town 
(March 2017) is higher than the average for Thurrock, Essex and England.  2011 
Census data expressed in table 7.13 of the ES confirms that Tilbury Town has 
lower levels of economic activity than the Thurrock and Essex average.  In 
addition, this table details the significantly higher long-term unemployment rate for 
Tilbury Town compared to Thurrock as a whole and Essex.

7.3.3 Table 7.19 of the ES predicts that a maximum of 266 full-time equivalent would be 
created during the construction phase, including up to 57 ‘local’ jobs.  The 
generation of employment during construction is supported by TC as a direct, 
positive and temporary impact of moderate significance.  TC is supportive of the 
intention of the applicant to enter into a s106 agreement in order to secure 
promotion and implementation of an Employment and Skills Strategy during 
construction and operation of the development.  The draft Strategy includes 
commitments by the applicant to employ additional employees from the local area 
during the construction phase.

7.3.4 During construction of the development the ES refers to the potential for 
approximately £18.3 million Gross Value Added to the regional economy and 
approximately £22.4 million Gross Value Added to the national economy.  TC 
considers these construction phase impacts to be positive and of moderate 
significance.

7.3.5 Tilbury Fort to the west of the Main Site is a tourism destination and this function of 
the Fort is considered by the ES under the heading of socio-economic impacts.  
Construction activities on the Main Site and the Infrastructure Corridor to the north 

Page 95



of the Fort have the potential to impact upon this tourism and despite the presence 
of some screening on the Main Site, construction activities would partly impact on 
easterly views from the Fort.  TC agrees with the ES assessment of negative, 
temporary impacts of minor significance on tourism receptors.

7.3.6 TC considers that, during operation, the development will result in clear benefits to 
the economy of Thurrock and the wider region.  Most importantly, the potential for 
the development to generate up to 527 net additional jobs for the region and up to 
868 net additional jobs nation-wide is considered to be a positive impact.  The ES 
identifies the potential for up to 138 new ‘local’ jobs and the Employment and Skills 
Strategy, to be secured by the s106 agreement, will include measures to maximise 
the potential for local people to access employment opportunities.  This positive 
impact of the proposals is strongly supported by the TC.

7.3.7 The ES also identifies a number of positive impacts on socio-economic 
characteristics, albeit of minor or negligible significance.  These positive impacts 
comprise:

 demographics (working age population);
 qualifications and employment sectors;
 increased economic activity and reduction in job seekers;
 increase in average wages;
 deprivation and social grade;
 stimulus to housing supply; and
 potential reduction in crime through increased economic activity.

7.3.8 All of the above contribute as positive socio-economic factors weighing in favour of 
the proposals.

7.3.9 Tilbury Fort has been assessed in the ES as a tourism / business receptor, as well 
as being considered separately as a heritage asset and as part of the landscape 
and visual impact assessment.  TC agrees with the conclusions of the ES that the 
operation of the proposed development could result in some minor negative 
impacts on the Fort as a tourist business.  However, these impacts are considered 
to be of a lesser significance compared to the moderate positive socio-economic 
impacts associated with economic activity and new job creation.

7.4 Health

7.4.1 Chapter 8 of the ES considers the likely health impacts of the proposals on the 
local population during construction and operation.  In a consultation response to 
PINS responding to the applicant’s request for an EIA Scoping Opinion, TC’s 
Public Health Team requested the submission of a Health Impact Assessment to 
accompany the DCO application.  The Scoping Opinion issued by the SoS in May 
2017 noted that the Applicant intended to provide a Health and Wellbeing 

Page 96



Assessment as part of the ES.  The SoS advised that the applicant should have 
regard to the responses received from the relevant consultees regarding health, 
and in particular to the comments from the Public Health England and Thurrock 
Borough Council.

7.4.2 In response to chapter 8 of the ES, TC Public Health confirm that the methodology 
selected appears sound and its scope covers everything expected in relation to 
Human Health.  Nevertheless, there are some concerns regarding the level of 
granularity of the ES assessment in terms of the specific community of Tilbury that 
will be most affected by the proposals.  It is further noted that a number of health 
impacts are assessed as direct, negative and permanent during operation of the 
development, although some of these impacts are rated as resulting in ‘negligible’ 
or ‘minor’ health impacts.  Nevertheless, because of the health inequalities 
particular to residents living in Tilbury, small changes in the environment could 
potentially have further additional detrimental impacts on health outcomes for local 
residents.

7.4.3 TC‘s Public Health’s preference, given the size and nature of the development and 
its proximity to a population that experiences health inequalities, would be for the 
submission of a health impact assessment in its own right.  Such an assessment 
could enable a better understanding of the overall health impacts.  Nevertheless, 
as noted above, the ES Chapter 8 methodology and scope is considered to be 
sound.

7.4.4 Whilst the scope of the assessment is considered to be correct, ward level data 
could be drawn upon in making the assessment as some of the tables of data 
included within the ES do not include this level of detail.  For example:

7.4.5 Table 8.4 (page 8-17 - Average Life Expectancy at birth taken from Local Health 
data 2017) could include reference to - 
 Life expectancy for males in Tilbury Riverside & Thurrock Park Ward (75 

years) and Tilbury St. Chads Ward (76.3 years) - lower than the Thurrock 
(79.1 years,) and national (79.4 years) averages,

 Life expectancy for females in Tilbury Riverside & Thurrock Park Ward (79 
years) and Tilbury St. Chads (80 years) - lower than the Thurrock (82.5 
years) and national (83.1 years) averages.

7.4.6 Table 8.5 (page 8-18 - Incidence of disease under 75 mortality rate – 
cardiovascular, cancer and diabetes taken from Local Health Data, 2017) could 
include reference to -
 Premature mortality rates for conditions for deaths from all causes- the 

Standardised Mortality Ratio (SMR) for under 75’s is 145.4 in Tilbury 
Riverside & Thurrock Park Ward and 148.7 in Tilbury St. Chads Ward - 
higher than both the Thurrock (103) and England (100) averages,

Page 97



 Deaths and early deaths that could largely be prevented – circulatory disease 
(all ages) and respiratory disease deaths are higher than the Thurrock and 
national averages in both wards that comprise Tilbury,

 In Tilbury St. Chads ward premature deaths from Coronary Heart Disease 
(CHD) for all ages (223.2 SMR) are higher than the Thurrock (114.9) and 
National (100) averages,

 In Tilbury Riverside & Thurrock Park ward premature deaths from CHD (all 
ages) measured by SMR is 150 - higher than the national (100) average,

 Premature deaths from cancer across all ages measured by SMR is 130.9 - 
higher than the national (100) average,

 Deaths or early deaths from stroke are higher than the National (100) 
average in Tilbury Riverside & Thurrock Park Ward (173.1 SMR).

7.4.7 Table 8.7 (page 8-20 - Percentage of obese children and excess weight in adults, 
taken from Local Health Data, 2017) could include reference to -
 Childhood obesity –13% of 4-5 year olds in Tilbury - higher than the national 

average (9.3%).  Of 10-11 year olds 26.2% children in Tilbury are obese - 
higher than the national (19.3%) average.

7.4.8 Statistics from Local Health data, 2017 for Tilbury, although not forming part of the 
ES, could nevertheless be useful in the assessment of health impacts as follows:

 Poverty - 38.6% (Tilbury St. Chads Ward) and 40.2% (Tilbury Riverside & 
Thurrock Park Ward) of children are living in poverty - higher than the 
Thurrock (21.8%) and national averages (19.9%),

 Deprivation - Tilbury Riverside & Thurrock Park Ward (36.6) and Tilbury St. 
Chads Ward (40.1) have a higher IMD score than Thurrock (21.6) and the 
national (21.8) averages,

 Limiting long term illness/disability –18.4% of people in Tilbury St. Chads 
Ward are living with a long-term condition - higher than the national average 
(17.6%),

 Hospital admissions for Coronary Obstructive Pulmonary Disease (COPD) - 
the Standardised Admission Ratio (SAR) is significantly higher for Tilbury 
(209) than the Thurrock (118.6) and national (100) averages,

 Incidence of lung cancer - the Standardised Incidence Ratio (SIR) in both 
Tilbury wards is 122.9,

 Social Isolation (based on number of pensioners living alone) – the 
percentage of people living in Tilbury Riverside & Thurrock Park living in 
social isolation is higher than the Thurrock (31.9%) and National (31.5%) 
averages.

7.4.9 The statistics above suggest that existing Tilbury residents are more likely to be 
living in poverty and deprivation and are more likely to die at a younger age from 
conditions that could be addressed by improved environmental conditions.  There 
are higher proportions of older people living alone, leaving them at risk of social 

Page 98



isolation.  Additionally, childhood obesity is a key health priority in this area.  
Although, as noted above, the methodology used in the ES is considered sound, 
the ward level data referred to above may be of assistance in describing the 
particular characteristics of Tilbury.

7.4.10 Noise and Vibration

The ES assessment that daytime construction noise is likely to have a health 
impact on local residents, particularly those living in close proximity to the 
proposed development, is noted.  Paragraph 8.75 of the ES notes that ‘there are 
likely to be health impacts related to the operation of the Tilbury2 site’.  Although 
these increases are not judged to have a significant health impact on local 
residents, it is notable that residents in Tilbury close to the site may already 
experience health inequalities (described above), such that even small changes to 
the noise levels may impact or further impact on health.  On-Shore Power should 
be implemented as a means of strengthening the mitigation around the potential 
impacts on noise, albeit PoTLL have explained in submissions to the Examination 
that whilst they can future proof the proposal to allow for Shore Power, the current 
vessel fleet is not equipped to operate shore power nor is there grid capacity.

7.4.11 Lighting

The proposed mitigation measures included in the ES in relation to lighting are 
considered sufficient to reduce some of the impacts of lighting in relation to the 
proposed development.

7.4.12 Air Quality

The mitigation measures included in the Operation Management Plan and ES 
(chapter on Air Quality) are considered sufficient in reducing some of the impacts 
of air quality.  The use of cleaner, greener technology and vehicles to further 
reduce the impacts relating to increased traffic into/out of the site is encouraged as 
is the use of On-Shore power as a means of strengthening the mitigation of 
potential impacts on air quality.  It is noted that the Operational Management Plan 
indicates that where vehicles are under its control – including the various mobile 
plant and equipment that are likely to be used on the RoRo terminal and the 
CMAT operations, PoTLL will ensure these all meet the latest EU emission 
standard requirements (Euro VI) for low emission engines.

7.4.13 Transport, Traffic and Connectivity

The contribution, via the Active Travel Study, towards developing walking/cycling 
infrastructure that promotes active travel for employees and other visitors to the 
site is noted.  This would be beneficial in not only reducing impacts on air quality 
but also in promoting physical activity.  Linking new infrastructure to existing 
walking/cycle pathways, would further encourage local residents to participate in 

Page 99



physical activity and may promote social cohesion which is beneficial for mental 
health and wellbeing.

7.4.14 Neighbourhood Quality (including Visual Amenity)

The adverse impacts on neighbourhood quality and visual amenity (see LVIA) are 
noted and further mitigation measures centred on visual amenity could be 
explored.

7.4.15 Open Space and Active Travel incorporating Physical Activity

It is considered that the mitigation measures included in the ES are sufficient for 
supporting people to participate in active travel.  The main area where mitigation 
measures require clarification relates to public access to the riverfront.  The ES 
and associated documents include information around developing links between 
existing and new walking and cycling infrastructure, which is beneficial for health 
by creating links to other local communities and providing opportunities for 
physical activity.  However, in order to encourage use, the infrastructure needs to 
be visually appealing, feel safe at all times and be accessible for all.  The draft 
Active Travel Study, to be secured via a s106 agreement, should in particular 
provide walking and cycling infrastructure along the River Thames riverfront which 
exploits the riverside location and provides a space for users to enjoy views in 
order to maximise health benefits.

7.4.16 Direct Employment and Other Economic Impacts; Education and Training 
Opportunities

The Employment and Skills Strategy, to be secured by s106 legal agreement, is 
supported in terms of meeting local employment need in recognition of the 
employment opportunities that would be created by the proposed development at 
both construction and operational stages.

7.5 Landscape character and visual amenity

7.5.1 As noted by the Councils’ relevant representation, it is considered that the 
landscape and visual impact assessment has been undertaken using appropriate 
methodology.  Since the submission of the Council’s relevant representation the 
applicant has produced an additional visibility cross-section drawing to the site 
from West Tilbury.  This submission addresses the previous comment that an 
additional viewpoint from the public right of way south of West Tilbury should be 
provided.  The visibility modelling was used as it was clear that views from key 
receptors were limited due to the existing topography and vegetation.

7.5.2 Chapter 9 of the ES contains a thorough analysis of predicted landscape and 
visual impacts during the construction and operation of the development.  In 
particular, tables 9.16 and 9.17 summarise the predicted impacts on visual 

Page 100



receptors immediately following the completion of construction and at a point in 
time 25 years following completion.  In addition, table 9.19 shows predicted 
residual impacts on visual amenity with the adoption of further mitigation measures, 
described by table 9.18.  TC notes that ‘substantial – moderate significance’ 
adverse visual effects are modelled for residential receptors at Tilbury (south) and 
similar ‘substantial – moderate significance’ adverse effects for users of footpath 
no. 146 and the permissive path adjacent to Tilbury Fort (representative 
viewpoints 17 and 28).

7.5.3 The residual visual effects on users of the recreation / tourist facilities at Tilbury 
Fort (representative viewpoints 27, 59 and 62) modelled in table 9.19 as of 
‘moderate to slight significance’ adverse.  Although the significance of visual 
impact on these receptors is predicted to be ‘moderate to slight’ it is nevertheless 
an adverse visual effect on a recreation / tourist facility.  TC’s relevant 
representation highlighted the potential visual impacts of the development, 
including berthed vessels at the extended jetty, on the visual amenity of visitors to 
the Fort.  The ES correctly predicts an adverse impact and it will be a matter for 
the Examining Authority to weigh this matter in the balance of considerations.

7.5.4 TC’s relevant representation also referred to the potential adverse impact of new 
lighting along the infrastructure corridor and its relationship to Tilbury Fort.  It is 
noted that the Preliminary Lighting Strategy and Assessment (ref. 6.2 9.J) and 
Indicative External Lighting Layout drawings suggest that road lighting will be 
absent from the proposals aside from the new St. Andrew’s Road and Fort Road 
junctions.  Nevertheless, as noted by the ES (para. 9.249) the effects of proposed 
artificial lighting on local visual amenity would be ‘adverse’.  However, as the site 
lies close to the waste water treatment works and Tilbury Docks complex which 
are characterised by artificial lighting for operational reasons, the significance of 
this adverse visual impact would be reduced.

7.5.5 With reference to landscape and visual mitigation, table 9.15 of the ES refers to a 
‘Landscape Strategy’ (ref. Figure 9.9) which would be maintained and managed 
through the proposed Landscape and Ecological Management Plan (ref. 6.2 10.P).  
TC’s relevant representation suggested that a more robust landscape mitigation 
package could be provided, which could also assist in providing additional 
ecological mitigation.  At the time of drafting this LIR potential further landscape 
mitigation proposals are under discussion between TC and the applicant.  These 
measures could include a fund to enable off-site landscape mitigation measures to 
be implemented.   It is noted that the draft DCO (ref. 3.1) includes the Landscape 
and Ecology Management Plan as a ‘compliance’ influencing the construction and 
operation of the development.

7.6 Terrestrial Ecology

Page 101



7.6.1 The draft SOCG confirms TC’s agreement that the ecological value of the site is 
understood and that the ES contains an appropriate body of survey data to enable 
an assessment of the impacts of the proposals on terrestrial ecology.

7.6.2 In summary, the surveys within the ES conclude that the site currently supports a 
range of important habitats, plants and animals.  Habitats within the non-statutory 
Lytag Brownfield and Tilbury Centre Local Wildlife Sites (LoWS), located within the 
Main Site and mapped within document ref. 10.B, support biodiversity resources 
up to National levels of importance.  In addition, a number of rare and important 
plants, lichens and invertebrates have been recorded on-site, as well as protected 
and other notable species.

7.6.3 Potential impacts on terrestrial ecology are addressed from paragraph 10.328 of 
the ES.

7.6.4 Statutory Nature Conservation Designations:

With regard to the impact of the proposals on statutory nature conservation 
designations, Table 10.46 of the ES lists several nearby Thurrock SSSIs (Lion Pit, 
Grays Thurrock Chalk Pit, Hangman’s Wood & Deneholes and Globe Pit as 
‘scoped out’ of further assessment on the basis that there would be no potential 
impact vector.  TC agrees with this conclusion.

7.6.5 The Thames Estuary and Marshes SPA / Ramsar site is located on the northern 
side of the River Thames within Thurrock and some 2.4km to the east of the Main 
Site.  A Habitat Regulations Assessment Report (ref. 6.2 10.O) considers whether 
the proposals would have any likely significant effects on this statutory designation 
with reference to (inter-alia) habitat loss, air quality and disturbance from shipping, 
noise, lighting or human activity.  The conclusions of the HRA report that the 
development will not have any likely significant impacts on features of qualifying 
interest, are noted.

7.6.6 Non-Statutory Nature Conservation Designations

The ES confirms that the construction of the development on the Main Site will 
result in the almost complete removal of existing habitats.  The Tilbury Centre 
LoWS extending to 2.6 hectares in area would be lost to development along with 
11.7 hectares of the Lytag Brownfield LoWS (leaving a 0.7 hectare area retained).  
The construction of rail and road infrastructure within the Infrastructure Corridor 
would also result in the loss of part of the Tilbury Marshes LoWS.  An area of 2.5 
hectares from the total Tilbury Marshes LoWS designation of 39.8 hectares would 
be lost.  The loss and partial loss of these LoWS is considered to be a negative 
impact.  In particular, the Lytag Brownfield and Tilbury Centre LoWs support 
important biodiversity resources.  Paragraph 10.342 of the ES notes that these two 
LoWS are arguably of National and Regional value respectively for their 

Page 102



invertebrate, lichen and plant assemblages and that unmitigated losses of these 
two LoWS would be a significant adverse impact.

7.6.7 During the operation of the development the effects on air quality and the impacts 
of overspill lighting from the infrastructure corridor on the remainder of the Tilbury 
Marshes LoWS are assessed.  The ES concludes that no significant impacts 
would occur and TC concurs with this assessment.  The operational impact of the 
development on the adjoining non-statutory nature conservation designation is 
therefore neutral.

7.6.8 Protected Species

The ecological surveys forming appendices to the ES and summarised within the 
ES itself reveal the presence of water voles, badgers, bats, reptiles and nesting 
birds.  TC is pleased to note that measures to avoid, mitigate and compensate 
impacts on these ecological receptors are described in the Construction 
Environmental Management Plan and the Landscape and Ecological Management 
Plan.

7.6.9 TC has not yet been provided with any details of the proposed off-site 
compensation site; although it is understood that the process of securing a site is 
well-advanced.  It is further understood that the site currently being considered is 
within the Borough which is welcomed.  However, until details of this site are 
provided and its suitability is assessed it is not possible to determine whether the 
sum of the on-site mitigation and off-site compensation measures will result in no 
net loss of biodiversity in the longer term.

7.6.10 TC notes the intention to capture and relocate water voles to new habitat on land 
north-east of the CMAT and to create an artificial badger sett in this location.  The 
applicant recognises the need to ensure that the new receptors are suitable prior 
to construction commencing and TC welcomes plans to commence constructing 
the new mitigation features this year.  The residual impact of the proposals on 
water voles is assessed in the ES as neutral and TC agrees with this conclusion.  
As there would be some loss of badger foraging habitat TC agrees with the 
conclusions of the ES that the impact of the proposals on the badger population is 
a neutral to minor negative impact, but only of local-level significance.

7.6.11 The ES notes that the loss of the bat roost (Building B7) would be compensated by 
the provision of bat boxes.  TC agrees that the loss of this roost population is a 
neutral to minor negative impact, but only of local-level significance.

7.6.12 Reptile populations (common lizard, slow worm, grass snake and adder) on the 
site will need to be trapped and translocated to on-site and off-site receptor 
habitats.  The ES concedes that land to the north-east of the CMAT will not have 
capacity to accommodate all of the potential reptile specimens and the Ecological 
Mitigation and Compensation Plan (EMCP) will need to fully detail the location, 

Page 103



current condition, proposed enhancements and management arrangements for 
off-site habitats.  TC agrees with the analysis of the ES that the impacts on reptiles 
is likely to be net negative and significant at Borough / District level without 
comprehensive off-site mitigation that will be brought forward in the EMCP.  

7.6.13 Section 41 Habitats

The construction of the development would, if unmitigated, have a significant 
adverse impact on the priority open mosaic habitat on previously developed land.  
The proposals therefore rely on avoiding a net loss of biodiversity through the 
creation of compensatory habitat.  The applicant commits to the production of the 
EMCP during the examination and it is understood that the applicant is currently in 
negotiation with relevant interests prior to the completion and submission of the 
document.  The EMCP will be an important document in mitigating the impacts of 
the proposals on terrestrial ecology.  The ES (paragraph 10.318) notes an 
expectation that the EMCP will form an enforceable part of any DCO and TC notes 
that off-site ecological mitigation is referred to at Schedule 2, Part 1(5) of the draft 
DCO.  TC looks forward to receiving and assessing the draft EMCP as soon as it 
becomes available.

7.7 Terrestrial Archaeology and Built Heritage

7.7.1 The summary of main issues and impacts within TC’s Relevant Representation 
identified this item as an important consideration.  This Representation also 
included a summary of the then current position from the main TC service areas, 
including the Historic Environment Advisor at Essex County Council who advise 
TC under a service level agreement.  Since the submission of the Relevant 
Representation TC have been progressing a Statement of Common Ground with 
POTLL, which includes reference to terrestrial archaeology and built heritage.  In 
line with PINS guidance for the content of LIR’s this document is a statement of 
potential impacts and not a balancing exercise between harm and benefit.  
However, reference is made to TC’s accompanying Written Representation which 
sets out a formal view on the application having balanced benefit and harm.

7.7.2 Terrestrial Archaeology

TC agrees that the study area, the methodology and the baseline environment 
used to assess the impacts on terrestrial archaeology as set out in chapter 12 of 
the ES are appropriate and adequate.  Potential impacts on terrestrial archaeology 
are limited to the construction phase of the development.  Paragraph 12.155 of the 
ES correctly states that piling, ground improvement works and the installation of 
services and drainage infrastructure could have a direct and indirect adverse effect 
on potential archaeological remains within buried peat deposits.  However, 
assessed against Historic England guidance, the ES predicts that the worst-case 
impact of piling and ground improvement works will be within or close to the 
acceptable zone of disturbance.

Page 104



7.7.3 The proposals refer to embedded mitigation measures to address impacts on 
terrestrial archaeology, comprising the Construction Environment Management 
Plan (ref. 6.9) and the Written Scheme of Investigation (WSI) for Terrestrial 
Archaeological Mitigation (ES appendix 12.D).  The WSI is further referred to as 
potential further mitigation by the ES (paras.12.217 – 12.222 and Tables 12.15 (a) 
and (b).  TC agree that these measures are adequate to minimise impacts on 
terrestrial archaeology during construction and operation of the proposed 
development.  Consequently, the residual impact of the development is assessed 
as ‘neutral’ and TC agrees with this conclusion.  In order to secure the proposed 
mitigation measures, TC notes that Schedule 2, Part 1 (4) and (6) of the draft DCO 
establish the status of the CEMP and Terrestrial Archaeology WSI as ‘compliance’ 
documents influencing how development would be carried out.

7.7.4 Built Heritage
Background

7.7.5 The ES adopts a 2km study area around the site in order to assess potential 
impact on built heritage.  TC agrees the extent of this study and also supports the 
inclusion within the assessment two further Scheduled Monuments (Coalhouse 
Fort and Cliffe Fort) which are beyond the 2km study area.  It is notable that a 
substantial number of the designated built heritage assets within the study area 
are located south of the River Thames within Gravesend and immediately 
adjoining areas.  TC will not comment on the potential impacts of the proposals on 
these particular heritage assets.

7.7.6 TC agrees that the methodology and approach set out within the ES and Built 
Heritage Assessment (ref. 6.2.12.B) to assessing the significance and settings of 
the designated built heritage assets, and the potential impacts of the proposals 
upon their significance, is appropriate.  Accordingly the ‘Very High (International) 
sensitivity / value of both Tilbury Fort (Scheduled Monument) in particular and 
Coalhouse Fort (although outside of the 2km study area) is recognised.  Similar 
the ‘High’ sensitivity of the Grade II* listed Officers Barracks at Tilbury Fort, the 
Grade II* listed Tilbury Riverside Station and the Grade II listed World’s End Inn 
are clearly identified in the assessment.  There designated heritage assets are 
included within Table 12.9 of the ES which refers to assets that have the potential 
to experience significant effects (para. 12.109).

7.7.7 Potential Impacts – Construction

There are no designated or non-designated built heritage assets within the draft 
Tilbury2 Order Limits.  Within Thurrock, the closest designated asset to the site is 
Tilbury Fort.  The map showing the extent of the Tilbury Fort Scheduled Monument 
designation includes the moats, ramparts and adjoining land to the north, east and 
west of the main fortifications and batteries.  Such that the closest part of the 
designation is located approximately 190m to the west of the Main Site, although 

Page 105



the majority of the Scheduled Monument designation is a minimum of c.250m to 
the west of the Main Site.  As the designation includes part of the River Thames 
foreshore on the seaward side of the tidal defence, the proposed upstream RoRo 
berth would be located c.70m from the Scheduled Monument designation.

7.7.8 During the construction phase of the development impacts from associated noise, 
dust, vibration, traffic and lighting could impact on Tilbury Fort in addition to 
potential visual impact which could affect setting.  The ES notes that construction 
of the taller elements on the Main Site will be ‘visibly prominent’ (para. 12.178) and 
will add to the industrial character surrounding the Fort thereby affecting its setting.  
The construction of the new and extended jetties, although lower structures, would 
also be clearly visible from the Fort.  Embedded measures within the CEMP and 
CTMP are likely to mitigate the impacts from noise, dust, vibration and traffic.  
Nevertheless, although the construction phase is temporary and accounting for 
embedded mitigation, there would still be an impact on Tilbury Fort arising from 
construction activity and an industrial character affecting the setting of the Fort.  
The significance of this impact is assessed as ‘Moderate to Major Adverse’ by 
Table 12.12 of the ES.

7.7.9 The Grade II* listed Officer Barracks is sited within Tilbury Fort and behind the 
earthworks and ramparts, which afford some screening between the heritage 
asset and the Main Site.  Nevertheless, construction of the taller elements on the 
Main Site would be visible and would affect the setting of the listed building.  As 
above, embedded mitigation will address some of the impacts during the 
construction phase.  However, the visual effects on the setting of this asset are 
assessed as of ‘Moderate to Major Adverse’ significance.

7.7.10 The Tilbury Riverside Station, also Grade II* listed, is located c.900m to the west 
of the proposed extended RoRo terminal and its existing setting is influenced 
partly (to the west, north and north-east) by the industrial context of Tilbury Port.  
Nevertheless, the open views from the asset downstream along the River Thames 
towards the site result in some visual impact upon its setting.  The significance of 
this effect is described as ‘Minor to Moderate Adverse’ by Table 12.12 of the ES.  
Similar ‘Minor to Moderate Adverse’ significance impacts are predicted for the 
setting of the World’s End Inn.

7.7.11 Coalhouse Fort Scheduled Monument is c.2.9km east of the Main Site and any 
impacts on this asset during construction will be limited to long-distance views of 
the taller elements on the Main Site.  The significance of this construction impact 
on Coalhouse Fort is assessed as ‘Neutral to Minor Adverse’.

7.7.12 TC concurs with the ‘headline’ conclusions of the ES in identifying a range of 
adverse impacts on designated heritage assets in Thurrock during the construction 
phase.

7.7.13 Potential Impacts – Operation

Page 106



Paragraph 12.190 of the ES notes that the operational phase of the development 
is likely to have potential permanent, direct impacts of the setting of built heritage 
assets surrounding the site.  TC agrees with this summary.

7.7.14 Tilbury Fort: this asset has a ‘very high’ sensitivity.  The existing industrial 
character of POTLL found to the west of the Fort would be extended to the east 
onto the site of the former Tilbury Power Station.  The operation of the 
development will therefore affect the setting of the asset through the visual 
impacts of new buildings, structures, lighting, principally located on the Main Site 
as well as the visual impact of berthed vessels.  The Built Heritage Assessment 
(ref. 6.2.12.B) and paragraphs 12.191 to 12.205 of the ES provide a thorough 
analysis of the potential operational impacts on Tilbury Fort and there is no need 
for this report to repeat this analysis.  The significance of operational impact on 
this scheduled monument is assessed as ‘Moderate to Major Adverse’ and TC 
agrees that there would be adverse impact on setting to this level of significance.

7.7.15 Officers Barracks: the partial screening effect of the Fort’s ramparts (noted above) 
has some effect in limiting inter-visibility between this heritage asset and the Main 
Site as seen from the Parade Ground inside the Fort.  Views from elevated 
positions on the western Fort ramparts frame the Barracks in the background 
context of the Main Site and the existing waste water treatment works.  The 
applicant’s assessment of an adverse impact on the setting of this asset of 
‘Moderate’ significance is not disputed.

7.7.16 Riverside Station / World’s End Inn / Coalhouse Fort: the ES identifies adverse 
impacts on the setting of these heritage assets of ‘Minor Adverse’ significance.  TC 
agrees with the conclusion of adverse impact on these assets.

7.7.17 Potential Further Mitigation

Measures for the further mitigation of impacts on built heritage, beyond the 
embedded mitigation measures are described by paragraphs 12.230 to 12.236 of 
the ES.

7.7.18 The retention of existing mature pine trees along the western boundary of the Main 
Site will be of some benefit in screening the lowest elements of the development.  
However, this landscaping cannot provide effective screening of the taller 
elements of the development.  It is acknowledged that the Landscape and 
Ecological Management Plan could secure the retention of trees and compliance 
with this Plan could be a requirement of the DCO.

7.7.19 TC also note that the external appearance of buildings could also be a 
requirement of the DCO and that colours of finishing materials could to a degree 
reduce visual impact.  TC notes that this potential requirement could not apply to 
areas of container storage or the aggregates storage yard.

Page 107



7.7.20 The potential DCO requirement for the submission and approval of a lighting 
strategy for the site is noted and TC acknowledges the benefits of modern, well 
designed and efficient external lighting systems.  Nevertheless, for operational 
reasons there will be a need for a number of tall lighting columns which will impact 
to a degree on the setting of heritage assets.

7.7.21 Paragraph 12.235 of the ES refers to potential enhancements to Tilbury Fort in the 
form of improvements to access, wayfinding and car parking.  These potential 
enhancements could be secured via a s.106 agreement between POTLL and TC, 
the heads of terms of which are set out in document reference 5.3.  The heads of 
terms are in draft form and are still to be agreed between the parties but 
nevertheless include a financial contribution to be used partly for the investigation 
and implementation of tourism and heritage enhancements at the Fort.  The draft 
heads of terms also refer to potential improvements to the highway network 
outside of the Order Limits via an Active Travel Study.  The draft travel 
improvements identified by the Study include improvements to walking and cycling 
links in the area in order to better connect Tilbury Fort and the riverfront with 
Tilbury town and the Tilbury ferry terminal.  In principle TC supports these 
measures which could enhance the Fort as a tourism destination and better 
connect the Fort.

7.7.22 Nevertheless, table 12.16 of the ES, which identifies residual impacts on built 
heritage assets, ascribes an ‘Moderate Adverse’ impact on both Tilbury Fort and 
the Officers Barracks and ‘Minor Adverse’ impacts on the remaining Thurrock 
heritage assets described above.  Therefore, with all of the embedded and 
additional mitigation measures there is still adverse impact on built heritage 
asserts and particularly on Tilbury Fort and the Officers Barracks.  The Written 
Representation to be submitted by TC will weigh this adverse impact in the 
balance of considerations.

7.8 Land side transport

7.8.1 Main Access Routing and Traffic Impact – Summary

The proposed development will see a significant increase in traffic movement on 
the A1089 and A13 (strategic road network (SRN)), which will place increased 
pressure on the local road network as a result.  This increased pressure will be 
particularly focused around the main access junction between the A1089 Dock 
Approach Road and Dock Road Tilbury (the Asda roundabout).

7.8.2 The SRN comprises the A1089 and that part of St. Andrew’s Road south of the 
Asda roundabout and extending to the existing entrance to Tilbury Docks.  This is 
an asset of Highways England and the suitability of increased use of these roads 
falls within the remit of Highways England as a result.  However, TC in its function 
as the local highways authority has responsibility for roads that connect to the 

Page 108



SRN and, as such, comments with regards to potential highways impact are made 
in accordance with the impact on the local road network.

7.8.3 Whilst the local highways authority does not have jurisdiction over the increased 
use of this junction, TC can provide comment on this proposal in the context of the 
impact on the local road network.

7.8.4 Core Strategy Policy PMD10: Transport Assessments and Travel Plans

The application is supported by a Transport Assessment (TA) which identifies that 
there will be a significant increase in traffic flows as a result of the proposed Port 
expansion, particularly on the Asda roundabout junction and at junction 30 of the 
M25.  The impact on junction 30 will not be commented on by TC as there is no 
local road network directly accessing this junction, which is within the remit of 
Highways England to assess and provide comment.  However, comments are 
made in relation to impact on the Asda roundabout junction as Dock Road and 
Thurrock Park Way, both part of the local road network, directly access this 
junction.  The evidence submitted identifies that the Asda roundabout junction is 
nearing capacity in peak periods.  The increased traffic movements associated 
with the development proposal will likely trigger the requirement for improvement, 
to ensure that the network is not severely adversely affected.

7.8.5 The proposed improvements seek to provide a lane segregation scheme on the 
A1089 St. Andrews Road arm of the junction, to improve lane discipline as a 
safety improvement.  This scheme does not appear to address the capacity issues 
in the modelling, particularly with regard to traffic movement south from the A1089 
Dock Road.

7.8.6 The layout of the Asda roundabout junction is a five-arm roundabout, with adverse 
camber, with the A1089 Dock Approach Road at 12 o'clock, the London 
Distribution Park (Windrush Road) at 2 o'clock, Dock Road, Tilbury at 5 o'clock, 
A1089 St. Andrew's Road at 7 o'clock and Thurrock Park Way at 9 o'clock.  The 
evidence of the TA identifies that the majority of traffic flow with be via the A1089 
Dock Road and the A1089 St. Andrew's Road and vice versa.

7.8.7 The traffic movement patterns of the London Distribution Park (Windrush Road), 
Dock Road and Thurrock Park Way identify that the traffic movements are mainly 
to and from the A1089 Dock Approach Road.  Upon review of the TA RFCs for this 
junction, it is identified that the current morning peak hour flows show RFC rates 
that are below what the local highways authority would consider for intervention; 
save for the A1089 Dock Approach Road, which is at capacity and meets the 
criteria for intervention.  When interpreting the RFC for the 2027 peak hour with 
the proposed development, there is a significant decrease in reserved capacity on 
Dock Road, which could require intervention.

Page 109



7.8.8 However, the TA suggests that drivers would "adjust their behaviour" accordingly 
(para. 7.4.13).  This opinion is queried as it is not based on any empirical data that 
is provided within the TA.  On this basis the proposed improvement is queried by 
the local highways authority and it is suggested that an improved junction 
enhancement should be investigated.

7.8.9 New Link Road to development proposals

The proposals seek to provide a new distributor road that would run parallel to the 
LTS railway line into the site and includes two new junctions: one at the Fort Road 
railway over bridge; and another to the west, where it meets Ferry Road.  The 
eastern access point is proposed as a priority junction with a spur road connecting 
this junction with Fort Road by way of a mini-roundabout junction.  In general this 
is agreed, subject to further design work on the detail of the access arrangement 
and details of the railway over bridge extension being provided and agreed by the 
local highways authority.  It is noted that Schedule 10, Part 7 of the Draft DCO 
comprises protective provisions for TC as local highways authority.

7.8.10 The western access is proposed as a ghosted right-turn lane, with Ferry Road as 
the minor arm, for access to Tilbury Port Gate 2, the London Cruise Terminal, the 
Tilbury-Gravesend ferry berth and other industrial sites.  At the pre-submission 
stage, it was requested by the local highways authority that this junction be 
upgraded to a signalised junction, with Toucan crossing facilities, due to the traffic 
impact at this junction and the cycle path which crosses the road at this point.

7.8.11 Unfortunately, at the time of writing there do not appear to have been any 
investigations into this suggestion which is disappointing, considering that this 
matter was raised before formal submission of the proposals.  From the pre-
submission discussions it emerged that the operation of Tilbury2 will include 
additional of Ro-Ro facilities to complement the existing facilities in the Port.  It 
was identified that there will be an increase in traffic movements between the 
existing and proposed facilities which will generally utilise Gate 2, accessed from 
Ferry Road.  As a result, there are likely to be a high proportion of left-turn 
movements into Ferry Road and right-turn movements out and it does not appear 
to be evidenced if this has been assessed as part of the proposals and whether a 
ghosted right-turn lane is appropriate.

7.8.12 Additionally, the presence of the cycle path does raise a potential concern with 
safety at this junction.  The applicant has stated the cycle path will help a modal 
shift away from private car trips, as this is a link from Tilbury railway station into 
the proposed development, as well as providing a facility for residents to access 
the riverfront from the cycle links to the east and west.  It is agreed that the 
sensitivity test does not identify a RFC that would raise concern.  However, when 
considering the importance of the cycle links to the riverfront and the potential 
routing of National Cycle Network 13 along this route, a case could be justified for 
the upgrading of this junction to a signalised junction.

Page 110



7.8.13 Furthermore, the applicant is proposing to install a Toucan Crossing to the west of 
this junction (Active Travel – Proposed Walking and Cycling Improvements).  It is 
considered preferable to combine these two conflict points at the junction and 
provide a better arrangement that could improve safety at the junction and have a 
negligible impact on congestion in this area.

7.8.14 Whilst the new junction of the Port access road and Ferry Road may not be 
contrary to Core Strategy policy PMD9 ((Road Network Hierarchy) in relation to 
congestion, it may not be appropriate in relation to highways safety and 
signalisation may be preferable.

7.8.15 Use of the A1089 for access to Tilbury2

The A1089 is the sole main access to the existing Tilbury Port and various 
logistics sites in Tilbury.  Alternative access can only be made via local road 
network which is not considered suitable for any HGV movement.  Currently, if 
there is an incident or if any planned maintenance on the SRN requires one 
direction or both directions to be closed, this causes significant impact on the local 
area and causes congestion.  This potential congestion issue is not just local to 
Tilbury, but also impacts nearby residential conurbations, such as Chadwell St. 
Mary, East Tilbury/Linford and Grays.

7.8.16 Incidentally, as part of the DP World London Gateway port development proposals 
(SI 2008 No. 1261: The London Gateway Port Harbour Empowerment Order), the 
port sought to use one means of access from the A1014 Manorway and this issue 
was identified.  A solution was to provide maintenance crossovers at key points 
along the route.  This system also allows for a quick deployment, so that the 
crossovers could be utilised in the event of a major incident.  This enables the 
local highways authority to undertake maintenance works and maintain access to 
the port by introducing a contra-flow system to manage traffic flow, negating the 
need to divert traffic through residential areas; to the benefit of highways efficiency 
and amenity.

7.8.17 On balance, it is considered that the development proposals will likely result in an 
increased impact at times when there is a lane closure and consideration should 
be made to providing maintenance cross-overs at key points along the A1089 dual 
carriageway to ensure that effective access along the SRN is maintained.  It is 
accepted that this will be a matter for Highways England.

7.8.18 Public Realm and sustainable transport proposals – Summary

The public realm and sustainable transport proposals in principle align with TC’s 
aims in this area and will assist with commuter and leisure route access to the 
riverside and improving walking and cycling links for the National Cycle Network 
and Thames trail links to Leigh-on-Sea.  The proposals seek to close public 

Page 111



footpath no.144 over the railway line; currently an at-grade facility with no 
pedestrian control mechanism.  The proposals will stop this access up, as the new 
railway line will make this crossing significantly worse in terms of safety and 
security of the railway line.

7.8.19 In principle, the stopping up of public footpath no. 144 across the railway line is 
supported as part of this proposal.  However, it should be progressed by diverting 
the public footpath so that it is re-aligned along the hairpin bridge crossing and the 
Fort Road over bridge.

7.8.20 Toucan Crossing on A1089 Ferry Road

This element of the proposals may not accord with Core Strategy policy PMD2 
(Design and Layout), which states at (v. Accessibility) that development proposals 
must allow easy and safe access for all members of the community.  As noted 
above, the location of this proposed crossing facility is in an isolated location.  At 
the pre-submission discussions, this facility was debated and the local highways 
authority considered that it would be better located at the new Ferry Road/Tilbury 
2 access road junction.

7.8.21 This suggested revised location would accord with Core Strategy policy PMD9, 
(Road Network Hierarchy) which refers to access on the road network and the 
suggested combination of two conflict points onto the network, would have a 
positive contribution to road safety and congestion.  As such the cycle path from 
the hairpin bridge could be located on the northern side of the carriageway to the 
Ferry Road junction and then a signalised junction, with a Toucan Crossing phase 
included, could be installed.  This would also remove the need for the cycle path 
that runs behind a drainage swale, along the current alignment of Ferry Road and 
provide a secure route to Tilbury Gate 2 and cruise terminal and link to the 
proposed cycle path on the south side of the new port access road to the east.

7.8.22 Footpath adjacent to sea defence structure

The proposed improvement to the footpath is queried.  The local highways 
authority advised the applicant in pre-submission discussions that the Environment 
Agency may object to any works on the seaward side of the flood defence, as this 
may reduce flood capacity.  In addition, it is not clear whether the proposed re-
surfacing scheme will locate the footpath above the high water level, so that it can 
be utilised at any time.

7.8.23 It is suggested that further investigation and clarification is required alongside 
review by the Environment Agency of this element of the proposals.  Pre-
submission discussions with the applicant also raised the issue of whether a 
pontoon bridge could be investigated, to potentially remove any Environment 
Agency objection and to ensure that the route could be used at all times.  Whilst 
this may be expensive to construct, it is likely that a facility of this nature would 

Page 112



better enhance the leisure route between the two historic areas of Tilbury Fort and 
Coalhouse Fort.  Officers are in dialogue with PoTLL regarding technical issues 
related to such a proposal given potential environmental and technical matters 
including a proposing a structure in proximity to the existing flood defence. 

7.8.24 Bridge access over the railway at Fort Road

The plans show a shared pedestrian / cycle surface along the re-aligned Fort 
Road to the railway over bridge, but stops short of the existing bridge location.  No 
details of how a shared surface facility could be advanced past this point are 
provided.  The applicant is encouraged to provide a shared facility to a likely 
connection point, such as the Brennan Road junction otherwise, the scheme will 
provide facilities with no onward connections; thus reducing its usefulness in terms 
of a cycling strategy.  This element of the scheme could be expanded to include a 
link to Brennan Road junction with Fort Road; particularly considering TC’s 
aspirations to extend National Cycle Network route 13 to Fort Road, via Brennan 
Road.

7.9 Hydrogeology & ground conditions

7.9.1 Prior to the formal submission of the application for a DCO the Council’s 
contaminated land officer reviewed a draft version of the ES chapter addressing 
this environmental topic which was circulated by the applicant.  The officer agreed 
that the effects of the proposals on hydrogeology and ground conditions in relation 
to physical effects, effect on geology and effects associated with ground 
contamination had been satisfactorily considered.  If the proposed primary 
mitigation, outlined in the draft ES chapter, was implemented the contaminated 
land officer was satisfied that ground contamination both known and suspected 
would be remediated to the required standard for the proposed end-use.

7.9.2 TC has reviewed the hydrogeology and ground conditions chapter of the submitted  
ES and relevant accompanying appendices (documents refs. 6.2.15.C, 6.2.15.F 
and 6.2.15.G).  With reference to the Asbestos Investigation and 
Recommendations Report (6.1.15.C) TC is satisfied that the measures within the 
report have addressed the management of current and potential asbestos 
containing material contamination within the proposed development.  TC notes 
that the following further investigations are proposed:

 a suspected fragment of asbestos was encountered close to MTP38.  
Additional excavations are therefore recommended along the bund;

 completion of site investigations in the RWE area and infrastructure corridor; 
and

 further investigation around the lake in the north-east to augment the data to 
date (MHP11 and MHP12).

Page 113



7.9.3 In addition, TC agrees that air monitoring is to be carried out by an independent 
UKAS accredited specialist during excavation of asbestos-contaminated soils.

7.9.4 Upon completion of the works set out in the Asbestos Investigation and 
Recommendations Report a verification report will be produced.  TC considers that 
the verification report will provide sufficient detail to clearly demonstrate that the 
remedial objectives have been met and that any residual material is compliant.

7.9.5 TC is therefore satisfied that the potential effects of the proposals on hydrogeology 
and ground conditions have been properly assessed by the application.  Provided 
that the proposed mitigation measures outlined within the ES, Construction 
Environmental Management Plan and Operational Management Plan are 
implemented TC is satisfied that ground conditions will be suitable for the 
proposed uses on-site.

7.10 Flood Risk and Water Resources

7.10.1 This topic is considered by chapter 16 of the ES and by the associated appendices 
to this chapter.

7.10.2 Flood Risk

All of the land within the proposed Order Limits (Asda roundabout junction, 
Infrastructure Corridor and Main Site) is within the high risk flood zone (3a) defined 
as having a 1 in 200 or greater chance of flooding each year by sea flooding.  
However, the site benefits from existing tidal defences adjacent to the north bank 
of the River Thames which provide protection to a minimum 1 in 1000 year tidal 
event.

7.10.3 Assessed against the ‘Flood Risk Vulnerability Classification’ comprising Table 2 
of National Planning Practice Guidance (Reference ID: 7-066-20140306), the 
proposed uses and operations would be defined as ‘Water-compatible 
development’.  Therefore, applying the proposals against the ‘Flood Risk 
Vulnerability and Flood Zone Compatibility’ (Table 3 – Reference ID: 7-067-
20140306) the development is ‘appropriate’ to the flood zone.  It is recognised that 
the application of Tables 2 and 3 of Planning Practice Guidance only refers to 
flooding from river and sea sources and that the requirements of the Sequential 
Test are also relevant.

7.10.4 Sequential and Exception Test

TC is satisfied that the Tilbury2 development cannot be located elsewhere on a 
reasonably alternative site at a lower risk of flooding as the proposed use is a 
water compatible development functionally required to be located next to the River 
Thames and its associated shipping channel.  The proposals are therefore 
considered to satisfy the Sequential Test.  As the development proposals are 

Page 114



Water Compatible Development located in flood zone 3 the Exception Test is not 
applicable.

7.10.5 With reference to other sources of flooding, the Council agrees that the ES 
adequately assesses the risk of surface water flooding associated with the 
proposals.

7.10.6 Surface Water

The draft Statement of Common Ground between the TC and POTLL refers at 
section 4.13 to a number of agreed matters comprising:

 culverting of existing watercourses;
 surface water discharge into ordinary watercourses; and
 components of water quality.

7.10.7 TC is satisfied that all elements relating to surface water flood risk have now been 
addressed.  However, there are currently a number of outstanding points in 
relation to water quality, particularly with regard to the proposed Ro-Ro terminal 
and the access road.  TC believes that it will be possible to address these 
concerns in relation to the access road.  However the applicant’s current position 
is that this particular element of the site should be designed to DMRB standards.  
The CIRIA SuDS manual addresses water quality from this type of road and 
requires more exacting standards which TC would like to see met if at all possible.  
The need for robust pollution management associated with this part of the site is 
heightened by the likelihood of the Ro-Ro area potentially underperforming in 
terms of pollution control.

7.10.8 POTLL has undertaken a substantial review of the pollution controls available for 
use in the Ro-Ro area and have ruled out the majority of treatment methods as not 
being deliverable based on technical limitations.  TC generally agree with the 
results of the applicant’s assessment but is discussing the detail of potential 
feasible treatment methods with POTLL.  TC understands that the applicant will be 
undertaking further assessment in relation to the costs of delivering such a system.  
Subject to the resolution of these outstanding matters, the TC is satisfied that the 
proposals with associated mitigation will not impact negatively on surface water 
drainage.

7.11 Noise and Vibration

7.11.1 TC has examined chapter 17 of the ES which contains the assessment of noise 
and vibration.  The assessment uses a standard reporting approach and the 
methodology employed was agreed in advance with TC’s Environmental Health 
Officer.

Page 115



7.11.2 TC is in overall agreement with the assessment and are satisfied that it has 
addressed all the relevant noise and vibration impacts during both the construction 
and operational phases of the proposed Tilbury2 development.  The ES 
significance criteria developed is acceptable, and is summarised in Table 17.15 of 
the ES for both the construction and operational phases, depending on the source.  
The Policy Significance Criteria with respect to effect thresholds, LOAEL and 
SOAEL, are acceptable and these are summarised in Table 17.16 for both the 
construction and operational phases.

7.11.3 The development “Scheme Design and Embedded Mitigation” detailed in 
paragraph 17.134 (page 17-36) will minimise scheme impacts.  It is proposed to 
install the noise barriers within the transport corridor before the construction of the 
road and rail links to further mitigate construction noise.  A noise reassessment will 
be made on the basis of the finalised operational design and procedures for the 
RoRo and CMAT (as required by the DCO) and, where a significant effect is 
predicted for a receptor, an offer of sound insulation will be made.

7.11.4 There will be further potential to mitigate impacts during both the construction and 
operational phase as detailed in paragraphs 17.223 to 17.226 of the ES, including 
temporary noise screening of static plant during construction.

7.11.5 The Operational Residual Impacts paragraph 17.229 refers to a Table 17.14, but 
this appears to be the wrong table.  TC believes that this should be table 17.46 
(Summary of Airborne Noise Significance) on page 17-53.  The daytime 
operational port noise is indicated to have a ‘significant’ noise impact at receptors 
near NSR2 in Sandhurst Road plus two others in Gravesham.  For those receptors 
an offer of sound insulation to the dwellings is proposed to minimise the residual 
effect to ‘minor’.

7.11.6 Additional errata documents were submitted to PINS and TC has examined those 
documents that could have a bearing on comments from this section, and do not 
believe any alterations to the above comments will be required.  In document 
‘TR030003-000467-PoTLL-T2-EX-11 Errata ES Chapter 5 Track Changes’ TC 
notes the addition of ‘Extent and method of piling’ detailing terrestrial and marine 
piling in paragraphs 5.115 to 5.118.

7.12 Air quality

7.12.1 TC’s air quality officer has reviewed the air quality assessment (Chapter 6 of the 
ES) and the accompanying appendices (6.2.18.A-18.E and Figures 18.1-18.4).  A 
review of the Construction Environment management Plan (6.9) and Operational 
Management Plan (6.10) has also been undertaken.

7.12.2 With regard to the operational phase of the development, it is agreed that the 
development will not have a significant impact on relevant receptors in Thurrock 
with regard to the modelled outputs for nitrogen dioxide (NO2) and particulate 

Page 116



matter (PM10 and PM2.5).  It is agreed that the submitted air quality assessment 
has considered areas of most relevant public exposure in relation to the 
operational impacts generated from the proposed development and all modelled 
receptors in this assessment are considered to be appropriate.

7.12.3 TC notes that all of the modelled receptors (ref. 18.E) would be either below or 
well below the relevant air quality objectives for NO2, PM10, and PM2.5.  One 
human health receptor (R10 – Nairn Court, Dock Road, Tilbury) is modelled to 
experience a ‘moderate adverse’ magnitude of impact.  This receptor is located 
c.36m from the existing alignment of St. Andrew’s Road.  The ‘Do Something’ (DS) 
2020 modelled scenario predicts a concentration of 30.6 μg/m3 (NO2), with a 
change of +4.4 μg/m3 (NO2) from the “Do Minimum”(DM) 2020 scenario.  
Nevertheless, this is not a concern as the modelled figure remains well below the 
air quality objective 40 μg/m3 for NO2.

7.12.4 In addition to this one receptor with a modelled ‘moderate adverse’ magnitude of 
impact (R10), there are a further four human health receptors modelled to 
experience a ‘slight adverse’ magnitude of impact (R9: 16 Dock Road, Tilbury; 
R13: Ivydene, Sandhurst Road, Tilbury; R14: 138 London Road, Tilbury and R19: 
St. Mary’s Roman Catholic Primary School, Calcutta Road, Tilbury).  However, as 
all of these receptors are modelled to remain below the air quality objective for 
NO2, this is not an area of concern for TC.  All of the remaining human health 
receptors are modelled to experience a ‘negligible’ magnitude of impact with 
annual mean NO2 levels within the air quality objective level.

7.12.5 The modelled PM10 and PM2.5 outputs are all described as a ‘negligible’ magnitude 
of impact.  All of these human health receptors were within the air quality objective 
40 μg/m3 for PM10.  Following the receipt of further information on daily mean 
PM10 modelling results, it is confirmed that this will not lead to any further 
exceedences at the modelled human health receptors.

7.12.6 TC is satisfied that the model used in the air quality assessment is appropriate, 
and used in accordance with the criteria laid out in the Defra TG(16) Technical 
Guidance. The air quality assessment represents a worst case scenario, and the 
model verification process is considered to be robust and has limited any 
uncertainties associated with the model.

7.12.7 TC is therefore satisfied that the operational phase of proposed development will 
not have any foreseeable or lasting impact in terms of air quality on nearby 
residential receptors most at risk from the proposals.

7.12.8 With regard to the impacts on local air quality from the construction phase of the 
development, TC’s Environmental Health Officer has assessed the proposed 
measures for dust control set out Construction Environment Management Plan (ref. 
6.9).  TC is satisfied that the measures for dust control during construction are 
satisfactory.

Page 117



7.13 Waste and Materials

7.13.1 Chapter 19 of the ES undertakes an assessment of the potential impacts of waste 
and materials during construction and operation.  Tables 19.9 to 19.12 provide a 
detailed estimate of waste arisings associated with the construction, demolition 
and excavation phase and table 19.13 estimate operational waste arisings.  TC 
agrees with the assessment that the impact of construction, demolition and 
excavation waste will be of ‘moderate’ significance and that hazardous waste 
would be of ‘negligible’ significance.

7.13.2 TC notes that appropriate mitigation measures could be secured through a site 
Waste Management Plan and Materials Management Plan which form elements of 
the CEMP.  TC also notes that the Operational Management Plan (ref. 6.10) 
contains provisions for the management of operational waste.

7.13.3 The draft SOCG between TC and the applicant confirms agreement that waste 
produced by the proposals is likely to have a minor impact on the Borough’s waste 
infrastructure.

Page 118



8. Consideration of Articles and Requirements of the Draft Order

8.1 Schedule 2, Part 1 (3)

8.2 TC welcomes the requirement set out at Schedule 2, Part 1 (3) (1) of the draft Order 
requiring details of external materials to be submitted to and approved by the 
relevant planning authority prior to construction.  The Council assumes that 
Schedule 2, Part 1 (3) (1) (b) is meant to apply to Work No. 8D (iii) rather than Work 
No. 8C (iii), i.e. details of the external materials of the aggregate processing 
facilities are required rather than details of the railway line.

8.3 In addition, given the proximity of the Main Site to Tilbury Fort and the emphasis on 
good design promoted by the NPPF, NPS for Ports and the Thurrock Design Guide 
– Design Strategy SPD (2017), the TC requests that consideration could given to 
extending the requirement to submit details of external materials to include the 
proposed warehouse to be constructed by Work No. 7 (b) and the buildings 
constructed as part of Work No. 3 (d) and Work No. 5 (c).

8.4 TC also suggests that consideration could be given to the inclusion of the term 
‘external appearance’ or ‘design’ as well as ‘external materials’.  Such that the 
relevant planning authority and relevant consultees may give consideration to the 
general form of the external building envelope, as well as the specification for 
finishing materials.

8.5 Schedule 2, Part 1 (3)

TC suggest, in the interests of clarity, that consideration could be given to adding a 
maximum height restriction (AOD) in the table to include reference to any buildings 
constructed as part of Work No. 5 (c).  TC suggests that any such height restriction 
for Work No. 5 (c) buildings should match the maximum height for similar Work No. 
3 (d) buildings, i.e. a maximum 12 metres AOD.

8.6 Schedule 2, Part 1 (4) to (12)

TC generally welcomes the requirements to ensure that the construction and 
operation of the development is undertaken in accordance with:

 the construction environmental management plan;
 proposals for off-site ecological mitigation;
 the written scheme of investigation for terrestrial archaeology;
 the timing of delivery of the Asda roundabout junction works;
 the flood risk assessment;
 the noise mitigation and monitoring proposals;
 the drainage strategy;
 the framework travel plan;

Page 119



 the landscape and ecological management plan;
 the operational management plan;
 the operational community engagement plan; and
 the sustainable distribution plan

8.7 Schedule 2, Part 1 (9) (1)

TC query whether this requirement should be re-worded to refer to the noise 
barrier as Work No. 4 (d), not Work No. 4 (c).

8.8 Schedule 2, Part 2

TC has no objection to the proposed procedure for the discharge of requirements 
set out by Part 2 (13) to (18).  However, in the interests of clarity and consistency 
with the provisions of Town and Country Planning legislation (referring to 
applications for the approval of details reserved by planning conditions) TC 
suggest that consideration could be given to adding the following wording:

‘The requirements of Schedule 2, Part 1 shall be deemed to be conditions subject 
to which a planning permission was granted under section 70 of the 1990 Act and, 
accordingly, they shall be subject to the provisions of that Act and all associated 
legislation.’

This suggested addition would have the benefit of allowing the applicant to use 
existing convenient on-line systems for the submission and approval of details 
reserved by planning conditions.

Page 120



9. Planning Obligations

9.1 A Community Infrastructure Levy is (CIL) being developed by TC alongside the 
preparation of a new Local Plan.  Until the CIL is prepared TC seeks developer 
contributions in accordance with Policy PMD16 (Developer Contributions) of the 
current Core Strategy.  Policy PMD16 sets TC’s policy context for securing 
planning obligations under s106 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 and 
in accordance with the NPPF.  Through the use of s106 agreements, TC will seek 
to ensure that development:

i. appropriately contributes to the delivery of strategic infrastructure;
ii. meets the reasonable costs of new infrastructure made necessary by 

development;
iii. mitigates or compensates for any significant loss of amenity or resource; and
iv. provides for the ongoing maintenance of facilities provided as a result of new 

development.

9.2 The range of matters that may be covered by obligations as described by PMD16 
include vocational training in employment, employment of local residents, 
sustainable public transport, accessibility and travel planning, pedestrian and 
cycling infrastructure, transport information, maintenance payments for existing 
transport infrastructure and preservation and enhancement of the historic 
environment.

9.3 TC uses an Infrastructure Requirement List which identifies development 
scenarios on an area by area basis.  This list was used as the basis to provide the 
applicant with a schedule of potential infrastructure requirements last year.  The 
applicant has produced draft heads of terms for a s106 agreement with TC (ref. 
5.3) which propose:

1. a financial contribution to the Council for the following purposes – 
(a) improvements to the Gravesend – Tilbury Ferry comprising
(i) installation of real time information boards at ferry departure points
(ii) installation of real time information boards at Tilbury Town railway station
(b) undertaking a feasibility study into enhancements at Tilbury Fort to realise 

tourism and heritage benefits including car parking, access and interpretive 
signage

(c) implementation of measures identified in the feasibility study (b) where 
reasonably capable of implementation

2. promotion and implementation of an Employment and Skills Strategy (ref. 
5.3A) during construction and operation of the development

3. improvements to the highway network outside of the Order Limits in 
accordance with an Active Travel Strategy (ref. 5.3B).

Page 121



9.4 TC considers that the heads of terms for the s106 agreement described above are 
justified by the relevant development plan policy (PMD16) and are detailed within 
the TC’s Infrastructure Requirement List.  The obligations are considered 
necessary to make the development acceptable in planning terms, are directly 
related to the development and are fairly and reasonably related in scale and kind 
to the development in accordance with paragraph 204 of the NPPF.

9.5 TC is confident that a s106 agreement, based on the heads of terms described 
above, will be concluded with the applicant before the close of the examination 
period.

Page 122



Civic Offices, New Road, Grays
Essex RM17 6SL

Thurrock Council – Written Representation: Tilbury2

Planning & Growth

Thurrock Council

Written Representation

March 2018

Proposed Tilbury2 Port Expansion

Planning Inspectorate Reference: TR030003

Appendix 2

Page 123



Contents

1. Introduction
2. Summary of Representation
3. Summary of Relevant Topics
4. Overall Conclusions

Page 124



1.0 Introduction

1.1 This document sets out Thurrock Council’s (TC) Written Representations (WR) on 
the application for a Development Consent Order (DCO) made by the Port of 
Tilbury London Limited (POTLL) for the construction and operation of a new port 
terminal with associated development (Tilbury2) on land formerly comprising part of 
the Tilbury Power Station site.

1.2 Thurrock Council is a unitary authority and therefore performs functions as the local 
planning authority, local highways authority, waste planning authority and local lead 
flood authority.  The area which is the subject of the DCO lies wholly within the 
administrative area of TC.  The Order Limits includes both the terrestrial 
environment and the marine environment associated with the proposed dredging 
works and the new and extended berths.  TCs interest as local planning authority 
operates between the Mean Low and Mean High Water Marks.  Consequently, 
elements of the marine works and their associated impacts are beyond the 
‘jurisdiction’ of the local planning authority.

1.3 The content and conclusions of this WR were presented to and agreed at the 
meeting of the Council’s Planning Committee on 15th March 2018, with any 
relevant revisions after this time being agreed by the Assistant Director of Planning, 
Transport and Public Health and the Chair of the Planning Committee.  TC 
submitted a Relevant Representation (RR) in January 2018 which contained a 
summary of what it considered to be the main issues raised by the proposals.  This 
RR representation also provided a position statement in the form of technical 
comments from relevant Council officers.

1.4 TC has prepared a Local Impact Report (LIR) which was also presented to the TC 
Planning Committee at its meeting on 15th March 2018.  The LIR is a detailed 
‘technical’ report which considers the range of social, environmental and economic 
impacts raised by the proposals and considers the positive, neutral or negative local 
impacts.  TC has also engaged with the applicant to progress a draft Statement of 
Common Ground (SOCG) in order to confirm which matters relevant to TC are 
agreed, which matters are still under discussion and whether matters are not 
agreed between TC and the applicant.

1.5 In line with the guidance at paragraph 23.1 of the Planning Inspectorate (PINS) 
Advice Note 2 (The Role of Local Authorities in the Development Consent Process), 
this WR sets out the view of the local authority on whether or not it supports the 
application and its reasons for forming this view.  This WR therefore balances and 
weighs the content of the applicant’s submission, the LIR and the associated 
technical considerations to reach a TC ‘summary position’.  It is to be expected that 
the proposals, due to their significance and complexity, will result in a range of 
positive, neutral and negative local impacts.  The primary purpose of this WR is 
therefore to balance the potential local impacts in order to set out TCs view on the 
application with associated reasons.

Page 125



1.6 As suggested by paragraph 23.2 of Advice Note 2, this WR is intended to be a 
concise document, relying on cross-referencing to the LIR and draft SOCG in order 
to avoid unnecessary repetition.

1.7 TC appreciates that once submitted to PINS this WR cannot be withdrawn.  
Although TC reserves the right to provide further representations during the 
examination of the proposals if TCs view or policy position alters.  

Page 126



2.0 Summary of Representation

2.1 On balance, after considering the content of the application and supporting 
documentation and after considering the advice from its various technical 
consultees TC supports the application for the construction and operation of a new 
port terminal and associated development.

2.2 In reaching this view, TC has taken into account the strong support for further 
growth and development at the Port of Tilbury, which is set out on the adopted 
Development Plan for the Thurrock.  In particular, and as set out at section 4.1.1 
and 4.2.1 of the Statement of Common Ground, Tilbury is identified as a Key 
Strategic Employment Hub by the adopted Core Strategy containing the key 
economic sectors of port and riverside industries.

2.3 A full discussion of relevant Development Plan policies is set out by part 6 of the 
LIR.  However, policies clearly reference the economic contribution of the Port of 
Tilbury to the local and wider economy and support the principle of further 
employment and economic growth at this Hub.  Furthermore TC is aware that the 
National Policy Statement for Ports emphasises importance of ports to the national 
economy and generally encourages sustainable port development.

2.4 The contribution that the proposals would make to the local and wider economy is a 
factor which TC affords significant weight in the balance of considerations.

2.5 Under the heading of socio-economics, TC recognises and attaches great weight to 
the positive benefits of job creation and contributions to the local and wider 
economy during construction and operation of the development.  The Employment 
and Skills Strategy, to be secured through a s106 legal agreement is welcomed.

2.6 TC recognises that the development will result in some unavoidable negative 
impacts.  In particular it is noted that the proposals will have an adverse impact on 
heritage assets nearby and it is recognised in the submission that this impact in 
particular cannot be fully mitigated to fully avoid residual harm, albeit such harm is 
judged to be not significant.  In addition, the adverse impacts that the proposals 
would have on visual receptors are important material considerations.  These 
factors need to be weighed in the balance of considerations but it is the Council’s 
overall view that this identified harm is outweighed in this case by the strong 
Development Plan policy support and by the positive economic case for 
development.

Page 127



3.0 Summary of Relevant Topics

3.1 Development Plan Considerations

As noted within both the draft SOCG between TC and POTLL and part 6 of the LIR 
adopted development plan policies within the Thurrock Core Strategy and Policies 
for the Management of Development (as amended 2015) are generally supportive 
of the proposals.  Tilbury is generally identified as an area of regeneration and 
growth and one of the Borough’s Key Strategic Employment Hubs.  More 
specifically, development plan policies CSSP2, CSTP17 and CSTP28 offer support 
for the proposals.  The proposals accord with the objectives for employment and 
economic growth set out in these policies.

3.2 Socio-Economic Considerations

Part 6 of the LIR provides a commentary of the impacts of the proposals under this 
heading.  The positive impacts generated during both the construction and 
operational phases of the development are recognised and supported by TC.  The 
potential for local socio-economic benefits, to be delivered through the Employment 
and Skills Strategy, are supported by TC.  Discussions with POTLL regarding the 
detailed content of the Strategy are ongoing.

3.3 Health Considerations

The assessment of health impacts within the ES is appropriate, although it is 
notable that Ward-level data for Tilbury (Tilbury St. Chads and Tilbury Riverside & 
Thurrock Park Wards) confirms greater levels of health inequalities compared to the 
Thurrock and national averages.  Further discussion of the detailed content of the 
Active Travel Study is required in order to maximise mitigation measures

3.4 Landscape and Visual Considerations

The ES predicts adverse impacts on visual receptors close to the site, in particular 
users of both public rights of way and Tilbury Fort.  Proposed mitigation measures 
would reduce the severity of effect, but these adverse impacts cannot be fully 
resolved through mitigation and there are resultant residual adverse impacts, albeit 
such harm is not identified by the ES as significant.  TC has suggested that POTLL 
promote a more robust landscape mitigation package and discussions on this 
matter are ongoing.

3.5 Terrestrial Ecology Considerations

The proposals would involve the loss and partial loss of habitats at Local Wildlife 
Sites which are recognised to be of importance.  If unmitigated, the proposals would 
result in a significant adverse impact.  The Applicant has produced mitigation 
proposals in its Landscape and Ecological Mitigation Plan but at the time of is still 

Page 128



formulating further detail on its proposals for compensatory habitat to the delivered 
via an Ecological Mitigation and Compensation Plan.  This document is key to 
ecological considerations and TC will comment on the Plan when it is available.

3.6 Terrestrial Archaeology and Built Heritage Considerations

Subject to the mitigation measures outlined within the ES it is considered that there 
would be no residual adverse impacts on terrestrial archaeology.  The sensitivity of 
built heritage assets within Thurrock, namely Tilbury Fort and the associated 
Officers Barracks are known and agreed matters.  Both the construction and 
operation of the development, and in particular the Main Site, will adversely affect 
the setting of these assets.  Embedded and additional mitigation measures will 
partly address these impacts and the proposed obligations, to be secured through 
the s106 legal agreement, could enhance the asset.  However, a residual adverse 
impact on the setting of these built heritage assets remains,. albeit such harm is not 
identified as significant.

3.7 Land-Side Transport Considerations

The proposals will impact on the Asda roundabout junction, which forms part of the 
Strategic Road Network.  Nevertheless, two roads within the jurisdiction of TC 
access onto this junction.  A scheme to mitigate the impact of the development on 
the junction is promoted by the applicant, but TC encourages further investigation of 
mitigation measures.  The design of the western junction on the proposed new 
access road is also queried and improvements to the design of this junction have 
been suggested.  TC welcomes any opportunity to discuss this matter further 
POTLL.  Similarly, the detail of measures to improve walking and cycling links in the 
area through the Active Travel Study will be discussed further with the applicant.

3.8 Hydrogeology and Ground Conditions Considerations

TC is satisfied that this environmental topic has been properly assessed by the 
application.  Subject to the implementation of the proposed mitigation measures 
there are no outstanding issues under this heading.

3.9 Flood Risk and Water Resources Considerations

TC is satisfied that flood risk matters have been properly assessed by the 
submission.  As noted by the LIR there are currently outstanding issues relating to 
water quality which are under discussion with the applicant.  TC is hopeful that 
these matters will be resolved.

3.10 Noise and Vibration Considerations

Page 129



The potential impacts of noise and vibration during both construction and operation 
have been properly assessed.  TC is satisfied that proposed mitigation measures 
will minimise the impacts within acceptable levels.

3.11 Air Quality Considerations

Impacts on air quality during construction and operation have been properly 
assessed by the application.  Subject to the implementation of the proposed 
mitigation measures there are no outstanding issues under this heading.

3.12 Waste and Materials Considerations

The SOCG notes that the applicant and TC will work to agree a methodology for the 
consideration of waste capacity within Thurrock.  Subject to the resolution of this 
outstanding issue there are no outstanding matters under this heading.

Page 130



4.0 Overall Conclusions

4.1 It is noted both above and by the LIR that the proposals would, to a degree, result in 
adverse impacts on landscape and visual receptors and also on built heritage 
receptors.  Proposed mitigation measures would go some way in reducing impacts 
on these receptors.  However, there would be residual adverse impacts even 
accounting for mitigation which should attract weight in the balance of 
considerations.

4.2 The paragraphs above also identify issues related to terrestrial ecology, land-side 
transportation, water quality and waste where further discussion and clarifications 
are sought with the applicant.

4.3 Subject to proposed mitigation measures, it is considered that there would be no 
significant residual impacts with regard to terrestrial archaeology, ground conditions, 
flood risk, noise, vibration or air quality.

4.4 The principle of Port expansion is supported by a number of adopted Core Strategy 
policies and the contribution that the proposals would make towards employment 
and economic growth attracts significant weight.  The socio-economic impacts of 
the proposals are, on balance, positive.

4.5 TC notes that, in addition to the support for the economic benefits of the proposals 
set out by Development Plan policy, the Government policy for ports (para. 3.3 of 
the NPS for Ports) seeks to, inter-alia, ‘encourage sustainable port development to 
cater for long-term forecast growth in volumes of imports and exports by sea with a 
competitive and efficient port industry capable of meeting the needs of importers 
and exporters cost effectively and in a timely manner, thus contributing to long-term 
economic growth and prosperity’.

4.6 TC also notes that para. 3.5.2 of the NPS for Port indicates that “Given the level 
and urgency of need for infrastructure of the types covered as set out above, the 
[decision maker] should start with a presumption in favour of granting consent to 
applications for ports development. That presumption applies unless any more 
specific and relevant policies set out in this or another NPS clearly indicate that 
consent should be refused.

4.7 Balancing the positive, neutral and negative impacts of the proposals TC attaches 
the greatest weight to the economic benefits of the proposals and, taking all factors 
into account, supports the application.

Page 131



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	 
	2 Minutes
	6 Planning Appeals
	8 17/00923/FUL: Yard E2, Stanhope Industrial Park, Wharf Road, Stanford Le Hope, Essex, SS17 0AL
	9 18/00018/FUL: Thurrock Learning Campus, High Street, Grays, Essex, RM17 6TF
	10 18/00019/FUL: Thurrock Learning Campus, High Street, Grays, Essex, RM17 6TF
	11 Tilbury2 NSIP: Land forming the western part of the former Tilbury Power Station, land parallel to and south of the existing London-Tilbury- South railway line south of Tilbury and land at the Asda roundabout junction, Tilbury.
	Appendix 1 - Local Impact Report
	Appendix 2 - Written Representation


